
Page 1 of 4 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, JULY 19, 2021 
7:00 PM AT CITY HALL 

 

 
 
The City is providing in-person and electronic options for this meeting in accordance with the Governor's 
Proclamation of Disaster Emergency regarding meetings and hearings.  The City encourages in-person attendees 
to follow the latest CDC guidelines to reduce the risk of COVID-19 transmission. 

The meeting will be accessible via video conference and the public may access/participate in the meeting in the 
following ways: 
 
a) By dialing the phone number +13126266799 or +19292056099 or +12532158782 or +13017158592 or 
+13462487799 or +16699006833 and when prompted, enter the meeting ID (access code) 962 7287 1738. 
b) iPhone one-tap: +13126266799,,96272871738#  or +19292056099,,96272871738# 
c) Join via smartphone or computer using this link: https://zoom.us/j/96272871738.   
d) View the live stream on Channel 15 YouTube using this link: https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCCzeig5nIS-
dIEYisqah1uQ  (view only).  
e) Watch on Cedar Falls Cable Channel 15 (view only). 
 
To request to speak when allowed on the agenda, participants must click “Raise Hand” if connected by 
smartphone or computer, or press *9 if connected by telephone. All participants will be muted by the presiding 
officer when not actually speaking. 

Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular Meeting of July 6, 2021. 

Agenda Revisions 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics germane to City 

business.) 

Special Presentations 

2. Recognition of Health Trust Fund Board Members Rosemary Beach and Floyd Winter. 

3. Proclamation recognizing August 3, 2021 as National Night Out in Cedar Falls. 

Special Order of Business 

4. Public hearing on a proposal to enter into an Agreement for Private Development with CV 
Commercial, L.L.C. relative to a commercial/residential mixed use development. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published July 12, 2021) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 

1



Page 2 of 4 

d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving the proposal to enter into an Agreement for Private Development with CV 
Commercial, L.L.C. relative to a commercial/residential mixed use development. 

5. Public hearing on the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2021 
CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published July 12, 2021) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost 
for the 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project. 

6. Public hearing on the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2021 
Public Sidewalk Repair and Infill Project. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published July 12, 2021) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost 
for the 2021 Public Sidewalk Repair and Infill Project. 

7. Public hearing on the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2021 
Sidewalk Assessment Project - Zone 4. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published July 12, 2021) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost 
for the 2021 Sidewalk Assessment Project - Zone 4.  

8. Public hearing on the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2021 
Permeable Alley Project. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published July 12, 2021) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost 
for the 2021 Permeable Alley Project. 

2



Page 3 of 4 

Old Business 

9. Pass Ordinance #2992, amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to the speed limit on certain portions of Viking Road, upon its second 
consideration. 

New Business 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 
discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

10. Approve the following recommendations of the Mayor relative to the appointment of members to 
Boards and Commissions: 
a) Phyllis Carter, Community Center & Senior Services Board, term ending 06/30/2024.  
b) Crystal Ford, Civil Service Commission, term ending 04/04/2022. 
c) Rebecca Whitaker, Human Rights Commission, term ending 07/01/2022. 

11. Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of July 6, 2021 relative to the following items: 
a) Incident Command System with County EMA. 
b) Parking Ordinance Amendments. 

12. Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses: 
a) Cypress Lounge, 209 A State Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 
b) Hy-Vee Market Grille, 6301 University Avenue, Class C liquor - renewal. 
c) George’s Local, 108 E. 4th Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service – new with exceptions. (see 
attached). 
d) Wal-Mart, 525 Brandilynn Boulevard, Class C liquor – change in ownership. 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

13. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Client Agreement with Express Scripts, Inc. 
relative to pharmacy benefit management services. 

14. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Lease Estoppel Certificate relative to a Lease 
Agreement between the City, the Board of Trustees of the Municipal Electric Utility, and Cedar Falls 
Solar Farm, LLC for the use of certain city-owned property located at 800 Viking Road as a solar 
garden. 

15. Resolution approving and accepting three Temporary Easements for construction, in conjunction 
with the FFY20-21 CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project. 

16. Resolution approving and accepting three Temporary Construction Easements, in conjunction with 
the Cyber Lane Extension Project.  

17. Resolution approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the purchase of a loader mounted 
snow blower for the Public Works Department. 

18. Resolution approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the purchase of transfer station 
equipment, in conjunction with the Transfer Station Pit Refurbishing Project. 

19. Resolution receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting the low bid of Owen 
Contracting, Inc., in the amount of $296,323.66, for the Cyber Lane Extension Project. 

20. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Professional Service Agreement with Foth 
Infrastructure and Environment, LLC for design, construction and acquisition services relative to the 
Main Street Reconstruction Project. 

21. Resolution receiving and filing, and setting August 2, 2021 as the date of public hearing on the 
proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2021 Seal Coat Project.  

3



Page 4 of 4 

22. Resolution receiving and filing, and setting August 2, 2021 as the date of public hearing on the 
proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2021 Street Patching 
Project. 

Ordinances: 

23. Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to parking restrictions in municipal parking lots, upon its first consideration. 

Allow Bills and Claims 

24. Allow Bills and Claims of July 19, 2021. 

City Council Referrals 

City Council Updates 

Staff Updates 

Adjournment 

4



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, JULY 6, 2021 
REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 

MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN PRESIDING 
  

The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, at 7:00 P.M. on the above date. Members present: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse 
(via video conference), Harding, Darrah, Sires. Absent: Dunn.  

 
  Mayor Green thanked Councilmember Harding for chairing the June 21, 2021 

City Council meeting. 
 
53376 - It was moved by Harding and seconded by Darrah that the minutes of the 

Regular Meeting of June 21, 2021 be approved as presented and ordered of 
record. Motion carried unanimously.  

 
53377 - Rick Sharp, 1623 Birch Street, commented on the current fireworks ban and 

requested a window to allow the use of fireworks in the future, with a zero 
tolerance for those who violate the ordinance. He would also like to see fireworks 
at Prairie Lakes in 2022. 

 
  Mayor responded to comments by Jim Skaine, 2215 Clay Street, regarding the 

proper use of Roberts Rules of Order and items on the agenda. 
   
53378 - Mayor Green read a proclamation recognizing July 11, 2021 as 1-133d Infantry 

Regiment - Ironman Battalion Day. 
   
53379 - Mayor announced that in accordance with the public notice of June 29, 2021, this 

was the time and place for a public hearing on the FY2022 (FFY2021) Annual 
Action Plan for Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) and HOME 
Consortium. It was then moved by Darrah and seconded by Harding that the 
proof of publication of notice of hearing be received and placed on file. Motion 
carried unanimously.  

53380 -  The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 
proposed plan. Upon being advised that there were no written communications 
on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Community Development 
Director Sheetz provided a brief summary of the proposed plan.  There being no 
one else present wishing to speak about the project, the Mayor declared the 
hearing closed and passed to the next order of business. 

 
53381 -     It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Harding that Resolution #22,437, 

approving the FY2022 (FFY2021) Annual Action Plan for Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG) and HOME Consortium, be adopted. 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires. Nay: None. Motion carried. 
The Mayor then declared Resolution #22,437 duly passed and adopted. 

5

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

   
53382 -  Mayor announced that in accordance with the public notice of June 25, 2021, this 

was the time and place for a public hearing proposal to undertake a public 
improvement project for the West 27th Street Reconstruction Project, and to 
authorize acquisition of private property for said project.  It was then moved by 
Harding and seconded by Miller that the proof of publication of notice of hearing 
be received and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously.  

53383 -  The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 
proposed project. Upon being advised that there were no written communications 
on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. City Engineer Wicke provided a 
brief summary of the proposed project and responded to a question by Mayor 
Green. There being no one else present wishing to speak about the project, the 
Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to the next order of business. 

 
53384 -     It was moved by Harding and seconded by Miller that Resolution #22,438, 

approving a public improvement project for the West 27th Street Reconstruction 
Project, and authorizing acquisition of private property for said project, be 
adopted. Following questions and comments by Councilmembers Sires, deBuhr, 
and Harding, and responses by City Engineer Wicke and Public Works Director 
Schrage, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, 
Darrah.  Nay: Sires. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #22,438 
duly passed and adopted. 

 
53385- Mayor announced that in accordance with the public notice of June 25, 2021, this 

was the time and place for a public hearing on the proposed plans, 
specifications, form of contract, and estimate of cost for the Cyber Lane 
Extension Project.  It was then moved by Darrah and seconded by deBuhr that 
the proof of publication of notice of hearing be received and placed on file. 
Motion carried unanimously.  

53386 -  The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 
proposed project. Upon being advised that there were no written communications 
on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Civil Engineer Tolan provided a 
brief summary of the proposed project.  There being no one else present wishing 
to speak about the project, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to 
the next order of business. 

 
53387 -     It was moved by Miller and seconded by Harding that Resolution #22,439, 

approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of 
cost for the Cyber Lane Extension Project, be adopted. Following due 
consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon 
call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then 
declared Resolution #22,439 duly passed and adopted.  

 
53388 - It was moved by Harding and seconded by Miller that the following items on the 

Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved: 

6

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

 
Receive and file the following resignations of members from Boards and 
Commissions: 
a) Floyd Winter, Cedar Falls Health Trust Fund Board. 
b) Chris Corkery, Art & Culture Board. 

 Receive and file the Work Session minutes of June 21, 2021 relative to the 
following item: 
a) Downtown Zoning Ordinance. 

 Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of June 21, 2021 relative to 
the following items: 
a) Grow Cedar Valley Update. 
b) Cash Management Report. 

  Receive and file the Departmental Monthly Reports of May, 2021.  

  Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses: 
a) King Star, 2228 Lincoln Street, Class C beer & Class B native wine - renewal. 
b) Amvets, 1934 Irving Street, Class A liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 
c) Applebee's Neighborhood Grill & Bar, 6301 University Avenue, Class C liquor - 
renewal.  
d) Carlos O'Kelly's Mexican Café, 6507 University Avenue, Class C liquor - 
renewal. 
e) The Other Place, 2214 College Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 
f) Wal-Mart, 525 Brandilynn Boulevard, Class E liquor - renewal. 
g) Dollar General, 1922 Valley Park Drive, Class C Beer & Class B Wine – 
change in ownership. 
h) Dollar General, 2921 Center Street, Class C beer & Class B wine – change in 
ownership. 
i) NewAldaya Lifescapes, 7511 University Avenue, Class A liquor & outdoor 
service – change in ownership. 
j) River Place Plaza, 200 East 2nd Street – Plaza, Special Class C liquor & 
outdoor service – temporary expansion of outdoor service area. (July 10-11, 
2021) 
k) Amvets, 1934 Irving Street, Class A liquor & outdoor service - temporary 
expansion of outdoor 

 Motion carried unanimously. 

53389 -  It was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Harding to receive and file the Mayor's 
Monthly Report for June, 2021. Following comments by Jim Skaine, 2215 Clay 
Street, and response by Mayor Green, the motion carried unanimously. 

 
53390 -  It was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Miller to receive and file 

communications from the Civil Service Commission relative to certified lists for 
the following positions: 

    a) Equipment Operator. 
b) Public Safety Supervisor-Captain. 
c) Public Safety Supervisor-Lieutenant. 

7

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

 
  Following comments by Rick Sharp, 1623 Birch Street, and Councilmember 

Harding, and responses by City Attorney Rogers, the motion carried 
unanimously. 

 
53391 - Mayor Green noted a scrivener’s error on agenda item 14 that should read 

$30,000 to the Economic Development Fund instead of $15,000. It was then 
moved by Harding and seconded by deBuhr that the following resolutions be 
introduced and adopted: 

 
  Resolution #22,440, levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to 

clean up/remove debris on the property located at 2013 Maplewood Drive. 
 

Resolution #22,441, approving and accepting a Utility and Access Easement on 
Lot 3 of Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South - Phase II. 

 Resolution #22,442, approving a First Amendment to Deed of Dedication for 
Pinnacle Prairie Commercial South - Phase II. 

 Resolution #22,443, approving the preliminary plat of Pinnacle Prairie 
Commercial South - Phase V. 

 Resolution #22,444, approving the final plat of Pinnacle Prairie Commercial 
South - Phase V. 

 Resolution #22,445, approving a Hwy-1, Highway Commercial Zoning District 
site plan for construction of a medical clinic at 5909 Prairie Parkway. 

 Resolution #22,446, approving a Hwy-1, Highway Commercial Zoning District 
site plan for construction of a retail development at 703 Brandilynn Boulevard. 

 Resolution #22,447, approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the 
purchase of a mini excavator for the Public Works Department. 

Resolution #22,448, approving and authorizing execution of a Storm Water 
Maintenance and Repair Agreement with Strickler Properties LC relative to a 
post-construction stormwater management plan for 6415 Development Drive. 

 Resolution #22,449, approving and accepting the contract and bond of Pirc-Tobin 
Construction, Inc. for the West 27th Street Sanitary Sewer Extension Project. 

 Resolution #22,450, receiving and filing, and setting July 19, 2021 as the date of 
public hearing on the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate 
of cost for the 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project.  

 Resolution #22,451, receiving and filing, and setting July 19, 2021 as the date of 
public hearing on the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate 
of cost for the 2021 Public Sidewalk Repair and Infill Project. 

 Resolution #22,452, receiving and filing, and setting July 19, 2021 as the date of 
public hearing on the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate 

8

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

of cost for the 2021 Sidewalk Assessment Project - Zone 4. 

  Resolution #22,453, setting July 19, 2021 as the date of public hearing on a 
proposal to enter into an Agreement for Private Development with CV 
Commercial, L.L.C. relative to a commercial/residential mixed use development. 

 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires. Nay: None. Motion carried. 
The Mayor then declared Resolutions #22,440 through #22,453 duly passed and 
adopted. 

53392 -   It was moved by Harding and seconded by Miller that Resolution #22,454, 
approving and accepting from the Municipal Electric and Communications 
Utilities the permanent transfers of $2,622,314.00 to the General Fund and 
$30,000.00 to the Economic Development Fund of the City of Cedar Falls, be 
adopted. Following comments by Jim Skaine, 2215 Clay Street, Whitney Smith, 
2904 Neola Street, Rick Sharp, 1623 Birch Street, and Councilmembers Harding 
and Sires, and responses by Finance & Business Operations Director 
Rodenbeck, the Mayor put the question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, 
the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, 
Darrah, Sires. Nay: None.  Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution 
#22,454 duly passed and adopted. 

 
53393 -   It was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Darrah that Resolution #22,455, 

approving and authorizing execution of a Memorandum of Understanding with 
the City of Waterloo and Black Hawk County relative to the 2021-2022 Edward 
Byrne Memorial Justice Association Grant (JAG) Program funding for the Tri-
County Drug Task Force, be adopted. Following a question by Jim Skaine, 2215 
Clay Street, and response by Public Safety Director Olson, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires. Nay: 
None.  Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #22,455 duly passed 
and adopted. 

 
53394 -   It was moved by Harding and seconded by deBuhr that Resolution #22,456, 

approving and authorizing execution of a Cooperative Agreement for Use of 
Swimming Pools with the Cedar Falls Community School District, be adopted. 
Following a comment by Jim Skaine, 2215 Clay Street, and responses by 
Councilmember Miller and Mayor Green, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion, and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires. Nay: None.  Motion carried. 
The Mayor then declared Resolution #22,456 duly passed and adopted. 

 
53395 -   It was moved by Harding and seconded by Miller that the following resolutions be 

introduced and adopted: 
 
     Resolution #22,457, approving and accepting the low bid, and approving and 

authorizing execution of a Rehabilitation Contract with Tojo Construction Inc. 

9

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 6 - 

 

relative to a HOME Housing Rehabilitation Project at 210 C2 Balboa Avenue. 
 
     Resolution #22,458, approving and accepting the low bid, and approving and 

authorizing execution of a Rehabilitation Contract with Tojo Construction Inc. 
relative to a HOME Housing Rehabilitation Project at 2512 Cedar Heights Drive. 

 
     Following a comment by Jim Skaine, 2215 Clay Street, and response by Mayor 

Green, the Mayor put the question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, 
Darrah, Sires. Nay: None.  Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions 
#22,457 and #22,458 duly passed and adopted. 

 
53396 -   It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Harding that Resolution #22,459, 

receiving and filing, and setting July 19, 2021 as the date of public hearing on the 
proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the 2021 
Permeable Alley Project, be adopted. Following a comment by Jim Skaine, 2215 
Clay Street, and a response by Mayor Green, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion, and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires. Nay: None.  Motion carried. 
The Mayor then declared Resolution #22,459 duly passed and adopted. 

 
53397 -    It was moved by Miller and seconded by Harding that Ordinance #2992, 

amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to the speed limit on certain portions of Viking Road, be passed upon its 
first consideration.  Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put 
the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires. Nay: 
None. Motion carried. 

 
53398 -  It was moved by Harding and seconded by Miller that the bills and claims of July 

6, 2021 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer be 
authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper funds in 
payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers 
voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. 

    
53399 -   Councilmember Harding requested an update on what the City could do for 

fireworks next year, and Councilmember Sires wished his mother a Happy 
Birthday. 

 
53400 -    City Administrator Gaines commented about the City hosting fireworks displays 

and that allowing residential use of fireworks would be a policy decision. 
 
53401 - It was moved by Harding and seconded by Miller that the meeting be adjourned 

at 7:59 P.M.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
     ________________________________ 
  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

10

Item 1.



 

   MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

 
 

 

 

 

 
NATIONAL NIGHT OUT 

Tuesday, August 3, 2021  
 

WHEREAS, National Night Out was established in 1983 as an annual community-

building campaign to promote police-community partnerships and neighborhood 

camaraderie to make our neighborhoods safer, more caring place to live; and  

 

WHEREAS, community resiliency in disasters and emergencies depends on strong 

ties between neighbors who support and care for each other, as well as through 

positive and trusting relationships with police and other emergency responders; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Cedar Falls Public Safety Department’s five year goals include Strategy 

6.2.4., to “Continue participation in National Night Out pubic safety-neighborhood 

partnership activities on the first Tuesday of August”; and 

 

WHEREAS, many neighborhoods of Cedar Falls, including North Cedar, Cedar Heights, 

College Hill, and Downtown, and Greenhill/South Main, and The Meadows have 

already conducted successful gatherings this summer to increase neighborhood 

affinity and camaraderie;  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Robert M. Green, Mayor of the City of Cedar Falls, do hereby 

proclaim August 3, 2021, as National Night Out in Cedar Falls, and I encourage all 

interested neighborhoods to plan neighborhood gatherings to connect with neighbors 

on the evening of Tuesday, August 3, or other nearby convenient dates; and to request 

a visit from Cedar Falls patrol officers and city leaders by calling 273-8612.  

 

Signed this 15th day of July, 2021. 

 

 

______________________________________                                          

Mayor Robert M. Green 

 
11

Item 3.



ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

  

   

 

 

 
 

  

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: July 7, 2021 

 SUBJECT: CV Commercial, LLC – Agreement for Private Development 
 

Introduction/Project Details 
 
If Council may remember, on June 3, 2019, a site plan was approved for a new five-
story mixed use building located at 2119 College Street within the College Hill Urban 
Renewal Area. The building will be comprised of a commercial use on the first floor, with 
residential uses on the second through fifth floors. 
 
The developer, CV Commercial, LLC, has reached out to City staff indicating that they 
would like to begin this project in the coming months, beginning with the demolition of 
two existing multi-family structures that still remain on the property (2119 College Street 
and 1003 W. 22nd Street). As indicated above, the new building to be constructed on the 
site will be a 5-story mixed use building. The first floor would comprise of a single 
commercial tenant, while the second through fifth floors would comprise of 31 
residential units, with a total of 47 bedrooms. In addition to the building, a 47-stall 
parking lot will be constructed behind the building with access from W. 22nd Street. The 
total cost estimate from the developer for this project is approximately $5 Million. 
 

Financial Assistance Request  
 

This project is eligible under the College Hill Urban Renewal Plan for consideration of 
certain incentives that promote redevelopment of existing buildings. The typical 
incentive offered for projects such as this is a 5-year rebate of 100% of the tax 
increments on the increased value of the property after the improvements are complete, 
with a minimum investment of $200,000 into the project, and an increase in the 
assessed building valuation by at least 50%. This redevelopment project anticipates a 
total investment of approximately $5,000,000 for the improvement costs, which would 
be well over the required $200,000 minimum investment and 50% increase in taxable 
value. 
 
The project is expected to begin this year with the demolition of two existing buildings 
on the site, with the new building construction starting next year. It is anticipated that the 
building will be completed by 2023, with full assessment of the Minimum Improvements 
on January 1, 2024 and debt certification to the Auditor by the City prior to December 1, 

12

Item 4.



2023. The Economic Development Grants shall commence on June 1, 2026 and end on 
June 1, 2030 based on the value added to the property. The following schedule would 
be applicable: 
 

June 1, 2026 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 25-26 
June 1, 2027 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 26-27 
June 1, 2028 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 27-28 
June 1, 2029 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 28-29 

 June 1, 2030 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 29-30 
 
The maximum amount of tax rebates provided to the developer shall not exceed 
$593,937 over the 5-year period. This is based on using a maximum of $4,219,191 tax 
increment increase ($5M estimated valuation – existing building valuation – state tax 
rollback) in the valuation of the minimum improvements to the building. 
 

Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that City Council approve and adopt the following: 
 

1. Resolution approving and executing an Agreement for Private Development 
between CV Commercial, LLC and the City of Cedar Falls. 

 

Approval of this project is consistent with City Council Goal No. 3: Create an 
environment conducive to economic development.  This is further identified on Page 16 
of City Council Goals under Supporting Council Policies: 
 
 *Function as a catalyst to encourage business development and expansion in 
Cedar Falls. 
 

 *Continue to support public and private economic development efforts in Cedar 
Falls and the metropolitan area. 
 
If you have any questions regarding this project, please feel free to let me know. 
 
xc: Ron Gaines, P.E., City Administrator 
 

13

Item 4.



W 22nd St

W 21st St

Co
lle

ge
 S

t

Ol
ive

 St

W 20th St

W 23rd St

Project Location

CV Commercial, LLC
2119 College Street
New Mixed Use Building I

14

Item 4.



Execution Version 

 

      

 

 

 

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

 

 

 

By and Between 

 

 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

 

AND 

 

 

 

CV COMMERCIAL, L.L.C. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

15

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 2 

AGREEMENT 

FOR 

PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

 

THIS AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT (hereinafter called 

"Agreement"), is made on or as of the ____ day of  ____________, 2021, by and between 

the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, a municipality (hereinafter called "City"), 

established pursuant to the Code of Iowa of the State of Iowa and acting under the 

authorization of Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa, 2019, as amended 

(hereinafter called "Urban Renewal Act"), and CV COMMERCIAL, L.L.C., having 

offices for the transaction of business at 604 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

(hereinafter known as "Developer"). 

 

WITNESSETH: 

 

WHEREAS, in furtherance of the objectives of the Urban Renewal Act, the City 

has undertaken a program for the development of an economic development area in the 

City and, in this connection, is engaged in carrying out urban renewal project activities in 

an area known as the College Hill Urban Renewal Area (“Area” or “Urban Renewal 

Area”), as set forth in the College Hill Urban Renewal Plan, as amended (“Plan” or 

"Urban Renewal Plan"); and  

 

WHEREAS, a copy of the foregoing Urban Renewal Plan, as amended, has been 

recorded among the land records in the office of the Recorder of Black Hawk County, 

Iowa; and 

 

WHEREAS, Developer is the owner of certain real property located in the 

foregoing Urban Renewal Area and as more particularly described in Exhibit A attached 

hereto and made a part hereof (which property as so described is hereinafter referred to as 

the "Development Property"); and 

 

WHEREAS, Developer is willing to construct certain Minimum Improvements on 

the Development Property and Developer will thereafter cause the same to be operated in 

accordance with this Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the construction of the Minimum Improvements on the Development 

Property will alleviate the blighted condition of the neighborhood and will benefit the 

16

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 3 

City economically through increased property tax generation and increased sales tax 

generation on the the Minimum Improvements, and will otherwise provide economic 

growth; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City believes that the development of the Development Property 

pursuant to this Agreement and the fulfillment generally of this Agreement are in the vital 

and best interests of the City, and in accord with the public purposes and provisions of 

the applicable State and local laws and requirements under which the foregoing project 

has been undertaken and is being assisted, including but not limited to Chapters 15A and 

403 of the Code of Iowa. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and the mutual obligations 

of the parties hereto, each of them does hereby covenant and agree with the other as 

follows: 

 

ARTICLE I.  DEFINITIONS 

 

Section 1.1.  Definitions. In addition to other definitions set forth in this 

Agreement, all capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the 

following meanings unless a different meaning clearly appears from the context: 

 

Agreement means this Agreement and all exhibits and appendices hereto, as the 

same may be from time to time modified, amended or supplemented. 

 

Area or Urban Renewal Area shall mean the area known as the College Hill Urban 

Renewal Area. 

 

Certificate of Completion means a certification in the form of the certificate 

attached hereto as Exhibit C and hereby made a part of this Agreement. 

 

City means the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, or any successor to its functions.  

 

Code means the Code of Iowa, 2019, as amended. 

 

Commencement Date means the date of this Agreement. 

 

College Hill Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund means the special fund 

of the City created under the authority of Section 403.19(2) of the Code and the 

17

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 4 

Ordinance, which fund was created in order to pay the principal of and interest on loans, 

monies advanced to or indebtedness, whether funded, refunded, assumed or otherwise, 

including bonds or other obligations issued under the authority of Chapters 15A, 403 or 

384 of the Code, incurred by the City to finance or refinance in whole or in part projects 

undertaken pursuant to the Urban Renewal Plan for the Urban Renewal Area. 

 

County means the County of Black Hawk County, Iowa. 

  

CV Commercial, L.L.C., 2119 College Street TIF Account means a separate 

account within the College Hill Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund of the City, 

in which there shall be deposited Tax Increments received by the City with respect to the 

Minimum Improvements and the Development Property. 

 

Developer means CV Commercial, L.L.C., and its successors and assigns. 

 

Development Property means that portion of the College Hill Urban Renewal Area 

described in Exhibit A. 

 

Economic Development Grants means the payments to be made by the City to 

Developer under Article VIII of this Agreement. 

 

Event of Default means any of the events described in Section 10.1 of this 

Agreement. 

 

First Mortgage means any Mortgage granted to secure any loan made pursuant to 

either a mortgage commitment obtained by Developer from a commercial lender or other 

financial institution to fund any portion of the construction costs and initial operating 

capital requirements of the Minimum Improvements or all such Mortgages as 

appropriate. 

 

 Full-Time Equivalent Employment Unit means the employment at the Minimum 

Improvements of the equivalent of one person for an average of 2,000 hours per year, 

assuming eight hours per day for a five-day, forty-hour work week for fifty weeks per 

year. 

 

 Minimum Improvements shall mean the construction of improvements on the 

Development Property as described in Exhibit B.   

 

18

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 5 

Mortgage means any mortgage or security agreement in which Developer has 

granted a mortgage or other security interest in the Development Property, or any portion 

or parcel thereof, or any improvements constructed thereon. 

 

Net Proceeds means any proceeds paid by an insurer to Developer under a policy 

or policies of insurance required to be provided and maintained by Developer, as the case 

may be, pursuant to Article V of this Agreement and remaining after deducting all 

expenses (including fees and disbursements of counsel) incurred in the collection of such 

proceeds. 

 

Ordinance shall mean Ordinance No. 2738 of the City, under which the taxes 

levied on the taxable property in the Project Area shall be divided, with a portion of said 

taxes to be paid into the College Hill Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund, 

referred to and authorized by Section 403.19(2) of the Code of Iowa. 

 

Project shall mean the construction of the Minimum Improvements on the 

Development Property, as described in this Agreement. 

 

State means the State of Iowa. 

 

Tax Increments means the property tax revenues on the Minimum Improvements 

divided and made available to the City for deposit in the CV Commercial, L.L.C., 2119 

College Street TIF Account of the College Hill Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue 

Fund under the provisions of Section 403.19 of the Code, as amended, and the Ordinance. 

 

Termination Date means the date of termination of this Agreement, as established 

in Section 12.8 of this Agreement. 

 

Unavoidable Delays means delays resulting from acts or occurrences outside the 

reasonable control of the party claiming the delay including but not limited to storms, 

floods, fires, explosions or other casualty losses, unusual weather conditions, strikes, 

boycotts, lockouts or other labor disputes, delays in transportation or delivery of material 

or equipment, litigation commenced by third parties, or the acts of any federal, State or 

local governmental unit (other than the City). 

 

Urban Renewal Plan means the Urban Renewal Plan approved with respect to the 

College Hill Urban Renewal Area, described in the preambles hereof. 

 

19

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 6 

ARTICLE II.  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

 

Section 2.1.  Representations and Warranties of the City. The City makes the 

following representations and warranties:  

 

a. The City is a municipal corporation and municipality organized under the 

provisions of the Constitution and the laws of the State and has the power to enter into 

this Agreement and carry out its obligations hereunder. 

 

b. The execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the 

transactions contemplated hereby, and the fulfillment of or compliance with the terms 

and conditions of this Agreement are not prevented by, limited by, in conflict with, or 

result in a breach of, the terms, conditions or provisions of any contractual restriction, 

evidence of indebtedness, agreement or instrument of whatever nature to which the City 

is now a party or by which it is bound, nor do they constitute a default under any of the 

foregoing. 

 

Section 2.2.  Representations and Warranties of Developer. Developer makes the 

following representations and warranties: 

 

a. CV Commercial, L.L.C., is an Iowa limited liability company, duly 

organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of Iowa, with all requisite 

power and authority to own and operate its properties, to carry on its business as now 

conducted and as presently proposed to be conducted, and to enter into and perform its 

obligations under this Agreement.   

 

b. This Agreement has been duly and validly authorized, executed and 

delivered by Developer and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the 

City, is in full force and effect and is a valid and legally binding instrument of Developer 

enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as the same may be limited by 

bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws relating to or affecting creditors' 

rights generally. 

 

c. The execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the 

transactions contemplated hereby, and the fulfillment of or compliance with the terms 

and conditions of this Agreement are not prevented by, limited by, in conflict with, or 

result in a violation or breach of, the terms, conditions or provisions of the governing 

documents of Developer or of any contractual restriction, evidence of indebtedness, 

20

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 7 

agreement or instrument of whatever nature to which Developer is now a party or by 

which it or its property is bound, nor do they constitute a default under any of the 

foregoing. 

 

d. There are no actions, suits or proceedings pending or threatened against or 

affecting Developer in any court or before any arbitrator or before or by any 

governmental body in which there is a reasonable possibility of an adverse decision 

which could materially adversely affect the business (present or prospective), financial 

position or results of operations of Developer or which in any manner raises any 

questions affecting the validity of the Agreement or Developer's ability to perform its 

obligations under this Agreement. 

 

e.  Developer will cause the Minimum Improvements to be constructed in 

accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Urban Renewal Plan, and all local, 

State, and federal laws and regulations. 

 

f. Developer will use its best efforts to obtain or cause to be obtained, in a 

timely manner, all required permits, licenses, and approvals, and will meet, in a timely 

manner, all requirements of all applicable local, State, and federal laws and regulations 

which must be obtained or met before the Minimum Improvements may be lawfully 

constructed. 

 

g. The construction of the Minimum Improvements will require a total 

investment of approximately $5,000,000 for construction costs (building only). 

 

h. Developer has not received any notice from any local, State or federal 

official that the activities of Developer with respect to the Development Property may or 

will be in violation of any environmental law or regulation (other than those notices, if 

any, of which the City has previously been notified in writing). Developer is not currently 

aware of any State or federal claim filed or planned to be filed by any party relating to 

any violation of any local, State or federal environmental law, regulation or review 

procedure applicable to the Development Property, and Developer is not currently aware 

of any violation of any local, State or federal environmental law, regulation or review 

procedure which would give any person a valid claim under any State or federal 

environmental statute with respect thereto. 

 

i. Developer has firm commitments for construction or acquisition and 

permanent financing for the Project in an amount sufficient, together with equity 

21

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 8 

commitments, to successfully complete the Minimum Improvements in accordance with 

the Construction Plans contemplated in this Agreement. 

 

j. Developer will cooperate fully with the City in resolution of any traffic, 

parking, trash removal or public safety problems which may arise in connection with the 

construction and operation of the Minimum Improvements. 

 

k. Developer expects that, barring Unavoidable Delays, the Minimum 

Improvements will be completed by December 31, 2023. 

 

l. Developer would not undertake its obligations under this Agreement 

without the payment by the City of the Economic Development Grants being made to 

Developer pursuant to this Agreement. 

 

ARTICLE III.  CONSTRUCTION OF MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS 

 

Section 3.1.  Construction of Minimum Improvements. Developer agrees that it 

will cause the Minimum Improvements to be constructed on the Development Property in 

conformance with the site plans submitted to the City and attached to this Agreement as 

part of Exhibit B, after issuance of a building permit issued by the City. Developer agrees 

that the scope and scale of the Minimum Improvements to be constructed shall not be 

significantly less than the scope and scale of the Minimum Improvements as detailed and 

outlined in the site plans, and shall require a total investment of approximately 

$5,000,000.00 for construction costs (building only). 

 

Section 3.2.  Commencement and Completion of Construction. Subject to 

Unavoidable Delays, Developer shall cause construction of the Minimum Improvements 

to be undertaken and completed:  (i) by no later than December 31, 2023; or (ii) by such 

other date as the parties shall mutually agree upon in writing. Time lost as a result of 

Unavoidable Delays shall be added to extend this date by a number of days equal to the 

number of days lost as a result of Unavoidable Delays. Developer agrees that it shall 

permit designated representatives of the City, upon reasonable notice (which does not 

have to be written), to enter upon the Development Property during the construction of 

the Minimum Improvements to inspect such construction and the progress thereof. 

 

Section 3.3.  Certificate of Completion. Upon written request of Developer after 

issuance of an occupancy permit for the Minimum Improvements, the City will furnish 

Developer with a Certificate of Completion in recordable form, in substantially the form 

22

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 9 

set forth in Exhibit C attached hereto. Such Certificate of Completion shall be a 

conclusive determination of the satisfactory termination of the covenants and conditions 

of this Agreement with respect to the obligations of Developer to cause construction of 

the Minimum Improvements.  

 

The Certificate of Completion may be recorded in the proper office for the 

recordation of deeds and other instruments pertaining to the Development Property at 

Developer's sole expense. If the City shall refuse or fail to provide a Certificate of 

Completion in accordance with the provisions of this Section, the City shall, within 

twenty (20) days after written request by Developer provide a written statement 

indicating in adequate detail in what respects Developer has failed to complete the 

Minimum Improvements in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, or is 

otherwise in default under the terms of this Agreement, and what measures or acts it will 

be necessary, in the opinion of the City, for Developer to take or perform in order to 

obtain such Certificate of Completion.  

 

ARTICLE IV.   RESERVED 

 

ARTICLE V.  INSURANCE 

 

Section 5.1.  Insurance Requirements. 

 

a. Developer will provide and maintain or cause to be maintained at all times 

during the process of constructing the Minimum Improvements (and, from time to time at 

the request of the City, furnish the City with proof of payment of premiums on): 

 

 i. Builder's risk insurance, written on the so-called "Builder's Risk– 

Completed Value Basis," in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the 

insurable value of the Minimum Improvements at the date of completion, and with 

coverage available in non-reporting form on the so-called "all risk" form of policy. 

 

 ii. Comprehensive general liability insurance (including operations, 

contingent liability, operations of subcontractors, completed operations, and contractual 

liability insurance) with limits against bodily injury and property damage of at least 

$1,000,000 for each occurrence. The City shall be named as an additional insured for the 

City's liability or loss arising out of or in any way associated with the project and arising 

out of any act, error, or omission of Developer, its directors, officers, shareholders, 

contractors, and subcontractors or anyone else for whose acts the City may be held 

23

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 10 

responsible (with coverage to the City at least as broad as that which is provided to 

Developer and not lessened or avoided by endorsement). The policy shall contain a 

"severability of interests" clause and provide primary insurance over any other insurance 

maintained by the City. 

 

 iii. Workers' compensation insurance with at least statutory coverage. 

 

b. Upon completion of construction of the Minimum Improvements and at all 

times prior to the Termination Date, Developer shall maintain or cause to be maintained, 

at its cost and expense (and from time to time at the request of the City shall furnish proof 

of the payment of premiums on), insurance as follows: 

 

 i. Insurance against loss and/or damage to the Minimum 

Improvements under a policy or policies covering such risks as are ordinarily insured 

against by similar businesses, including (without limitation the generality of the 

foregoing) fire, extended coverage, vandalism and malicious mischief, explosion, water 

damage, demolition cost, debris removal, and collapse in an amount not less than the full 

insurable replacement value of the Minimum Improvements, but any such policy may 

have a deductible amount of not more than $50,000 or self-insurance up to not more than 

$1,000,000. No policy of insurance shall be so written that the proceeds thereof will 

produce less than the minimum coverage required by the preceding sentence, by reason 

of co-insurance provisions or otherwise, without the prior consent thereto in writing by 

the City. The term "full insurable replacement value" shall mean the actual replacement 

cost of the Minimum Improvements (excluding foundation and excavation costs and 

costs of underground flues, pipes, drains, and other uninsurable items) and equipment, 

and shall be determined from time to time at the request of the City, but not more 

frequently than once every three years, by an insurance consultant or insurer selected and 

paid for by Developer and approved by the City.   

 

 ii. Comprehensive general public liability insurance, including personal 

injury liability for injuries to persons and/or property, including any injuries resulting 

from the operation of automobiles or other motorized vehicles on or about the 

Development Property, in the minimum amount for each occurrence and for each year of 

$1,000,000. 

 

 iii. Such other insurance, including workers' compensation insurance 

respecting all employees of Developer, in such amount as is customarily carried by like 

organizations engaged in like activities of comparable size and liability exposure; 

24

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 11 

provided that Developer may be self-insured with respect to all or any part of its liability 

for workers' compensation. 

 

c. All insurance required by this Article V to be provided prior to the 

Termination Date shall be taken out and maintained in responsible insurance companies 

selected by Developer, which are authorized under the laws of the State to assume the 

risks covered thereby. Developer will deposit annually with the City copies of policies 

evidencing all such insurance, or a certificate or certificates or binders of the respective 

insurers stating that such insurance is in force and effect. Unless otherwise provided in 

this Article V, each policy shall contain a provision that the insurer shall not cancel or 

modify it without giving written notice to Developer and the City at least thirty (30) days 

before the cancellation or modification becomes effective. Not less than fifteen (15) days 

prior to the expiration of any policy, Developer shall furnish the City evidence 

satisfactory to the City that the policy has been renewed or replaced by another policy 

conforming to the provisions of this Article V, or that there is no necessity therefor under 

the terms hereof. In lieu of separate policies, Developer may maintain a single policy, or 

blanket or umbrella policies, or a combination thereof, which provide the total coverage 

required herein, in which event Developer shall deposit with the City a certificate or 

certificates of the respective insurers as to the amount of coverage in force upon the 

Minimum Improvements. 

 

d. Developer agrees to notify the City immediately in the case of damage 

exceeding $25,000 in amount to, or destruction of, the Minimum Improvements or any 

portion thereof resulting from fire or other casualty. Net Proceeds of any such insurance 

shall be paid directly to Developer, and Developer will forthwith repair, reconstruct, and 

restore the Minimum Improvements to substantially the same or an improved condition 

or value as they existed prior to the event causing such damage and, to the extent 

necessary to accomplish such repair, reconstruction and restoration, Developer will apply 

the Net Proceeds of any insurance relating to such damage received by Developer to the 

payment or reimbursement of the costs thereof. 

 

e. Developer shall complete the repair, reconstruction, and restoration of the 

Minimum Improvements, whether or not the Net Proceeds of insurance received by 

Developer for such purposes are sufficient.   

 

 

 

 

25

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 12 

ARTICLE VI.  FURTHER COVENANTS OF DEVELOPER 

 

Section 6.1. Maintenance of Properties.  Developer will maintain, preserve, and 

keep its properties within the City (whether owned in fee or a leasehold interest), 

including but not limited to the Minimum Improvements, in good repair and working 

order, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and from time to time will make all necessary 

repairs, replacements, renewals, and additions. 

 

Section 6.2. Maintenance of Records. Developer will keep at all times proper 

books of record and account in which full, true, and correct entries will be made of all 

dealings and transactions of or in relation to the business and affairs of Developer relating 

to this Project in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, consistently 

applied throughout the period involved, and Developer will provide reasonable protection 

against loss or damage to such books of record and account.  

 

Section 6.3. Compliance with Laws. Developer will comply with all state, federal 

and local laws, rules and regulations relating to the Minimum Improvements. 

 

Section 6.4. Non-Discrimination. In the construction and operation of the 

Minimum Improvements, Developer shall not discriminate against any applicant, 

employee or tenant because of age, color, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity, 

creed, national origin, race, religion, marital status, sex, physical disability, or familial 

status. Developer shall ensure that applicants, employees, and tenants are considered and 

are treated without regard to their age, color, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity, 

creed, national origin, race, religion, marital status, sex, physical disability, or familial 

status. 

 

Section 6.5 Available Information. Upon request, Developer shall promptly 

provide the City with copies of information requested by City that are related to this 

Agreement so that City can determine compliance with the Agreement.   

 

Section 6.6  Employment. Developer agrees that the Minimum Improvements will 

create usable commercial space for office and/or retail tenants. Developer shall use its 

best efforts to ensure that at least 2 Full-Time Equivalent Employment Units will be 

employed by Developer’s Tenant(s) at the Minimum Improvements by December 31, 

2024 and retained until at least the Termination Date of this Agreement.   

26

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 13 

 Section 6.7 Annual Certification. To assist the City in monitoring the Agreement 

and performance of Developer hereunder, a duly authorized officer of Developer shall 

annually provide to the City: (i) proof that all ad valorem taxes on the Development 

Property and Minimum Improvements have been paid for the prior fiscal year and any 

taxes due and payable for the current fiscal year as of the date of certification; (ii) the 

date of the first full assessment of the Minimum Improvements; (iii) certification of the 

number of Full-Time Equivalent Employment Units as of October 1 and as of the first 

day of each of the preceding eleven (11) months; and (iv) certification that such officer 

has re-examined the terms and provisions of this Agreement and that at the date of such 

certificate, and during the preceding twelve (12) months, Developer is not, or was not, in 

default in the fulfillment of any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement and that no 

Event of Default (or event which, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, 

would become an Event of Default) is occurring or has occurred as of the date of such 

certificate or during such period, or if the signer is aware of any such default, event or 

Event of Default, said officer shall disclose in such statement the nature thereof, its 

period of existence and what action, if any, has been taken or is proposed to be taken with 

respect thereto. Such statement, proof and certificate shall be provided not later than 

October 15 of each year, commencing October 15, 2025 and ending on October 15, 2029, 

both dates inclusive. Developer shall provide supporting information for its Annual 

Certifications upon request of the City. See Exhibit E for form required for Developer's 

Annual Certification. 

 Section 6.8. Term of Operation. Developer will continue its efforts to lease the 

Minimum Improvements on the Development Property and its other obligations 

contained in this Agreement, including the employment obligations in Section 6.6, until 

the Termination Date of this Agreement.   

 Section 6.9 Developer Completion Guarantee. By signing this Agreement, 

Developer hereby guarantees to the City performance by Developer of all the terms and 

provisions of this Agreement pertaining to Developer's obligations with respect to the 

construction of the Minimum Improvements. Without limiting the generality of the 

foregoing, Developer guarantees that: (a) construction of the Minimum Improvements 

shall commence and be completed within the time limits set forth herein; (b) the 

Minimum Improvements shall be constructed and completed in accordance with the 

Construction Plans; (c) the Minimum Improvements shall be constructed and completed 

free and clear of any mechanic's liens, materialman's liens and equitable liens; (d) all 

costs of constructing the Minimum Improvements shall be paid when due.  

 

27

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 14 

Section 6.10.  Relocation. Developer agrees and covenants not to lease the 

Minimum Improvements to any entity that is relocating to the City from another part of 

Black Hawk County or a contiguous county during the term of this Agreement. In 

general, use of urban renewal incentives cannot be used for projects that involve a 

relocating entity unless there is a written agreement regarding the use of economic 

incentives from the City where the business is currently located and the City to which the 

business is relocating, either specific to this Project or in general (a fair play or neutrality 

agreement), or if the City finds the use of tax increments in connection with the 

relocation is in the public interest, which means that the business has provided a written 

affirmation that it is considering moving part or all of its operations out of state and such 

relocation would result in either significant employment or wage loss in Iowa. Developer 

understands and agrees that if it does lease to a relocating entity, as determined by the 

City in its sole discretion, the Developer is not eligible to  receive all or a pro rata portion 

of the Economic Development Grants under this Agreement and will be responsible for 

paying back previously received Economic Development Grants, if applicable. 

 

ARTICLE VII.  PROHIBITION AGAINST ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFER 

 

 Section 7.1.  Status of Developer; Transfer of Substantially All Assets; 

Assignment. As security for the obligations of Developer under this Agreement, 

Developer represents and agrees that, prior to the Termination Date, Developer will 

maintain existence as a company and will not wind up or otherwise dispose of all or 

substantially all of its assets or transfer, convey, or assign its interest in the Development 

Property or its interest in this Agreement to any other party unless: (i) the transferee 

partnership, corporation, limited liability company or individual assumes in writing all of 

the obligations of Developer under this Agreement; and (ii) the City consents thereto in 

writing in advance thereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, or any other 

provisions of this Agreement, Developer may pledge any and/or all of its assets as 

security for any financing of the Minimum Improvements, and the City agrees that 

Developer may assign its interest under this Agreement for such purpose.   

 

7.2 Prohibition Against Use as Non-Taxable or Centrally Assessed Property.  

During the term of this Agreement, the Developer, or its successors, or assigns agree that 

the Development Property cannot be transferred or sold to a non-profit entity or used for 

a purpose that would exempt the Development Property or Minimum Improvements from 

property tax liability. Nor can the Development Property or Minimum Improvements be 

used as centrally assessed property (including but not limited to, Iowa Code § 428.24 to 

428.29 (Public Utility Plants and Related Personal Property); Chapter 433 (Telegraph and 

28

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 15 

Telephone Company Property); Chapter 434 (Railway Property); Chapter 437 (Electric 

Transmission Lines); Chapter 437A (Property Used in the Production, Generation, 

Transmission or Delivery of Electricity or Natural Gas); and Chapter 438 (Pipeline 

Property)). 

 

ARTICLE VIII.  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GRANT 

 

Section 8.1.  Economic Development Grant.  

 

a.  For and in consideration of the obligations being assumed by Developer 

hereunder, and as a necessary means of achieving the goals and objectives of the Urban 

Renewal Plan for the Urban Renewal Area and the Urban Renewal Act, the City agrees, 

subject to the terms and conditions of this Article and to subject to Developer being and 

remaining in compliance with the terms of this Agreement, to make up to five (5) 

consecutive annual payments of Economic Development Grants to Developer up to an 

aggregate total amount not to exceed $593,937 under the following terms and conditions.   

 

Assuming completion by December 31, 2023, full assessment of the Minimum 

Improvements on January 1, 2024, and debt certification to the Auditor by the City prior 

to December 1, 2024, the Economic Development Grants shall commence on June 1, 

2026, and end on June 1, 2030, pursuant to Section 403.19 of the Urban Renewal Act, 

under the following formula: 

 

June 1, 2026  100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 2025-2026 

June 1, 2027 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 2026-2027 

June 1, 2028 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 2027-2028 

June 1, 2029 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 2028-2029 

June 1, 2030 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 2029-2030 

 

Each annual payment shall be equal in amount to the above percentages of the Tax 

Increments collected by the City with respect to the Minimum Improvements on 

Development Property under the terms of the Ordinance and deposited into the CV 

Commercial, L.L.C., 2119 College Street TIF Account (without regard to any averaging 

that may otherwise be utilized under Section 403.19 and excluding any interest that may 

accrue thereon prior to payment to the Developer) during the preceding twelve-month 

period in respect of the Development Property and the Minimum Improvements, but 

subject to limitation and adjustment as provided in this Article (such payments being 

referred to collectively as the "Economic Development Grants"). 

29

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 16 

 

The Parties recognize that the Minimum Improvements consist of the construction 

of an approximately 31,200 square foot commercial/residential mixed use building, with 

47 onsite parking spaces, commercial space located on the first floor, and residential units 

located on the second through fifth floors. This will allow for increased commercial and 

retail business and the creation and retention of jobs. Construction costs are expected to 

be approximately $5,000,000 (building only). The increased assessed value after 

construction of the Minimum Improvements for the purpose of this Agreement is 

required to be at least $512,010 (current building assessed valuation of $312,010) 

(building only) for Developer to be eligible for Economic Development Grants, and 

the Black Hawk County Assessor will make the final determination as to the value.   

 

The above schedule of the payments for Economic Development Grants is based 

on the first full assessment of the Minimum Improvements being January 1, 2024. If the 

completion of the Minimum Improvements is delayed so that the Minimum 

Improvements are not fully assessed as of January 1, 2024, then the Economic 

Development Grants will not begin as scheduled above. In no event shall the City certify 

a request for Tax Increments to the County until the Minimum Improvements are fully 

assessed. It is the responsibility of the Developer to inform the City in writing when the 

Minimum Improvements are first fully assessed and to do so not later than October 15 

after the January 1 when the Minimum Improvements are first fully assessed. 

 

The Economic Development Grants are only for the Minimum Improvements 

described in this Agreement and not any future expansions which, to be eligible for 

Economic Development Grants, would be the subject of an amendment or new 

agreement, at the sole discretion of the City Council.   

 

b. The obligation of the City to make an Economic Development Grant in any 

year shall be subject to and conditioned upon (a) compliance with the terms of this 

Agreement, including an assessment value of at least $512,010 (for building value only); 

and (b) timely filing by Developer of the Annual Certification required under Section 6.7 

hereof and the City Council's approval thereof. After the Minimum Improvements are 

first fully assessed and if in compliance with this Agreement, if the Developer's Annual 

Certification is timely filed and contains the information required under Section 6.7 and 

the City Council approves of the same, the City shall certify to the County prior to 

December 1 of that year its request for the available Tax Increments resulting from the 

assessments imposed by the County as of January 1 of that year, to be collected by the 

County and paid to the City as taxes are paid during the following fiscal year and which 

30

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 17 

shall thereafter be disbursed to Developer on the following June 1. (Example:  assuming 

completion by December 31, 2023, and first full assessment on January 1, 2024, if 

Developer and the City each so certify in October 2024, the first Economic Development 

Grants would be paid to Developer on June 1, 2026 (for 100% of the Tax Increment for 

fiscal year 2025-2026). Compliance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement is a 

condition precedent to an Economic Development Grant. As an example, if property 

taxes are not paid, the Developer is not eligible for an Economic Development Grant. 

 

In the event that the Annual Certification required to be delivered by the 

Developer under Section 6.7 is not delivered to the City by October 15 of any year, the 

Developer recognizes and agrees that the City may have insufficient time to review and 

approve the same and certify its request for Tax Increments to the County and that, as a 

result, no Economic Development Grant may be made to the Developer in respect 

thereof. The City covenants to act in good faith to appropriately review and consider any 

late certification on the part of the Developer, but the City shall not be obligated to make 

any certification to the County for the available Tax Increments or make any 

corresponding payment of the Economic Development Grant to the Developer if, in the 

reasonable judgment of the City, it is not able to give appropriate consideration (which 

may include, but not be limited to, specific discussion before the City Council at a regular 

City Council meeting with respect thereto) to the Developer’s certification due to its late 

filing. 

 

c. The aggregate amount of the Economic Development Grants that may be 

paid to Developer under this Agreement shall be equal to the sum of the total amount of 

the applicable percentage of Tax Increments collected in respect of the assessments 

imposed on the Minimum Improvements over the specified time period, but in no event 

shall exceed a total aggregate amount of $593,937. This amount is calculated by using a 

maximum $4,219,191 tax increment increase in the taxable valuation of the minimum 

improvements, divided by 1,000, and multiplied by the current FY21 effective TIF rate of 

$28.15408 per $1,000 valuation (in this instance, $4,219,191/1,000=4,219.19 multiplied 

by $28.15408=$118,787 multiplied by 5 years=$593,937). Economic Development 

Grants shall at all times be subject to suspension, reduction, or termination in accordance 

with the terms of this Article VIII. Thereafter the taxes levied on the Minimum 

Improvements shall be divided and applied in accordance with the Urban Renewal Act 

and the Ordinance. 

 

31

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 18 

It is recognized by all parties that the total aggregate amount set forth above is a 

maximum amount only and that the actual payment amounts will be determined as set 

forth in Section 8.1 and this Article. 

 

d. In the event that an Event of Default occurs or any certification filed by 

Developer under Section 6.7 (or other information) discloses the existence or prior 

occurrence of an Event of Default that was not cured or cannot reasonably be cured, the 

City shall have no obligation thereafter to make any payments to Developer in respect of 

the Economic Development Grants and the provisions of this Article shall terminate and 

be of no further force or effect. 

 

e. Each Annual Certification filed by Developer under Section 6.7 hereof 

shall be considered separately in determining whether the City shall make any of the 

Economic Development Grant payments available to Developer under this Section. 

Under no circumstances shall the failure by Developer to qualify for an Economic 

Development Grant in any year serve to extend the term of this Agreement beyond the 

Termination Date or the years during which Economic Development Grants may be 

awarded to Developer or the total amount thereof, it being the intent of parties hereto to 

provide Developer with an opportunity to receive Economic Development Grants only if 

Developer fully complies with the provisions hereof and the Developer becomes entitled 

thereto, up to the maximum aggregate amount set forth in Section 8.1(c). 

 

Section 8.2.  Source of Grant Funds Limited.   

 

a. The Economic Development Grants shall be payable from and secured 

solely and only by amounts deposited and held in the CV Commercial, L.L.C., 2119 

College Street TIF Account of the College Hill Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue 

Fund of the City. The City hereby covenants and agrees to maintain the Ordinance in 

force during the term hereof and to apply the appropriate percentage of Tax Increments 

collected in respect of the Development Property and Minimum Improvements and 

allocated to the CV Commercial, L.L.C., 2119 College Street TIF Account to pay the 

Economic Development Grants, as and to the extent set forth in this Article.  The 

Economic Development Grants shall not be payable in any manner by other tax 

increment revenues or by general taxation or from any other City funds.   

 

Each Economic Development Grant is subject to annual appropriation by the City 

Council. The right of non-appropriation reserved to the City in this Section is intended by 

the parties, and shall be construed at all times, so as to ensure that the City's obligation to 

32

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 19 

make future Economic Development Grants shall not constitute a legal indebtedness of 

the City within the meaning of any applicable constitutional or statutory debt limitation 

prior to the adoption of a budget which appropriates funds for the payment of that 

installment or amount. In the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement are 

determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to create, or result in the creation of, such 

a legal indebtedness of the City, the enforcement of the said provision shall be suspended, 

and the Agreement shall at all times be construed and applied in such a manner as will 

preserve the foregoing intent of the parties, and no Event of Default by the City shall be 

deemed to have occurred as a result thereof. If any provision of this Agreement or the 

application thereof to any circumstance is so suspended, the suspension shall not affect 

other provisions of this Agreement which can be given effect without the suspended 

provision. To this end the provisions of this Agreement are severable. 

 

b. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 8.1 hereof, the City shall have no 

obligation to make an Economic Development Grant to Developer if at any time during 

the term hereof the City fails to appropriate funds for payment, or receives an opinion 

from its legal counsel to the effect that the use of Tax Increments resulting from the 

Minimum Improvements to fund an Economic Development Grant to Developer, as 

contemplated under said Section 8.1, is not authorized or otherwise an appropriate urban 

renewal activity permitted to be undertaken by the City under the Urban Renewal Act or 

other applicable provisions of the Code, as then constituted or under controlling decision 

of any Iowa court having jurisdiction over the subject matter hereof. Upon receipt of any 

such legal opinion or non-appropriation, the City shall promptly forward notice of the 

same to Developer. If the non-appropriation or circumstances or legal constraints giving 

rise to the decision continue for a period during which two (2) annual Economic 

Development Grants would otherwise have been paid to the Developer under the terms of 

Section 8.1, the City may terminate this Agreement, without penalty or other liability to 

the City, by written notice to Developer. 

 

c. The City makes no representation with respect to the amounts that may 

finally be paid to Developer as the Economic Development Grants, and under no 

circumstances shall the City in any manner be liable to Developer so long as the City 

timely applies the appropriate percentage of Tax Increments actually collected and held 

in the CV Commercial, L.L.C., 2119 College Street TIF Account (regardless of the 

amounts thereof) to the payment of the corresponding Economic Development Grants to 

Developer as and to the extent described in this Article. 

 

33

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 20 

Section 8.3.  Use of Other Tax Increments. The City shall be free to use any and 

all Tax Increments collected from any other properties within the College Hill Urban 

Renewal Area, or any available Tax Increments resulting from the suspension or 

termination of the Economic Development Grants, for any purpose for which the Tax 

Increments may lawfully be used pursuant to the provisions of the Urban Renewal Act 

(including an allocation of all or any portion thereof to the reduction of any eligible City 

costs), and the City shall have no obligations to Developer with respect to the use thereof. 

 

Section 8.4.  Real Property Taxes. Developer or its successors shall pay or cause 

to be paid, when due, all real property taxes and assessments payable with respect to all 

and any parts of the Development Property acquired and owned or leased by it and 

pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement. Until Developer's obligations have been 

assumed by any other person or legal title to the property is vested in another person, all 

pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement, Developer shall be solely responsible for all 

assessments and taxes.  

 

Developer and its successors agree that prior to the Termination Date: 

 

a. They will not seek administrative review or judicial review of the 

applicability or constitutionality of any tax statute relating to the taxation of real property 

contained on the Development Property determined by any tax official to be applicable to 

the Development Property, Minimum Improvements, or raise the inapplicability or 

constitutionality of any such tax statute as a defense in any proceedings, including 

delinquent tax proceedings; and 

 

b. They will not seek any tax exemption deferral or abatement either presently 

or prospectively authorized under any State, federal or local law with respect to taxation 

of real property contained on the Development Property between the date of execution of 

this Agreement and the Termination Date. 

 

ARTICLE IX.  INDEMNIFICATION 

 

 Section 9.1.  Release and Indemnification Covenants. 

 

 a. Developer releases the City and the governing body members, officers, 

agents, servants and employees thereof (hereinafter, for purposes of this Article IX, the 

"indemnified parties") from, covenants and agrees that the indemnified parties shall not 

be liable for, and agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the indemnified parties 

34

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 21 

against, any loss or damage to property or any injury to or death of any person occurring 

at or about or resulting from any defect in the Minimum Improvements or Development 

Property.  

 

 b. Except for any willful misrepresentation or any willful or wanton 

misconduct or any unlawful act of the indemnified parties, Developer agrees to protect 

and defend the indemnified parties, now or forever, and further agrees to hold the 

indemnified parties harmless, from any claim, demand, suit, action or other proceedings 

whatsoever by any person or entity whatsoever arising or purportedly arising from:  (i) 

any violation of any agreement or condition of this Agreement (except with respect to 

any suit, action, demand or other proceeding brought by Developer against the City to 

enforce its rights under this Agreement); (ii) the acquisition and condition of the 

Development Property and the construction, installation, ownership, and operation of the 

Minimum Improvements; or (iii) any hazardous substance or environmental 

contamination located in or on the Development Property. 

 

 c. The indemnified parties shall not be liable for any damage or injury to the 

persons or property of Developer or their officers, agents, servants or employees or any 

other person who may be about the Minimum Improvements or Development Property 

due to any act of negligence of any person, other than any act of negligence on the part of 

any such indemnified party or its officers, agents, servants or employees. 

 

 d. All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements, and obligations of the 

City contained herein shall be deemed to be the covenants, stipulations, promises, 

agreements, and obligations of the City, and not of any governing body member, officer, 

agent, servant or employee of the City in the individual capacity thereof. 

 

e. The provisions of this Article IX shall survive the termination of this 

Agreement.  

ARTICLE X.  REMEDIES 

 

Section 10.1.  Events of Default Defined. The following shall be "Events of 

Default" under this Agreement and the term "Event of Default" shall mean, whenever it is 

used in this Agreement, any one or more of the following events during the Term of this 

Agreement: 

 

35

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 22 

a. Failure by Developer to cause the construction of the Minimum 

Improvements to be completed and the operations to continue pursuant to the terms and 

conditions of this Agreement; 

 

b.   Failure by Developer to comply with Sections 6.6, 6.7, 6.8, 6.9 or 6.10 of 

this Agreement. 

 

c. Transfer of Developer's interest in the Development Property or any interest 

in this Agreement or the assets of Developer in violation of the provisions of this 

Agreement; 

 

d. Failure by Developer to pay ad valorem taxes on the Development Property 

and Minimum Improvements;  

 

e. Failure by Developer to substantially observe or perform any covenant, 

condition, obligation or agreement on its part to be observed or performed under this 

Agreement; 

 

f. The holder of any Mortgage on the Development Property, or any 

improvements thereon, or any portion thereof, commences foreclosure proceedings as a 

result of any default under the applicable Mortgage documents; 

 

g. Developer shall: 

 

 i. file any petition in bankruptcy or for any reorganization, 

arrangement, composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution, or similar relief under 

the United States Bankruptcy Act of 1978, as amended, or under any similar federal or 

state law; or 

 

 ii. make an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or 

 

 iii. admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they 

become due; or 

 

 iv. be adjudicated as bankrupt or insolvent; or if a petition or answer 

proposing the adjudication of Developer as a bankrupt or its reorganization under any 

present or future federal bankruptcy act or any similar federal or state law shall be filed in 

any court and such petition or answer shall not be discharged or denied within ninety (90) 

36

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 23 

days after the filing thereof; or a receiver, trustee or liquidator of Developer or the 

Minimum Improvements, or part thereof, shall be appointed in any proceedings brought 

against Developer, and shall not be discharged within ninety (90) days after such 

appointment, or if Developer shall consent to or acquiesce in such appointment; or 

 

h. Any representation or warranty made by Developer in this Agreement or in 

any written statement or certificate furnished by Developer pursuant to this Agreement, 

shall prove to have been incorrect, incomplete or misleading in any material respect on or 

as of the date of the issuance or making thereof. 

 

Section 10.2.  Remedies on Default. Whenever any Event of Default referred to in 

Section 10.1 of this Agreement occurs and is continuing, the City, as specified below, 

may take any one or more of the following actions after the giving of thirty (30) days' 

written notice by the City to Developer and the holder of the First Mortgage (but only to 

the extent the City has been informed in writing of the existence of a First Mortgage and 

been provided with the address of the holder thereof) of the Event of Default, but only if 

the Event of Default has not been cured within said thirty (30) days, or if the Event of 

Default cannot reasonably be cured within thirty (30) days and Developer does not 

provide assurances reasonably satisfactory to the City that the Event of Default will be 

cured as soon as reasonably possible: 

 

a. The City may suspend its performance under this Agreement until it 

receives assurances from Developer, deemed adequate by the City, that Developer will 

cure the default and continue its performance under this Agreement; 

 

b. The City may terminate this Agreement; 

 

c. The City may withhold the Certificate of Completion;  

 

d. The City may take any action, including legal, equitable or administrative 

action, which may appear necessary or desirable to enforce performance and observance 

of any obligation, agreement, or covenant of Developer, as the case may be, under this 

Agreement; and 

 

e. The City shall be entitled to recover from the Developer, and the Developer 

shall repay to the City, an amount equal to the full amount of the Economic Development 

Grants previously made to Developer under Article VIII hereof, with interest thereon at 

37

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 24 

the highest rate permitted by State law. The City may take any action, including any legal 

action it deems necessary, to recover such amount from Developer. 

 

Section 10.3.  No Remedy Exclusive. No remedy herein conferred upon or 

reserved to the City is intended to be exclusive of any other available remedy or 

remedies, but each and every remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every 

other remedy given under this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity 

or by statute. No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any 

default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, 

but any such right and power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be 

deemed expedient.   

 

Section 10.4.  No Implied Waiver. In the event any agreement contained in this 

Agreement should be breached by any party and thereafter waived by any other party, 

such waiver shall be limited to the particular breach so waived and shall not be deemed to 

waive any other concurrent, previous or subsequent breach hereunder. 

 

Section 10.5.  Agreement to Pay Attorneys' Fees and Expenses.   

 

a. Developer understands and agrees that an amount equivalent to the City's 

costs and attorneys' fees associated with this Development Agreement shall be billed to 

and paid by the Developer following the approval of this Agreement by City Council, 

which amount shall be paid to the City by Developer no later than 30 days following 

request for payment by the City; and  

 

b. Whenever any Event of Default occurs and the City shall employ attorneys 

or incur other expenses for the collection of payment due or to become due or for the 

enforcement or performance or observance of any obligation or agreement on the part of 

Developer herein contained, Developer agrees that it shall, on demand therefor, pay to the 

City the reasonable fees of such attorneys and such other expenses as may be reasonably 

and appropriately incurred by the City in connection therewith. 

 

ARTICLE XI     RESERVED 

 

ARTICLE XII.  MISCELLANEOUS 

 

 Section 12.1.  Conflict of Interest. Developer represents and warrants that, to its 

best knowledge and belief after due inquiry, no officer or employee of the City, or their 

38

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 25 

designees or agents, nor any consultant or member of the governing body of the City, and 

no other public official of the City who exercises or has exercised any functions or 

responsibilities with respect to the Project during his or her tenure, or who is in a position 

to participate in a decision-making process or gain insider information with regard to the 

Project, has had or shall have any interest, direct or indirect, in any contract or 

subcontract, or the proceeds thereof, for work or services to be performed in connection 

with the Project, or in any activity, or benefit therefrom, which is part of the Project at 

any time during or after such person's tenure. 

 

Section 12.2.  Notices and Demands. A notice, demand or other communication 

under this Agreement by any party to the other shall be sufficiently given or delivered if 

it is dispatched by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, 

or delivered personally, and 

 

a. In the case of Developer, is addressed or delivered personally to Ryan 

Kriener, Manager, at 604 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613; 

 

b. In the case of the City, is addressed to or delivered personally to the City at 

220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, Attn: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director 

of Finance and Business Operations; 

 

or to such other designated individual or officer or to such other address as any party 

shall have furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith. 

 

Section 12.3.  Titles of Articles and Sections. Any titles of the several parts, 

Articles, and Sections of this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only 

and shall be disregarded in construing or interpreting any of its provisions. 

 

Section 12.4.  Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of 

counterparts, each of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

 

Section 12.5.  Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed and construed in 

accordance with the laws of the State of Iowa. 

 

Section 12.6.  Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the exhibits hereto reflect 

the entire agreement among the parties regarding the subject matter hereof, and 

supersedes and replaces all prior agreements, negotiations or discussions, whether oral or 

39

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 26 

written. This Agreement may not be amended except by a subsequent writing signed by 

all parties hereto. 

 

Section 12.7  Successors and Assigns. This Agreement is intended to and shall 

inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective 

successors and assigns. 

 

Section 12.8.  Termination Date. This Agreement shall terminate and be of no 

further force or effect on and after December 31, 2030, unless terminated earlier under 

the provisions of this Agreement. 

 

Section 12.9.  Memorandum of Agreement. The parties agree to execute and 

record a Memorandum of Agreement for Private Development, in substantially the form 

attached as Exhibit D, to serve as notice to the public of the existence and provisions of 

this Agreement, and the rights and interests held by the City by virtue hereof. Developer 

shall reimburse the City for all costs of recording. 

 

Section 12.10  No Third-Party Beneficiaries. No rights or privileges of either party 

hereto shall inure to the benefit of any landowner, contractor, subcontractor, material 

supplier, or any other person or entity, and no such contractor, landowner, subcontractor, 

material supplier, or any other person or entity shall be deemed to be a third-party 

beneficiary of any of the provisions contained in this Agreement. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Agreement to be duly 

executed in its name and behalf by its Mayor and its seal to be hereunto duly affixed and 

attested by its City Clerk, Developer has caused this Agreement to be duly executed in its 

name and behalf by its authorized representatives, all on or as of the day first above 

written. 

[Signatures start on the next page]  

40

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 27 

(SEAL)     CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

By: ________________________________ 

         Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

By: ________________________________ 

      Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA          ) 

                         )  SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

 On this ________ day of July, 2021, before me a Notary Public in and for said 

State, personally appeared Robert M. Green and Jacqueline Danielsen, to me personally 

known, who being duly sworn, did say that they are the Mayor and City Clerk, 

respectively, of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, a Municipality created and existing under 

the laws of the State of Iowa, and that the seal affixed to the foregoing instrument is the 

seal of said Municipality, and that said instrument was signed and sealed on behalf of 

said Municipality by authority and resolution of its City Council, and said Mayor and 

City Clerk acknowledged said instrument to be the free act and deed of said Municipality 

by it voluntarily executed. 

41

Item 4.



 

Execution Version 

 - 28 - 

  CV Commercial, L.L.C. 

 

 

By: __________________________________ 

  Ryan Kriener, Manager  

 

  

 

 

STATE OF IOWA   ) 

                      )  SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

On this _______ day of  July, 2021, before me the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for 

said State, personally appeared Ryan Kriener, to me personally known, who, being by me duly 

sworn, did say that he is the Manager of CV Commercial, L.L.C. and that said instrument was 

signed on behalf of said limited liability company; and that the said Ryan Kriener, as such 

manager, acknowledged the execution of said instrument to be the voluntary act and deed of said 

limited liability company, by him voluntarily executed. 

 

 

  ______________________________________ 

  Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

 

42

Item 4.



 

Execution Version 

 - 29 - 

EXHIBIT A 

 

DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 

 

 

 The Development Property is legally described as follows: 

 

Lot No. 44, and the North 58.5 feet of the East 150 feet of Lot No. 45, and the West 81 

feet of Lot No. 45, all in Auditor Rainbow’s Plat Number 3, in the City of Cedar Falls, 

Black Hawk County, Iowa. 

 

Locally known as 2119 College Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

Parcel # 8914-14-428-012, # 8914-14-428-014 and # 8914-14-428-015 (Black Hawk 

County) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

43

Item 4.



 

Execution Version 

 - 30 - 

EXHIBIT B 

 

MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS 

 

Minimum Improvements shall mean the construction of a new 31,200 square foot five 

story commercial and residential mixed use building. This will allow for increased commercial 

and retail business and the creation and retention of jobs. The construction of the Minimum 

Improvements is expected to be completed in 2023. Construction costs are expected to be 

approximately $5,000,000.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

2119 College Street 

Proposed Elevations 

44

Item 4.



 

Execution Version 

 - 31 - 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
2119 College Street 

Proposed Floor Plan 

45

Item 4.



 

Execution Version 

 - 32 - 

EXHIBIT C 

 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the "City") and CV Commercial, L.L.C., an 

Iowa Limited Liability Company, ("Developer"), did on or about the _____ day of 

____________________, 2021, make, execute and deliver, each to the other, an Agreement for 

Private Development (the "Agreement"), wherein and whereby Developer agreed, in accordance 

with the terms of the Agreement, to develop and maintain certain real property located within 

the City and as more particularly described as follows: 

 

Lot No. 44, and the North 58.5 feet of the East 150 feet of Lot No. 45, and the West 81 

feet of Lot No. 45, all in Auditor Rainbow’s Plat Number 3, in the City of Cedar Falls, 

Black Hawk County, Iowa. 

 

Locally known as 2119 College Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

Parcel # 8914-14-428-012, # 8914-14-428-014 and # 8914-14-428-015 (Black Hawk 

County) 

 

(the "Development Property"); and 

 

WHEREAS, the Agreement incorporated and contained certain covenants and restrictions 

with respect to the development of the Development Property, and obligated the Developer to 

construct certain Minimum Improvements (as defined therein) in accordance with the 

Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, Developer has to the present date performed said covenants and conditions 

insofar as they relate to the construction of said Minimum Improvements in a manner deemed 

by the City to be in conformance with the Agreement to permit the execution and recording of 

this certification. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, this is to certify that all covenants and conditions of the 

Agreement with respect to the obligations of Developer and its successors and assigns, to 

construct the Minimum Improvements on the Development Property have been completed and 

performed by Developer and are hereby released absolutely and forever terminated insofar as 

they apply to the land described herein.  The County Recorder of Black Hawk County is hereby 

authorized to accept for recording and to record the filing of this instrument, to be a conclusive 

determination of the satisfactory termination of the covenants and conditions of said Agreement 

with respect to the construction of the Minimum Improvements on the Development Property. 

46

Item 4.



 

Execution Version 

 - 33 - 

 

All other provisions of the Agreement shall otherwise remain in full force and effect until 

termination as provided therein. 

 

(SEAL)     CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

By: ________________________________ 

                                                                       Robert M. Green, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

By: ______________________________ 

      Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

 

 

STATE OF IOWA          ) 

                         )  SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

 On this ________ day of ________________________, 2021, before me a Notary Public 

in and for said State, personally appeared Robert M. Green and Jacqueline Danielsen, to me 

personally known, who being duly sworn, did say that they are the Mayor and City Clerk, 

respectively, of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, a Municipality created and existing under the laws 

of the State of Iowa, and that the seal affixed to the foregoing instrument is the seal of said 

Municipality, and that said instrument was signed and sealed on behalf of said Municipality by 

authority and resolution of its City Council, and said Mayor and City Clerk acknowledged said 

instrument to be the free act and deed of said Municipality by it voluntarily executed. 

 

       

       

      ___________________________________  

      Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa

47

Item 4.



 

Execution Version 

 - 34 - 

EXHIBIT D 

 

 MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

WHEREAS, the City of  Cedar Falls, Iowa (the "City"), and CV Commercial, L.L.C., an 

Iowa Limited Liability Company, ("Developer"), did on or about the _____ day of 

_______________, 2021, make, execute and deliver, each to the other, an Agreement for Private 

Development (the "Agreement"), wherein and whereby Developer agreed, in accordance with 

the terms of the Agreement and the College Hill Urban Renewal Plan (the "Plan"), to develop 

certain real property located within the City and within the College Hill Urban Renewal Area. 

 

The Development Property is described as follows: 

 

Lot No. 44, and the North 58.5 feet of the East 150 feet of Lot No. 45, and the West 81 

feet of Lot No. 45, all in Auditor Rainbow’s Plat Number 3, in the City of Cedar Falls, 

Black Hawk County, Iowa. 

 

Locally known as 2119 College Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

Parcel # 8914-14-428-012, # 8914-14-428-014 and # 8914-14-428-015 (Black Hawk 

County) 

 

(the "Development Property"); and 

 

WHEREAS, the term of the Agreement commenced on the ____ day of 

________________, 2021 and terminates on December 31, 2030, unless otherwise terminated as 

set forth in the Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City and Developer desire to record a Memorandum of the Agreement 

referring to the Development Property and their respective interests therein.   

 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS: 

1. That the recording of this Memorandum of Agreement for Private Development 

shall serve as notice to the public that the Agreement contains provisions restricting 

development and use of the Development Property and the improvements located and operated 

on such Development Property. 

 

2. That all of the provisions of the Agreement and any subsequent amendments 

thereto, if any, even though not set forth herein, are by the filing of this Memorandum of 

Agreement for Private Development made a part hereof by reference, and that anyone making 

48

Item 4.



 

Execution Version 

 - 35 - 

any claim against any of said Development Property in any manner whatsoever shall be fully 

advised as to all of the terms and conditions of the Agreement, and any amendments thereto, as 

if the same were fully set forth herein.   

 

3. That a copy of the Agreement and any subsequent amendments thereto, if any, 

shall be maintained on file for public inspection during ordinary business hours in the office of 

the City Clerk, Cedar Falls, Iowa.   

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City and Developer have executed this Memorandum of 

Agreement for Private Development on the ______ day of ___________________, 2021. 

 

 

(SEAL)     CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

By: ________________________________ 

                                                                       Robert M. Green, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

By: ________________________________ 

       Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA          ) 

                         )  SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

 On this ________ day of ________________________, 2021, before me a Notary Public 

in and for said State, personally appeared Robert M. Green and Jacqueline Danielsen, to me 

personally known, who being duly sworn, did say that they are the Mayor and City Clerk, 

respectively, of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, a Municipality created and existing under the laws 

of the State of Iowa, and that the seal affixed to the foregoing instrument is the seal of said 

Municipality, and that said instrument was signed and sealed on behalf of said Municipality by 

authority and resolution of its City Council, and said Mayor and City Clerk acknowledged said 

instrument to be the free act and deed of said Municipality by it voluntarily executed. 

       

 

 

      _________________________________  

      Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

49

Item 4.



 

Execution Version 

 - 36 - 

 

CV COMMERCIAL, L.L.C. 

 

 

By: __________________________________ 

  Ryan Kriener, Manager  

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA   ) 

                      )  SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

 

 

On this _______ day of ________________, 2021, before me the undersigned, a Notary 

Public in and for said State, personally appeared Ryan Kriener, to me personally known, who, 

being by me duly sworn, did say that he is the Manager of CV Commercial, L.L.C., and that 

said instrument was signed on behalf of said company; and that the said Ryan Kriener, as such 

manager, acknowledged the execution of said instrument to be the voluntary act and deed of said 

limited liability company, by him voluntarily executed. 

 

 

  ______________________________________ 

  Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa  

50

Item 4.



 

Execution Version 

 - 37 - 

EXHIBIT E 

DEVELOPER ANNUAL CERTIFICATION  

 (due before October 15th as required under terms of Development Agreement) 

The Developer certifies the following:  

A. During the time period covered by this Certification, the Developer is and was in compliance with Section 

6.7 as follows: 

(i) all ad valorem taxes on the Development Property then owned by the Developer in the Urban 

Renewal Area have been paid for the prior fiscal year (and for the current year, if due) and attached to this Annual 

Certification are proof of payment of said taxes; 

 

(ii) The Minimum Improvements (building only) were first fully assessed on January 1, 20___, at a 

full assessment value of $______________; 

 

(iii) The number of Full-Time Equivalent Employment Units employed at the Minimum Improvements 

as of October 1, 20___ and as of the first day of each of the preceding eleven (11) months were are follows: 

October 1, 20__: ______   April 1, 20__:_________ 

September 1, 20__:_________  March 1, 20__:_________ 

August 1, 20__:_________      February 1, 20___:________ 

July 1, 20__:_________   January 1, 20__:_______ 

June 1, 20__:_________   December 1, 20__:_______ 

May1, 20__: __________   November 1, 20__:_______ 

 

(iv) the undersigned officers of Developer have re-examined the terms and provisions of this 

Agreement and that at the date of such certificate, and during the preceding twelve (12) months, certify that the 

Developer is not, or was not, in default in the fulfillment of any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement and 

that no Event of Default (or event which, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, would become an 

Event of Default) is occurring or has occurred as of the date of such certificate or during such period, or if the signer 

is aware of any such default, event or Event of Default, said officer shall disclose in such statement the nature 

thereof, its period of existence and what action, if any, has been taken or is proposed to be taken with respect 

thereto. 

 

Signed this _________ day of _____________________, 20___. 

 

CV Commercial, L.L.C. 

 

By: ___________________________________ 

                      Ryan Kriener, Manager 

 

  

STATE OF IOWA   ) 

                      )  SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK  ) 

 

On this _______ day of ________________, 2021, before me the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for said State, 

personally appeared Ryan Kriener, to me personally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did say that he is the Manager of 

CV Commercial, L.L.C., and that said instrument was signed on behalf of said limited liability company; and that the said 

Ryan Kriener, as such manager, acknowledged the execution of said instrument to be the voluntary act and deed of said 

limited liability company, by him voluntarily executed. 

    

   _________________________________  

   Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

Attachments: (a) Proof of payment of taxes        

51

Item 4.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA (319) 268-5160 

 

RESOLUTION NO. ______ 

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING 

EXECUTION OF AN AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE 

DEVELOPMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS AND CV COMMERCIAL, L.L.C. 

 

 WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 17,348, adopted February 14, 2011, and amended 

by Amendment No. 1, approved by Resolution 21,832 on January 6, 2020, this Council 

found and determined that certain areas located within the City are eligible and should be 

designated as an urban renewal area under Iowa law, and approved and adopted the 

College Hill Urban Renewal Plan (the "Plan") for the College Hill Urban Renewal Area 

(the "Urban Renewal Area" or "Area") described therein, which Plan is on file in the 

office of the Recorder of Black Hawk County; and 

 

 WHEREAS, it is desirable that properties within the Area be redeveloped as part 

of the overall redevelopment area covered by said Plan; and 

  

WHEREAS, the City has received a proposal from CV Commercial, LLC (the 

"Developer"), in the form of a proposed Development Agreement (the "Agreement") by 

and between the City and the Developer, pursuant to which, among other things, the 

Developer would agree to construct certain Minimum Improvements (as defined in the 

Agreement) on certain real property located within the College Hill Urban Renewal Area 

at 2119 College Street in Cedar Falls, Iowa as further defined and legally described in the 

Agreement and consisting of the construction of an approximately 31,200 square foot 

commercial/residential mixed use building on the Development Property, together with 

all related site improvements, as outlined in the proposed Development Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Agreement further proposes that the City will make up to five (5) 

consecutive annual payments of Economic Development Grants to Developer in the form 

of a percentage of Tax Increments generated from the construction of the Minimum 

Improvements, the cumulative total for all such payments not to exceed the lesser of 

52

Item 4.



$593,937, or the amount accrued under the formula outlined in the proposed 

Development Agreement, under the terms and following satisfaction of the conditions set 

forth in the Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, Iowa Code Chapters 15A and 403 (the "Urban Renewal Law") 

authorize cities to make grants for economic development and blight remediation in 

furtherance of the objectives of an urban renewal project and to appropriate such funds 

and make such expenditures as may be necessary to carry out the purposes of said 

Chapter, and to levy taxes and assessments for such purposes; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Council has determined that the Agreement is in the best interests 

of the City and the residents thereof and that the performance by the City of its 

obligations thereunder is a public undertaking and purpose and in furtherance of the Plan 

and the Urban Renewal Law and, further, that the Agreement and the City's performance 

thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate economic development and blight remediation 

activities and objectives of the City within the meaning of Chapters 15A and 403 of the 

Iowa Code taking into account any or all of the factors set forth in Chapter 15A, to wit: 

 

a. Businesses that add diversity to or generate new opportunities for the Iowa 

economy should be favored over those that do not. 

 

b. Development policies in the dispensing of the funds should attract, retain, 

or expand businesses that produce exports or import substitutes or which 

generate tourism-related activities. 

 

c. Development policies in the dispensing or use of the funds should be 

targeted toward businesses that generate public gains and benefits, which 

gains and benefits are warranted in comparison to the amount of the funds 

dispensed. 

 

d. Development policies in dispensing the funds should not be used to attract a 

business presently located within the state to relocate to another portion of 

the state unless the business is considering in good faith to relocate outside 

the state or unless the relocation is related to an expansion which will 

generate significant new job creation.  Jobs created as a result of other jobs 

in similar Iowa businesses being displaced shall not be considered direct 

jobs for the purpose of dispensing funds; and 

 

 

53

Item 4.



 WHEREAS, pursuant to notice published as required by law, this Council has held 

a public meeting and hearing upon the proposal to approve and authorize execution of the 

Agreement and has considered the extent of objections received from residents or 

property owners as to said proposed Agreement; and, accordingly the following action is 

now considered to be in the best interests of the City and residents thereof. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS IN THE STATE OF IOWA: 

 

Section 1.  That the performance by the City of its obligations under the 

Agreement, including but not limited to making of grants to the Developer in connection 

with the development of the Development Property under the terms set forth in the 

Agreement, be and is hereby declared to be a public undertaking and purpose and in 

furtherance of the Plan and the Urban Renewal Law and, further, that the Agreement and 

the City's performance thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate economic development 

and blight remediation activities and objectives of the City within the meaning of 

Chapters 15A and 403 of the Iowa Code, taking into account the factors set forth therein. 

 

Section 2.  That the form and content of the Agreement, the provisions of which 

are incorporated herein by reference, be and the same hereby are in all respects 

authorized, approved and confirmed, and the Mayor and the City Clerk be and they 

hereby are authorized, empowered and directed to execute, attest, seal and deliver the 

Agreement for and on behalf of the City in substantially the form and content now before 

this meeting, but with such changes, modifications, additions or deletions therein as shall 

be approved by such officers, and that from and after the execution and delivery of the 

Agreement, the Mayor and the City Clerk are hereby authorized, empowered and directed 

to do all such acts and things and to execute all such documents as may be necessary to 

carry out and comply with the provisions of the Agreement as executed. 

 

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 19th day of July, 2021.  

 

 

       _______________________________ 

       Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

__________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

  

54

Item 4.



CERTIFICATE 

 

STATE OF IOWA 

 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK 

) 

) SS 

) 

 
  

I, Jacqueline Danielsen, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby certify that 

the above and foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution No. 

_______________ duly and legally adopted by the City Council of said City on the _____ day of 

____________________, 2021. 

  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the official seal of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 2021. 

   

  

Jacqueline Danielsen 

City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

  

55

Item 4.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 
 DATE: July 14, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project 
  Project No. SW-000-3248 
  Public Hearing 
 
Submitted within for City Council Approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs 
and Quantities for the 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project.  
 
This project shall consist of the construction of Portland Cement Concrete (PCC) sidewalks, 
minor grading, miscellaneous curb and gutter replacement, installation of pedestrian ramps and 
site restoration to meet the requirements of American with Disabilities Act (ADA).   
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $176,242.53. The project will be 
fully funded by a Community Development Block Grant.  
 
The Engineering Division recommends approving the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of 
Costs and Quantities for the 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project.  
 
xc: David Wicke, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

  

56

Item 5.



ITEM UNIT EST. EXTENDED EST. EXTENDED EST. EXTENDED

NO. DESCRIPTION PRICE QUANTITY COSTS QUANTITY COSTS QUANTITY COSTS

1 REMOVE SIDEWALK, P.C.C. S.Y. $12.00 5 $60.00 17.50 $210.00 24.40 $292.80 46.90 $562.80
2 REMOVAL OF CURB & GUTTER, 2.5 FT. WIDTH L.F. $11.00 47.33 $520.63 50.50 $555.50 80.00 $880.00 177.83 $1,956.13
3 SIDEWALK REPLACEMENT, P.C.C., CLASS "C", 4 INCH S.Y. $50.00 830.3 $41,515.00 282.50 $14,125.00 409.20 $20,460.00 1522.00 $76,100.00
4 SIDEWALK REPLACEMENT, P.C.C., CLASS "C", 6 INCH S.Y. $53.00 45 $2,385.00 49.00 $2,597.00 41.10 $2,178.30 135.10 $7,160.30
5 PLACE DETECTABLE WARNING PANELS S.F. $34.00 46 $1,564.00 60.00 $2,040.00 80.00 $2,720.00 186.00 $6,324.00
6 PLACE CURB & GUTTER, 2.5 FT. WIDE, P.C.C., CLASS "C" L.F. $28.00 47.33 $1,325.24 50.50 $1,414.00 80.00 $2,240.00 177.83 $4,979.24
7 CLASS 10 EXCAVATION C.Y. $14.00 340.15 $4,762.10 32.50 $455.00 199.00 $2,786.00 571.65 $8,003.10
8 TOPSOIL, FURNISH AND SPREAD C.Y. $35.00 220 $7,700.00 46.30 $1,620.50 94.90 $3,321.50 361.20 $12,642.00
9 SOD S.F. $1.70 9147.8 $15,551.26 2502.00 $4,253.40 5124.00 $8,710.80 16773.80 $28,515.46
10 SURFACING, 1 INCH ROADSTONE TONS $34.00 0 $0.00 14.00 $476.00 10.00 $340.00 24.00 $816.00
11 INTAKE SEDIMENT FILTER L.F. $9.00 46 $414.00 6.00 $54.00 6.00 $54.00 58.00 $522.00
12 UNSTABLE MATERIAL, OVER EXCAVATION C.Y. $25.00 10 $250.00 5.00 $125.00 5.00 $125.00 20.00 $500.00
13 CONCRETE STAIRS, TYPE A S.F. $45.00 24.7 $1,111.50 0.00 $0.00 0.00 $0.00 24.70 $1,111.50
14 CLEARING AND GRUBBING UNIT $75.00 290 $21,750.00 0.00 $0.00 0.00 $0.00 290.00 $21,750.00
15 TRAFFIC CONTROL L.S. $4,500.00 0.33 $1,500.00 0.33 $1,500.00 0.33 $1,500.00 1.00 $4,500.00
16 CFU WORK (LIGHT POLE AND OH ELECTRIC) EA $800.00 1 $800.00 0.00 $0.00 0.00 $0.00 1.00 $800.00

$176,242.53

TUCSON DRIVE WALNUT STREET

TOT.      

COSTS

TOT. 

QUANTITY
UNIT

WEST 3RD STREET

57

Item 5.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, Civil Engineer I 
 
 DATE: July 14, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: 2021 Sidewalk Repair and Infill Project 
  Project No. SW-000-3266 
  Public Hearing 
 
Submitted within City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and 
Quantities for the 2021 Sidewalk Repair and Infill Project.  
 
This project shall consist of the construction and replacement of Portland Cement Concrete 
(PCC) sidewalks in various locations in the City, minor grading, miscellaneous curb and gutter 
replacement, replacement of pedestrian ramps and site restoration to meet the requirements of 
American with Disabilities Act (ADA).  
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $190,958.10. The project will be 
fully funded by the General Obligation Bonds.  
 
The Engineering Division recommends approving the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of 
Costs and Quantities for the 2021 Sidewalk Repair and Infill Project.  
 
xc: David Wicke, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

  

58

Item 6.



ITEM UNIT TOTAL
NO. DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE QUANTITY COST

1 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK S.Y. $6.00 398.8 $2,392.80

2 REMOVAL OF CURB & GUTTER, 2.0' WIDE (L.F.) L.F. $20.00 55.0 $1,100.00

3 REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY (S.Y.) S.Y. $20.00 43.0 $860.00

4 SIDEWALK, PCC, 4" (S.Y.) S.Y. $50.00 1385.0 $69,250.00

5 SIDEWALK RAMP, PCC, 6" (S.Y.) S.Y. $60.00 217.8 $13,068.00

6 DETECTABLE WARNING (S.F.) S.F. $50.00 316.0 $15,800.00

7 CURB & GUTTER, 2.0' WIDE (L.F.) L.F. $40.00 55.0 $2,200.00

8 DRIVEWAY, PCC, 6" (S.Y.) S.Y. $50.00 43.0 $2,150.00

9 EXCAVATION, CLASS 10 (C.Y.) C.Y. $27.00 265.90 $7,179.30

10 TOPSOIL, FURNISH & SPREAD (C.Y.) C.Y. $75.00 358.80 $26,910.00

11 HYDRAULIC SEEDING, FERTILZER, & MULCH (S.F.) S.F. $1.00 19348.0 $19,348.00

12 INTAKE SEDIMENT FILTER (L.F.) L.F. $175.00 84.0 $14,700.00

13 REMOVAL OF EXISTING SIGNAL (L.S.) L.S. $5,000.00 1.0 $5,000.00

14 RRFB PEDESTRIAN SYSTEM (L.S.) L.S. $5,000.00 1.0 $5,000.00

15 UNSUITABLE MATERIAL (C.Y.) C.Y. $20.00 50.00 $1,000.00

16 TRAFFIC CONTROL (L.S.) L.S. $5,000.00 1.00 $5,000.00

$190,958.10TOTAL PROJECT ESTIMATE

AND QUANTITIES

February 25, 2021

2021 PUBLIC SIDEWALK REPAIR

AND INFILL PROJECT
CITY PROJECT NO. RC - 000 - 3266

PRELIMINARY ESTIMATE OF COSTS

59

Item 6.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, Civil Engineer I 
 
 DATE: July 14, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: 2021 Sidewalk Assessment Project – Zone 4 
  SW-000-3237 
  Public Hearing 
 
Submitted within for City Council Approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs 
and Quantities for the 2021 Sidewalk Assessment Project – Zone 4.  
 
This project involves the replacement of deficient sidewalk adjacent to various property owners. 
The project will replace the deficient sidewalk for the adjacent property owner and assess the 
cost of replacement to the property owner.   
 
Once the replacement has been completed, the Engineering Division will submit a bill to the City 
Clerk. The City Clerk will then send notice of bill in the mail to the adjacent property owner. The 
adjacent property owner will have 30 days to pay the bill without interest or penalty. If the 
adjacent property owner fails to pay the bill in 30 days, the cost of replacement will be applied to 
the property owners’ property taxes. 
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $62,813.08.  
 
The Engineering Division recommends approving the Plans, Specifications and Estimate of 
Costs and Quantities for the 2021 Sidewalk Assessment Project – Zone 4.  
 
xc: David Wicke, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

  

60

Item 7.



ITEM UNIT TOTAL

NO. DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE QUANTITY COST

1 REMOVE SIDEWALK, P.C.C. S.Y. $20.00 687.0 $13,739.33

2 SIDEWALK REPLACEMENT, P.C.C., CLASS "C", 4 INCH S.Y. $55.00 573.5 $31,544.94

3 SIDEWALK REPLACEMENT, P.C.C., CLASS "C", 6 INCH S.Y. $54.00 113.42 $6,124.80

4 TOPSOIL, FURNISH AND SPREAD S.F. $80.00 49.90 $3,992.00

5 SEEDING, FERTILIZING AND MULCHING S.F. $1.00 2412.0 $2,412.00

6 TRAFFIC CONTROL L.S. $5,000.00 1.0 $5,000.00

$62,813.08

2021 SIDEWALK ASSESSMENT PROJECT

Base Bid 

BID TABULATION

TOTAL PROJECT ESTIMATE

CITY PROJECT NO. SW - 000 - 3237

61

Item 7.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer  
 
 DATE: July 14th, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: 2021 Permeable Alley Project 
  Project No. RC-000-3252 
  Public Hearing 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs 
and Quantities for the 2021 Permeable Alley Project.  
 
This project involves the installation of one full permeable alley and one concrete alley. Work 
shall include a combination of excavation and backfill of the alley areas; removal of driveway 
and sidewalk; subdrain; removal and replacement of PCC curb and gutter; placement of storage 
and filter aggregate; permeable interlocking clay brick paver installation; seeding; and concrete 
or gravel driveway replacement. 
 
The alleys are prioritized based on a number of factors including Operation and Maintenance 
priority, age, trash pickup, active public concern, slope, drainage area and proximity to existing 
storm sewer infrastructure. 
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $107,175.00. The project will be 
funded by Street Construction Fund (SCF) and Storm Water Bond (STB) funding sources.  
 
The Engineering Division recommends approving the Plans. Specifications, and Estimate of 
Costs and Quantities for the 2021 Permeable Alley Project.  
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

  

62

Item 8.



1 TOPSOIL, FURNISH & SPREAD CY 5.0 7.0 12.0 $50.00 $600.00

2 EXCAVATION, CLASS 10, ROADWAY WASTE CY 179.0 60.0 239.0 $15.00 $3,585.00

3 MODIFIED SUBBASE 12" SY 0.0 180.0 180.0 $18.00 $3,240.00

4 SUBDRAIN CLEANOUT, TYPE A-1, 6" EACH 2.0 0.0 2.0 $500.00 $1,000.00

5 VALVE EXTENSION EACH 0.0 0.0 0.0 $175.00 $0.00

6 7" CURB & GUTTER, P.C.C., 2.5' WIDE LF 26.0 25.0 51.0 $50.00 $2,550.00

7 7" CURB & GUTTER, P.C.C., 5' WIDE LF 30.0 0.0 30.0 $100.00 $3,000.00

8 REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY SY 49.0 30.0 79.0 $10.00 $790.00

9 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK SY 33.0 14.0 47.0 $10.00 $470.00

10 SIDEWALK, 6" P.C.C. SY 33.0 14.0 47.0 $90.00 $4,230.00

11 DRIVEWAY, 6" P.C.C. SY 95.0 30.0 125.0 $80.00 $10,000.00

12 DRIVEWAY, GRANULAR, 1" ROADSTONE SY 19.0 21.0 40.0 $10.00 $400.00

13 REMOVAL OF CURB &GUTTER LF 56.0 25.0 81.0 $10.00 $810.00

14 ENGINEERING FABRIC SY 476.0 0.0 476.0 $5.00 $2,380.00

15 SUBDRAIN, 6" PLASTIC PERFORATED L.F. 280.0 0.0 280.0 $13.00 $3,640.00

16 SUBDRAIN, 8" PLASTIC PERFORATED LF 0.0 0.0 0.0 $15.00 $0.00

17 STORAGE AGGREGATE, 8" SY 358.0 0.0 358.0 $15.00 $5,370.00

18 FILTER AGGREGATE, 4" SY 358.0 0.0 358.0 $10.00 $3,580.00

19 PERMEABLE INTERLOCKING PAVERS, CLAY BRICK SF 1,040.0 0.0 1,040.0 $12.00 $12,480.00

20 6" P.C.C. PAVEMENT SY 0.0 180.0 180.0 $60.00 $10,800.00

22 P.C.C. EDGE RESTRAINT, 6" CONCRETE SLAB, 4' WIDE SY 242.0 0.0 242.0 $65.00 $15,730.00

21 TRAFFIC CONTROL LS 0.5 0.5 1.0 $5,000.00 $5,000.00

22 HYDRAULIC SEEDING SF 111.0 193.0 304.0 $2.00 $608.00

23 WATTLE, STRAW, 9" LF 1.0 1.0 2.0 $6.00 $12.00

24 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE EACH 1.0 1.0 2.0 $350.00 $700.00

25 INLET PROTECTION DEVICE, MAINTENANCE EACH 1.0 1.0 2.0 $100.00 $200.00

26 MOBILIZATION LS 0.6 0.4 1.0 $15,000.00 $15,000.00

27 PATCH, HMA (ST) SURFACE, 1/2", PG58-28S TONS 0.0 5.0 5.0 $200.00 $1,000.00

28 INTAKE, SINGLE FLAT EACH 0.0 0.0 0.0 $5,500.00 $0.00

29 INTAKE, TYPE B EACH 0.0 0.0 0.0 $5,500.00 $0.00

$62,567.00

$22,486.00

$107,175.00

ITEM 

NO.

TOTAL 

ESTIMATE

D 

QUANTITY

9TH - 10TH & 

MAIN -STATE

12TH -13TH & 

WASHINGTON 

-MAIN

UNITS

9TH - 10TH & MAIN -STATE ESTIMATED COST :

TOTAL PRELIMINARY ESTIMATE OF COST TOTAL :

12TH-13TH &WASHINGTON TO N. MAIN COST:l

ITEM DESCRIPTION UNIT PRICE
EXTENDED 

PRICE

2021 PERMEABLE ALLEY PROJECT

CITY PROJECT NO. ST-000-3252

PAVERS / P.C.C. PAVING / STORM SEWER

Estimate of Probable Cost

63

Item 8.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council  
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: July 1, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Updates to City Code Section 23-300  
  Lawful Speed Limits Established 
  Viking Road  
 
 
After the completion of the newly designed and constructed portion of Viking Road at 
Highway 58, the intended speed limit through the updated corridor from Hudson Road 
to Prairie Parkway is 35 mph. Now that construction has been completed by the Iowa 
Department of Transportation and their contractor, the posted speed on Viking Road will 
need to be updated from Prairie Parkway to Hudson Road. The existing corridor West of 
Prairie Parkway will remain as currently posted at 45 mph.   
 
The Engineering Division is proposing changes to City Code Section 23-300, Lawful 
Speed Limits Established, to align the code to match what has been designed and 
constructed. Please see the attached redline changes for City Code Section 23-300, 
Lawful Speed Limits Established.  
 
The Engineering Division recommends approval of setting the speed limit to 35 mph on 
Viking Road from Prairie Parkway to the West City Limits and setting the speed limit to 
45 mph on Viking Road from Cedar Heights to Prairie Parkway.  
 
If you have any questions or concerns, please feel free to ask. 
 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer  
 

64

Item 9.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared By: Matthew Tolan, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, Phone: (319) 268-5161 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2992 
 

AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING THE ENUMERATED SPEED LIMIT ON 
VIKING ROAD AS 35 MILES PER HOUR FROM THE WEST CITY LIMITS TO 
PRAIRIE PARKWAY AND 45 MILES PER HOUR FROM PRAIRIE PARKWAY 
TO CEDAR HEIGHTS DRIVE, IN SECTION 23-300, LAWFUL SPEED LIMITS 
ESTABLISHED, OF DIVISION 5, SPEED, OF ARTICLE III, OPERATION, OF 
CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF 
ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, BY REPEALING 
SUBSECTION 10(U), AND ENACTING A NEW SUBSECTION 10(U) IN LIEU 
THEREOF; AND REPEALING SUBSECTION 12(U) AND ENACTING A NEW 
SUBSECTION (12)(U) IN LIEU THEREOF. 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
Section 1. Subsection 10(u) and Subsection 12(u) of Section 23-300, Lawful speed limits 

established, of Division 5, Speed, of Article III, Operation, of Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor 
Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, are hereby amended by 
repealing said Subsections in their entirety and enacting in lieu thereof new Subsections 10(u) 
and 12(u), as follows: 

 
Sec. 23-300. - Lawful speed limits established. 

Unless otherwise provided by this chapter or other city ordinances and appropriately 
posted, the speed limits established in this section shall be the lawful speed, and any speed in 
excess thereof shall be unlawful. 

[unchanged provisions omitted] 

   (10) 35 miles per hour. 35 miles per hour on any of the following streets as indicated: 
 

[unchanged provisions omitted] 
 

 u. Viking Road, from its intersection with the west line of Prairie Parkway west to 
the west city limits. 

 

65

Item 9.



2 

 

[unchanged provisions omitted] 
 

(12)  45 miles per hour.  45 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated: 
 
                                   [unchanged provisions omitted] 
 
      u. Viking Road, from the east line of Prairie Parkway east to its intersection with 

Cedar Heights Drive. 
 
                                  [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 
 
 
 

 
INTRODUCED:     July 6, 2021     
 
PASSED 1st CONSIDERATION:   July 6, 2021     
 
PASSED 2nd CONSIDERATION:         
 
PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:        
 
ADOPTED:           
 
 
 

_____________________________ 
                                                                           Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

66

Item 9.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:39 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 1 of 4 

Sec. 23-300. Lawful speed limits established. 

Unless otherwise provided by this division or other city ordinances and appropriately posted, the speed 
limits established in this section shall be the lawful speed, and any speed in excess thereof shall be unlawful.  

(1) Parks, cemeteries and alleys. 15 miles per hour in any park, cemetery or public alley.  

(2) Business districts. 20 miles per hour in any business district.  

(3) Industrial districts. 25 miles per hour in any industrial district.  

(4) Residence districts; school districts. 25 miles per hour in any residence or school district.  

(5) Suburban districts. 45 miles per hour in any suburban district.  

(6) Fifteen miles per hour. 15 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

a. Clay Street, from West Third Street north to West Second Street.  

b. Pheasant Drive, for a distance of 210 feet east of the centerline of the jog in Pheasant Drive and 
for a distance of 200 feet west of the centerline of the jog in Pheasant Drive.  

(7) Twenty miles per hour. 20 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

Waterloo Road, from its intersection with 14th Street northwesterly to the intersection of Bluff Street 
and East 13th Street.  

(8) Twenty-five miles per hour. 25 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

a. 27th Street (West), from its intersection with Hudson Road west a distance of 1,800 feet.  

b. Brandilynn Boulevard, from 400 feet east of Wal-Mart Drive west to the west end of the street.  

c. Center Street, from its intersection with First Street to a point 300 feet north of First Street.  

d. Center Street, from a point 200 feet south of its intersection with Green Avenue north to a point 
200 feet north of its intersection with Lantz Avenue.  

e. Chancellor Drive, from Viking Road south to Ridgeway Avenue.  

f. Cottage Row Road, from Center Street south to a point 800 feet west of the south end of the 
Snag Creek Bridge.  

g. Technology Parkway, from Hudson Road east to Chancellor Drive.  

h. Wal-Mart Drive, from Brandilynn Boulevard south to Viking Road.  

i. Westminster Drive, from Viking Road north and east to Nordic Drive.  

(9) 30 miles per hour. 30 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

a. First Street (East) eastbound, from Main Street east to a point 850 feet east of Main Street.  

b. First Street (East) westbound, from a point 520 feet east of Main Street west to Main Street.  

c. First Street (West), from Main Street west to Highland Drive.  

d. Brandilynn Boulevard, from 400 feet east of Wal-Mart Drive east to the east end of the street.  

e. Main Street (South), from University Avenue south to Orchard Drive.  

f. Prairie Parkway, from Brandilynn Boulevard south to Viking Road.  

g. Winterberry Drive, from Brandilynn Boulevard south to Viking Road.  

67

Item 9.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:39 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 2 of 4 

(10) 35 miles per hour. 35 miles per hour on any of the following streets as indicated:  

a. 12th Street (West), from a point 425 feet west of the Carriage Lane intersection with West 12th 
Street to a point 125 feet west of the intersection of Barnett Drive with West 12th Street.  

b. 18th Street (East), from Main Street to Waterloo Road.  

c. 27th Street (West), from a point 1,800 feet west of Hudson Road west to a point 4,000 feet west 
of Hudson Road.  

d. Big Woods Road, from Lake Street north to the north city limits.  

e. Cedar Heights Drive, from its intersection with University Avenue to a point 1,200 feet south of 
University Avenue.  

f. Center Street, from a point 300 feet north of First Street north to a point 200 feet south of its 
intersection with Green Avenue, and from a point 200 feet north of its intersection with Lantz 
Avenue north to the north city limits.  

g. Cottage Row Road, from 800 feet west of the south end of the Snag Creek Bridge west to the end 
of said road.  

h. Dunkerton Road, from its intersection with Center Street east to its intersection with U. S. 
Highway 218.  

i. Greenhill Road, from Hudson Road west and north to West 27th Street.  

j. Hudson Road, from its intersection with the south line of University Avenue north to its 
intersection with First Street.  

k. Independence Avenue, from Lincoln Street north to Big Woods Road.  

l. Lake Street, from a point 600 feet east of Central Avenue east to U.S. Highway 218.  

m. Lincoln Street, from its intersection with Jefferson Street east to its intersection with Vermont 
Street.  

n. Lone Tree Road, from its intersection with Ford Road to Center Street.  

o. Main Street, from 13th Street to University Avenue, inclusive.  

p. Main Street (South), from Orchard Drive south to the end of the street.  

q. Production Drive, from Viking Road west and south to Technology Parkway.  

r. Rainbow Drive, from its intersection with Waterloo Road east to the city limits.  

s. Technology Parkway, from Hudson Road west to the west end of the street.  

t. University Avenue, from Hudson Road east to the east city limits.  

u. Viking Road, from its intersection with the west line of Hudson Road Prairie Parkway west to the 
west city limits.  

v. Waterloo Road, from its intersection with East 14th Street southeasterly to its intersection of 
University Avenue.  

w. Ridgeway Avenue, from Hudson Road east to Iowa Highway 58.  

(11) 40 miles per hour. 40 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

Reserved.  

(12) 45 miles per hour. 45 miles per hour on the following streets as indicated:  

68

Item 9.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:39 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 3 of 4 

a. First Street (East) eastbound, from a point 850 feet east of Main Street to a point 1,520 feet east 
of Main Street.  

b. First Street (East) westbound, from a point 1,200 feet east of Main Street west to a point 520 feet 
east of Main Street.  

c. First Street (West), from Highland Drive west to a point 340 feet west of Lake Ridge Drive.  

d. 12th Street (West), from a point 125 feet west of the intersection of Barnett Drive with West 
12th Street to the west city limits.  

e. 27th Street (West), from a point 4,000 feet west of Hudson Road west to the west city limits.  

f. Cedar Heights Drive, from a point 1,200 feet south of University Avenue south to the city limits.  

g. Center Street, from a point 300 feet north of First Street to Cottage Row Road.  

h. Dunkerton Road, from its intersection with U. S. Highway 218 east to the east city limits.  

i. Fitkin Road, from its intersection with Ford Road to Center Street.  

j. Ford Road, from its intersection with Fitkin Road south to Lone Tree Road.  

k. Greenhill Road, from its intersection with Hudson Road to the east city limits.  

l. Hudson Road, from its intersection with the south line of University Avenue south to the south 
city limits.  

m. Iowa Highway 58, from its intersection with Ridgeway Avenue south to the south city limits.  

n. Lake Street, from U.S. Highway 218 east to the east city limits.  

o. Leversee Road (West half), from a point one-quarter mile north of Lincoln Street to the north city 
limits.  

p. Lincoln Street, from its intersection with Vermont Street easterly to the city limits.  

q. Lone Tree Road, from its intersection with Center Street to Leversee Road.  

r. Main Street (South), from Viking Road south to the city limits.  

s. Ridgeway Avenue, from Hudson Road west to the western city limits.  

t. Union Road, from the south city limits to West 1st Street.  

u. Viking Road, from the east city limits to the east line of Hudson Road line of Prairie Parkway east 
to its intersection with Cedar Heights Drive. 

v. Ridgeway Avenue, from Iowa Highway 58 east to the eastern city limits.  

(13) 50 miles per hour. 50 miles per hour on the following streets and/or highways as indicated:  

a. First Street (West), from a point 340 feet west of Lake Ridge Drive west to Union Road.  

b. Union Road, from West First Street north to the north city limits.  

(14) 55 miles per hour. 55 miles per hour on the following streets and/or highways as indicated:  

a. First Street (East) eastbound, from a point 1,520 feet east of Main Street east to a point 700 feet 
east of the midpoint between the Iowa Highway 58 northbound overpass and the Iowa Highway 
58 southbound overpass.  

69

Item 9.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:39 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 4 of 4 

b. First Street (East) westbound, from a point 600 feet west of the midpoint between the Iowa 
Highway 58 northbound overpass and the Iowa Highway 58 southbound overpass west to a point 
1,200 feet east of Main Street.  

c. First Street (West), from Union Road west to the west city limits.  

d. Iowa Highway 58, from a point 1,300 feet north of its intersection with Greenhill Road south to 
its intersection with Ridgeway Avenue.  

e. University Avenue, from a point 3,100 feet west of its intersection with Hudson Road to the west 
city limits.  

(15) 60 miles per hour. 60 miles per hour on the following streets and/or highways as indicated:  

a. First Street (East), from its intersection with the midpoint between the Iowa Highway 58 
northbound overpass and the Iowa Highway 58 southbound overpass east a distance of 700 feet.  

b. Iowa Highway 58, from its intersection with First Street south to a point 1,300 feet north of its 
intersection with Greenhill Road.  

c. U.S. Highway 218 southbound, from a point 2,000 feet north of its intersection with Lincoln 
Street south to its intersection with First Street.  

d. U.S. Highway 218 northbound, from its intersection with First Street north to a point 410 feet 
north of its intersection with Lincoln Street.  

(16) 65 miles per hour. 65 miles per hour on the following streets and/or highways as indicated:  

a. First Street (East) eastbound, from a point 700 feet east of its intersection with the midpoint 
between the Iowa Highway 58 northbound overpass and the Iowa Highway 58 southbound 
overpass east to the east city limits.  

b. First Street (East) westbound, from the east city limits west to a point 600 feet east of its 
intersection with the midpoint between the Iowa Highway 58 northbound overpass and the Iowa 
Highway 58 southbound overpass.  

c. U.S. Highway 218 southbound, from the north city limits south to a point 2,000 feet north of its 
intersection with Lincoln Street.  

d. U.S. Highway 218 northbound, from a point 410 feet north of its intersection with Lincoln Street 
north to the north city limits.  

(Code 2017, § 26-207; Ord. No. 1935, §§ 2, 3, 2-25-1991; Ord. No. 1981, §§ 1—5, 7-13-1992; Ord. No. 1982, § 1, 7-
13-1992; Ord. No. 2002, §§ 1, 2, 1-11-1993; Ord. No. 2005, §§ 1, 2, 2-22-1993; Ord. No. 2116, §§ 2, 3, 9-11-1995; 
Ord. No. 2199, § 1, 8-11-1997; Ord. No. 2238, §§ 1, 2, 6-22-1998; Ord. No. 2244, § 2, 10-12-1998; Ord. No. 2314, §§ 
1, 2, 11-13-2000; Ord. No. 2315, §§ 1—5, 11-13-2000; Ord. No. 2325, §§ 1—3, 2-12-2001; Ord. No. 2358, §§ 1—3, 
11-26-2001; Ord. No. 2402, §§ 1, 2, 11-25-2002; Ord. No. 2403, §§ 1, 2, 11-25-2002; Ord. No. 2440, §§ 1, 2, 7-14-
2003; Ord. No. 2451, §§ 1—3, 9-22-2003; Ord. No. 2543, §§ 1, 2, 8-22-2005; Ord. No. 2589, §§ 1—6, 7-10-2006; 
Ord. No. 2601, §§ 1, 2, 9-25-2006; Ord. No. 2704, §§ 1—3, 2-22-2010; Ord. No. 2732, § 1, 2-28-2011; Ord. No. 
2767, §§ 1—4, 6-11-2012; Ord. No. 2772, §§ 1, 2, 7-23-2012; Ord. No. 2835, §§ 1, 2, 2-2-2015; Ord. No. 2898, §§ 1, 
2, 3-20-2017; Ord. No. 2917, §§ 1, 2, 2-19-2018; Ord. No. 2927, 6-18-2018; Ord. No. 2957, §§ 1—3, 11-4-2019) 

 

70

Item 9.



 MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN  
  
 CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA   
 220 CLAY STREET 
 CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 PHONE 319-273-8600 
 FAX 319-268-5126 

 www.cedarfalls.com 
 
 

 TO: City Council 

 FROM: Mayor Robert M. Green 

 DATE: July 14, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Reappointment of Ms. Phyllis Carter to Community Center & Senior Services Board 

 REF: (a) Code of Ordinances, City of Cedar Falls §17-331 (Community Center and Senior 

Services Board Membership 

 

1. In accordance with the candidacy and qualification requirements of reference (a), I hereby 

nominate Ms. Phyllis Carter to the Community Center and Senior Services Board for a 

three-year term ending on June 30, 2024.  

 

2. Ms. Carter has faithfully and thoughtfully carried out her role as a board member, and has 

been recommended by staff for this reappointment.  

 

 

Xc:   City Administrator 

  Director, Finance and Business Operations 

  Library Director 

 

### 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

71

Item 10.



 MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN  
  
 CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA   
 220 CLAY STREET 
 CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 PHONE 319-273-8600 
 FAX 319-268-5126 

 www.cedarfalls.com 
 
 

 TO: City Council 

 FROM: Mayor Robert M. Green 

 DATE: May 28, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Appointment of Ms. Crystal Ford as Civil Service Commissioner 

 REF: (a) Code of Ordinances, City of Cedar Falls §2-306: Civil Service Commission 

 

1. In accordance with reference (a), I hereby nominate Ms. Crystal Ford for appointment to the 

Civil Service Commission to fill the vacancy of a term ending 4/4/2022.  

 

2. As you can see from her application, Ms. Ford brings a wealth of professional human 

relations and personnel management experience to the Civil Service Commission. The City 

of Cedar Falls will be fortunate to benefit from her extensive expertise. 

 

3. I especially wish to thank the Selection Panel, consisting of Mayor Pro Tem Simon Harding 

and Commissioner John Clopton, and city staff members Toni Babcock and Brenda 

Balvanz, for their excellent work to ensure a fair and unbiased selection process. 

 

Encl: (1) Ms. Crystal Ford General Application and Candidate Questionnaire 

 

Xc:   City Administrator 

  Director, Finance and Business Operations 

  Staff Liaison 

  

### 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

72

Item 10.



73

Item 10.



74

Item 10.



75

Item 10.



76

Item 10.



77

Item 10.



 MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN  
  
 CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA   
 220 CLAY STREET 
 CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 PHONE 319-273-8600 
 FAX 319-268-5126 

 www.cedarfalls.com 
 
 

 TO: City Council 

 FROM: Mayor Robert M. Green 

 DATE: July 16, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Appointment of Rebecca Whitaker as Human Rights Commissioner 

 REF: (a) Code of Ordinances, City of Cedar Falls §12-27: Human Rights Commission 

 

1. In accordance with the candidacy and qualification requirements of reference (a), I hereby 

nominate Rebecca Whitaker for appointment to the Human Rights Commission to fill the 

remaining term of a current vacancy ending on 7/1/2022.  

 

2. Ms. Whitaker has been interviewed by the Selection Panel, consisting of Mayor Pro Tem, 

Board Chair, and Staff Liaison, and has been found the best qualified of candidates 

remaining from the Spring 2021 selection process.  

 

3. With the top three candidates from Spring 2021 now either appointed or nominated to the 

commission, I will direct a new selection process for additional candidates when the next 

HRC vacancy opens.  

 

4. Please feel free to contact me regarding this candidate, if you need additional information. 

 

Encl:  (1) General Application for Rebecca Whitaker 

 

Xc:   City Administrator 

  Director, Finance and Business Operations 

Staff Liaison 

Board Chair 

### 

78

Item 10.



GENERAL APPLICATION FOR APPOINTMENT TO CITY BOARDS & COMMISSIONS 
Thank you for your interest in volunteer civic service. Complete all sections of this application; please contact City Hall  
at (319) 273-8600 with questions.  The City of Cedar Falls is committed to providing equal opportunity for citizen involvement.

Name: …………………………...........…   ……     …………................……...………...   Gender:  ………...   Date: …………….……… 
First  MI  Last 

Home Address: …………………………………………………….………….……  Home Phone: ………….……………………………..... 

Work Address:  ……………………………………………………………..……....    Work Phone: ………………………….………………. 

E-mail Address: …………………………………………………….……………….     Cell Phone:  ………………………….………………. 

Employer: …………………………………….…………………… Position/Occupation: ………………..…………………………..……… 

If Cedar Falls resident, length of residency: ……………………………… City Ward: ……………          ❑ I have a LinkedIn Profile

DESIRED NOMINATIONS:  Check or fill in boxes for all that apply; view detailed descriptions at https://bit.ly/cf-boards 
❑ Art and Culture Board ❑ Human Rights Commission
❑ Board of Adjustment ❑ Library Board of Trustees
❑ Board of Appeals ❑ Parks & Recreation Commission
❑ Board of Electric Examiners & Appeals ❑ Planning & Zoning Commission
❑ Board of Mechanical Examiners & Appeals ❑ Historic Preservation Commission ❑ Utilities Board of Trustees
❑ Board of Plumbing Examiners & Appeals

❑ Board of Rental Housing Appeals
❑ Civil Service Commission
❑ Community Center & Senior Services Board
❑ Health Trust Fund Board

❑ Housing Commission ❑ Visitors & Tourism Board

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT: Please describe past and present involvement in the community, including voluntary, social, city, 
religious, school, business and professional (include dates and offices held, if applicable). 

QUALIFICATIONS: Please list any special qualifications for board service, including skills, training and certifications. 

MOTIVATION: Why do you desire to serve on city boards and commissions, and what contributions do you believe you can make? 

POTENTIAL CONFLICTS OF INTEREST:  Please list organizations and relationships which could pose a potential conflict of 
interest during your service on a city board or commission. Civic leaders are expected to have many ties to community organizations 
and people; this listing does not preclude appointment but is intended to provide transparency and accountability for board service. 

Rebecca A Whitaker F 12/2/2020

1348 Clark Drive 515-783-6634

whitakra@gmail.com

Principal Financial Group Senior Risk Management Specialist

3 and a half years 1 ■

■
■
■

■
■
■
■
■

■
■

■
■

I am a recent Cedar Falls resident, and recently have begun to get more involved in the community, beginning 
with volunteering at the Northeast Iowa Food Bank. Prior to moving to Cedar Falls for my husband's 
positions at Wartburg and Allen College, I was the chair for Principal's LGTBQ Resource Group, 
volunteered at the Principal Charity Classic, and Children and Families of Iowa. 

I will be graduating soon with a master degree in jurisprudence from Seton Hall School of Law. I spent 
several years as a victim advocate for the Shasta Country District Attorney in Redding, California, prior to 
moving out to Iowa. I regularly acted in and assisted with community theatre and improv during college. I am 
a member of the Sons of Italy in America, as well as a former member of the Active 20-30 Club in California. 

I believe that my experience as a relatively new Cedar Valley resident, coupled with my background 
professionally and personally, gives me a unique and fresh perspective. I spent my first ten years in Iowa 
living in Des Moines, and have found that the size of Cedar Falls suits both myself and my family much better.

My husband is the President of the Iowa Public Health Association. I do not believe that this will have any 
impact on ability to serve, but simply wanted to be transparent. 

                          Please e-mail completed this application to boards@cedarfalls.com 
                    or Mail to Mayor, City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 
          You will be contacted to submit a Candidate Questionnaire when a board vacancy occurs. 

79

Item 10.



COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
City Hall – Council Chambers  

July 6, 2021 
 

The Committee of the Whole met at City Hall at 5:30 p.m. on July 6, 2021, with the following 
Committee persons in attendance:  Mayor Robert M. Green and Councilmembers Frank Darrah, 
Sudan deBuhr, Simon Harding, Daryl Kruse (via videoconference), Mark Miller, and Dave Sires.  
Absent:  Kelly Dunn.  Staff members from all City Departments and members of the community 
attended in person and teleconferenced in.   
 
Mayor Green called the meeting to order and introduced the first item on the agenda, Incident 
Command System with County EMA and introduced Mindy Benson, Black Hawk County 
Emergency Management Coordinator. 
 
Ms. Benson gave a brief background of her experience.  Ms. Benson referenced her slideshow 
and explained the National Response Framework for unified command.  She defined an incident 
and provided an example, the 2020 derecho.  She stated that utilization of an Incident 
Command System (ICS) and Emergency Operations Center (EOC) would have eliminated 
duplication of requests and coordinated resources and services through unified command.  Ms. 
Benson explained the benefits of the Salamander system for ID badges which list employee-
specific trainings.  Salamander can track inventory location, activity, usage, and FEMA cost 
codes; it can also track employee activity.  Ms. Benson stressed the importance of having a 
decision maker in the EOC.  She defined ICS, identified users, and stated its goals.  She 
identified roles and responsibilities of general staff and departments.  She addressed the 
importance of creating Incident Action Plans and steps.  Ms. Benson introduced resources 
including the National Incident Management System (NIMS). 
 
Mayor Green asked for questions.  Councilmember Harding asked if the county has an EOC.  
Ms. Benson wants to work with the City and county through an emergency management 
commission and/or other special committee and explore other counties’ templates.  Public 
Safety Director Olson outlined previous EOC structure.  Mayor Green outlined future EOC 
structure.  Ms. Benson defined her role as coordinator and the role of the commission. 
 
Mayor Green introduced the second item on the agenda, Parking Ordinance Amendments, and 
introduced Jacque Danielsen, City Clerk. 
 
Ms. Danielsen reviewed the background from the June 7th meeting and discussions with 
Community Main Street and College Hill Partnership Directors to reestablish timed parking and 
permits in the Downtown municipal lots and paid parking in the College Hill municipal lots 
(except June/July for College Hill), continuing all other enforcement as posted; and relocation of 
the College Hill Farmers Market.  Ms. Danielsen reviewed the timeline of proposed ordinance 
amendments.  Ms. Danielsen states the vendor will remove kiosks properly to retain any value.  
Councilmember Sires asked if Public Works could remove; Ms. Danielsen responded that Public 
Works wasn’t involved in the installation.  Councilmember Harding asked how many kiosks were 
at College Hill and Ms. Danielsen responded that there are two. 
 
Mayor requested a motion to proceed with proposed parking amendments.  Councilmember 
Harding moved; Councilmember Miller seconded.  Motion approved unanimously. 
 
There being no further business, Mayor Green adjourned the meeting at 6:11 p.m.  
 
Minutes by Katie Terhune, Administrative Assistant 

80

Item 11.



81

Item 12.



82

Item 12.



83

Item 12.



84

Item 12.



85

Item 12.



86

Item 12.



DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS 

OPERATIONS 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
 

    M E M O R A N D U M 
Financial Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Paul Kockler, Accountant 

 DATE: July 14, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Agreement with Express Scripts, Inc. to provide pharmacy benefit 

management services & remain in Gallagher Pharmacy Alliance  

 

Attached for your approval is an agreement between the City and Express Script’s Inc. 
(“ESI”) for the City to remain in the Gallagher Pharmacy Alliance through December 31, 
2023 in which ESI would continue to provide pharmacy benefit management services to 
the City under the improved financial terms negotiated between the Gallagher Pharmacy 
Alliance and ESI. The Gallagher Pharmacy Alliance’s improved pricing took effect January 
1, 2021 therefore the date of the new agreement has been backdated to January 1, 
2021.There are to be no changes to the services ESI will provide to the City or the current 
drug formularies covered by the City’s prescription drug plan. If you have questions 
regarding the attached, please contact me at 268-5101, Toni Babcock at 268-5531 or 
Jennifer Rodenbeck at 268-5108. 
 
 
Attachments 

87

Item 13.



 
4120660.v7 

  

ATTACHMENT A-1 
 

FORM OF CLIENT AGREEMENT 
 
 

Client Name: City of Cedar Falls  
Client Tax ID Number: 47-0769916  

 

Gallagher Pharmacy Alliance 
Broker Name: Gallagher Benefit Services   
Effective Date:  January 1, 2021  
End Date: December 31, 2023 
Initial Term of Client Agreement: 36 Months 

Contact Information: Client Information Gallagher Information Broker Information 
Contact Person: 
(Name & Title) 

Paul Kockler, Accountant Laura Mendise, Area Vice President  

Company Name: City of Cedar Falls Gallagher Benefit Services  
Street Address: 220 Clay Street 85 Chestnut Ridge Rd  
City/State/Zip Code: Cedar Falls, IA 50613 Montvale, NJ 07645  
Phone Number:  440.781.9585  
Fax Number:    

 

Management Reporting: Party to receive Management Reports? Gallagher  Client Broker - Person’s Name:   
 

Payor: The party that will be responsible for payments to ESI under the prescription drug program will be the Client 

Medium on which Invoice is to be sent (check one or two): Hard Copy (and)  Magnetic Tape (or) Diskette 

Do you want Member names to appear on Billing Statement? Yes No 

ESI and Gallagher have entered into that certain prescription drug program Agreement (“PBM Agreement”), which sets forth certain terms and conditions associated with ESI’s, either 
directly or through its subsidiaries or affiliates, provision of pharmacy benefit management services (which, under this Client Agreement shall be exclusive for all of Client’s self-funded 
welfare benefit plans that offer a prescription benefit, including, but not limited to, pharmacy network contracting; pharmacy claims processing; mail and specialty drug pharmacy; cost 
containment, clinical, safety, adherence and other like programs; and formulary administration (“PBM Services”). The PBM Agreement is incorporated herein for all purposes. To the 
extent not defined herein, capitalized terms shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the PBM Agreement. 

 

1. Plan Design; Commencement of Services. Client 
agrees that the PBM Services should be provided in accordance with the PBM 
Agreement, this Client Agreement, and the specific benefit design reflected on 
the ESI Set-Up Forms adopted by Client or Gallagher on behalf of Client (if ESI 
assists Client with completion of the Set-Up Forms, it will  send Client or 
Gallagher the completed Set-Up Forms for review and Client agrees that such 
documentation will constitute the governing Set-Up Forms for Client unless 
Client notifies ESI in writing within thirty days of receipt of the completed 
documentation of any discrepancies therein, in which case the parties shall work 
together in an expeditious manner to correct such discrepancies and issue a 
revised Set-Up Forms). If Client already has on file with ESI any Set-Up Forms 
or similar set-up documentation as of the date Client executes this Client 
Agreement, Client adopts and directs ESI to use such Set-Up Forms until ESI is 
otherwise directed in writing by Client. 

 
2. Eligibility of Members. Client or Gallagher shall provide ESI with an 
initial Eligibility File under a mutually agreeable time frame prior to the effective 
date of Client’s prescription drug program, and updates thereto shall be provided 
to ESI on a mutually determined basis. All Eligibility Files shall be submitted on- 
line, or on tape or disk in a format that is acceptable to ESI. Eligibility performed 
manually by ESI for Gallagher or Client, or material changes to the Eligibility File 
processes requested by Gallagher or Client during the term may be subject to 
additional charges as set forth in Exhibit A of the PBM Agreement. Client will be 
responsible for all Prescription Drug Claims during the period of the Member’s 
eligibility as indicated on the Eligibility File including for retroactively termed 
Members, except in the event of ESI’s negligence. 

 
3. Pharmacy Network. 

(a) Participating Pharmacies. Members may obtain 
prescriptions for Covered Drugs through the Participating Pharmacy network 
selected by Client. ESI shall direct Participating Pharmacies to charge and 
collect the applicable Copayment from Members for each Covered Drug 
dispensed; provided, a Member’s Copayment charged for a Covered Drug will 
be the lesser of the applicable Copayment, AWP discount or U&C. ESI will 
maintain a network(s) of Participating Pharmacies as identified in Exhibit A, and 
will make available an updated list of Participating Pharmacies on-line. ESI 

 
maintains multiple networks and subnetworks, and periodically consolidates networks 
or migrates clients to other networks and subnetworks. If, due to an access concern, 
Gallagher or Client requests that ESI attempt to add a particular retail pharmacy to 
the network of Participating Pharmacies serving Client and its Members hereunder, 
ESI will make commercially reasonable efforts to add any such pharmacy to the 
Participating Pharmacy network for Gallagher or Client, provided that such pharmacy 
meets ESI’s network participation requirements and agrees to ESI’s standard terms 
and conditions. If any such Participating Pharmacy meets ESI’s network participation 
requirements and agrees to ESI’s standard terms and conditions except for ESI’s 
standard network rates (i.e., the particular pharmacy will only agree to higher than 
standard reimbursement rates), and Gallagher or Client nevertheless requests that 
ESI add such pharmacy, the rate charged to Client for Prescription Drug Claims 
processed through such pharmacy (assuming ESI agrees to contract with such 
pharmacy) will be the net ingredient cost plus the dispensing fee paid by ESI to such 
Participating Pharmacy (plus applicable sales or excise tax or other governmental 
surcharge, if any). All such Prescription Drug Claims will be excluded from the pricing 
guarantees set forth in Exhibit A. 

(i) ESI will require each Participating Pharmacy to meet ESI’s 
network participation requirements, including but not limited to licensure, 
insurance and provider agreement requirements. ESI also provides a standard 
suite of pharmacy audit services to determine Participating Pharmacies’ 
compliance with their provider agreement billing requirements. ESI will attempt 
recovery of identified overpayments through offset, demand or other 
reasonable means; provided that ESI will not be required to institute litigation. 
Recovered overpayments are credited to Gallagher. To compensate ESI for 
the cost of conducting audits and audit-related services, Copies of participation 
requirements and auditing processes are available upon request. 

(ii) ESI does not direct or exercise any control over the 
Participating Pharmacies or the professional judgment exercised by any 
pharmacist in dispensing prescriptions or otherwise providing pharmaceutical 
related services at a Participating Pharmacy. ESI shall have no liability to 
Gallagher or Client, any Member or any other person or entity for any act or 
omission of any Participating Pharmacy or it agents or employees. 

(b) Mail Service Pharmacy.  Members may have prescriptions 
filled through the Mail Service Pharmacy.   Subject to applicable law, ESI may 

88

Item 13.



 
4120660.v7 

  

 
 
 

communicate with Members regarding benefit design, cost savings, availability 
and use of the Mail Service Pharmacy, as well as provide supporting services. 
ESI may suspend Mail Service Pharmacy services to a Member who is in default 
of any Copayment amount due ESI. Client will be responsible for any unpaid 
Member Copayment amounts if payment has  not been received from the 
Member within one hundred twenty (120) days following dispensing. Client will 
be billed following the one hundred twenty (120) day collection period, with 
payment due in accordance with the payment terms set forth in Section 8 of this 
Agreement. 

(a) Specialty Products and ASES. Members may have 
prescriptions filled through ESI Specialty Pharmacy. Subject to applicable law, 
ESI and ESI Specialty Pharmacy may communicate with Members and 
physicians to advise Members filling Specialty Products at Participating 
Pharmacies of the availability of filling prescriptions through ESI Specialty 
Pharmacy. Specialty Products will be excluded from any price guarantees set 
forth in the PBM Agreement. In no event will the Mail Service Pharmacy or 
Participating Pharmacy pricing specified in the PBM Agreement apply to 
Specialty Products. 

(i) ESI will notify Client no more frequently than monthly of 
new Specialty Products that are introduced to the market on or after the Effective 
Date of this Agreement with their applicable reimbursement rates (“Notice”). The 
parties agree as follows: 

(A) If Client has expressly excluded a specific therapy 
class or product on a Set-Up Form, Specialty Products in such 
excluded classes will automatically be deemed excluded from 
coverage and will reject as “NDC Not Covered” through 
Participating Pharmacies, Mail Service Pharmacy and ESI 
Specialty Pharmacy; otherwise, subject to (B) below, all other 
Specialty Products will be implemented as Covered Drugs at the 
rate specified in the applicable Specialty Product list or Notice. 
If Client desires to cover otherwise excluded Specialty Products, 
Client must notify ESI in writing that it desires to cover the 
Specialty Product before ESI will adjudicate as a Covered Drug, 
and if ESI receives such confirmation of coverage from Client 
such Specialty Product will be loaded thereafter as a Covered 
Drug at the applicable reimbursement rate set forth in the Notice. 

(B) Client must notify ESI in writing if it wants to exclude the 
Specialty Product from coverage. The exclusion will be 
implemented within seven (7) business days after the date of ESI’s 
receipt of such notification. There will not be any retroactive denials 
for Prescription Drug Claims processed prior to ESI’s receipt of the 
rejection notice and implementation of the exclusion as provided 
above and Client will be responsible for the payment of such 
Prescription Drug Claims processed prior to the rejection of 
coverage. 

(ii) For Specialty Products filled through ESI  Specialty 
Pharmacy only, Members may receive the following services from ESI 
Specialty Pharmacy, depending on the particular therapy class or disease 
state: ASES; patient intake services; pharmacy dispensing services 
and/or social services (patient advocacy, hardship reimbursement 
support, and indigent and patient assistance programs). 

(iii) Subject to Client’s prior authorization requirements, if 
applicable, at the rates set forth in Exhibit A, ESI will provide or coordinate 
ASES for Members through ESI Specialty Pharmacy or through other 
specialty pharmacies or other independent third party providers of ASES 
when ASES is required. If ESI or ESI Specialty Pharmacy engages a third 
party provider of ASES, ESI or ESI Specialty Pharmacy shall contractually 
obligate such third party provider of ASES to comply with all applicable 
laws, including, without limitation, all applicable laws relating to 
professional licensure. ESI does not direct or exercise any control over 
any third party provider of ASES in administering Specialty Products or 
otherwise providing ASES. 

(iv) Ancillary supplies, equipment, and services provided or 
coordinated in connection with the dispensing of Specialty Products at 
Participating Pharmacies (for example, limited distribution products not 
then available through ESI Specialty Pharmacy or overrides) will be billed 
to Client at the cost charged to ESI for such ancillary supplies, equipment, 
and services provided or coordinated, unless such ancillary supplies, 
equipment, and services provided or coordinated are included in the 
ingredient cost of the Specialty Product. 

 
4. Claims Processing. 

(a) Claims Processing. 

A. ESI will perform claims processing services for Covered 
Drugs dispensed by Participating Pharmacies, Mail Service and ESI Specialty 
Pharmacy. 

B. In connection with each prescription submitted for 
processing on-line by a Participating Pharmacy, ESI will perform standard drug 
utilization review (“DUR”) in order to assist the dispensing pharmacist and 
prescribing physician in identifying potential drug interactions, incorrect 
prescriptions or dosages, and certain other circumstances that may be 
indicative of inappropriate prescription drug usage. ESI’s DUR processes are 
not intended to substitute for the professional judgment of the prescriber, the 
dispensing pharmacist or any other health care professional providing services 
to the Member. 

C. If elected by Gallagher or Client, ESI will process Member 
Submitted Claims in accordance with the rules in the Set-Up Forms and ESI’s 
standard procedures. 

D. If authorized by Gallagher or Client on the Set-Up Forms, 
ESI will process Subrogation Claims in accordance with applicable federal and 
state laws, in which case Client will pay such Subrogation Claims in accordance 
with Article IV of the PBM Agreement, Section 8 of this Client Agreement and 
Exhibit A. If Gallagher or Client does not authorize ESI to process Subrogation 
Claims, ESI will reject the claim and refer claimants to Client regarding such 
claims, in accordance with applicable federal and state laws. ESI is not legally 
responsible to pay Subrogation Claims to the extent Client is not timely paying 
ESI with respect to such Subrogation Claims. 

E. Client or its third party designee (as applicable) will have the 
final responsibility for all decisions with respect to coverage of a Prescription 
Drug Claim and the benefits allowable under the Plan, including determining 
whether any rejected or disputed claim will be allowed. 

(b) Prior Authorization. For the fees set forth in the Clinical 
Addendum described in Exhibit A of the PBM Agreement (if applicable), ESI 
shall provide prior authorization (“PA”) services as specified by Client on the 
Set-Up Form. PA drugs must meet Client-approved guidelines (“Guidelines”) 
before they are deemed to be Covered Drugs. Unless Client otherwise directs, 
Client hereby authorizes coverage for an otherwise excluded use in the event 
of co-morbidities, complications and other factors not otherwise expressly set 
forth in the Guidelines. In determining whether to authorize coverage of such 
drug under the PA Program, ESI shall apply only the Guidelines and may rely 
entirely upon information about the Member and the diagnosis of the Member’ 
s condition provided to it from sources deemed reliable to ESI. If prior 
authorization for a medication is not immediately available, a 72-hour 
emergency supply may be dispensed when the pharmacist on duty 
recommends it as clinically appropriate and when the medication is needed 
without delay. ESI shall not undertake to determine medical necessity, to make 
diagnoses or substitute ESI’s judgment for the professional judgment and 
responsibility of the prescriber. 
(c) Claims for Benefits. ESI will process initial “claims for benefits” for 

Member Submitted Claims and PA requests consistent with the ERISA claims rules 
set forth in 29 CFR Part 2560 (or applicable state law if a non-ERISA plan) (“Claims 
Rules”). ESI may elect to have ESI perform appeals services in connection with 
denied “claims for benefits” for the fees set forth in Exhibit A, or facilitate such services 
through Client or a third party of Client’s choice. If Client elects to conduct its own 
appeals or facilitate through a third party of Client’s choice, ESI will route Member 
appeals to Client or other Client designated entity. If Client elects to have ESI perform 
appeals services, Client agrees that ESI may perform such services through the UM 
Company. Through its contract with ESI, the UM Company has agreed to be, and 
will serve as, the named fiduciary for its performance of such appeals. ESI also 
agrees to accept fiduciary status solely with respect to its performance of any appeal. 

(d) UM Company. In the event ESI performs appeals services, or facilitates 
the performance of appeals services through the UM Company, ESI or the UM 
Company, as applicable, will be responsible for conducting the appeal on behalf of 
Client in accordance with the Claims Rules. ESI represents to Client that UM 
Company has contractually agreed that: (A) UM Company will conduct appeals in 
accordance with the Claims Rules and Client’s plan, (B) Client is a third party 
beneficiary of UM Company’s agreement with ESI (a copy of which is available upon 
request) and the remedies set forth therein, and (C) UM Company will indemnify 
Client for third party claims caused by the UM Company’s negligence or willful 
misconduct in providing the appeal services. 

(e) External Review Services. 
(i) ESI will not conduct any external review services (as defined 

in the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 and its implementing 
regulations (“PPACA”)); provided, however, Client may elect to have UM 
Company facilitate the provision of external review services through UM 
Company contracted IROs (as such term is defined in PPACA), for the fees set 

89

Item 13.



 
4120660.v7 

  

 
 
 

forth on Exhibit A below (if applicable). Client must execute a standard 
ESI “External Appeals Services” Set-Up Form, which may be requested 
through ESI Account Management, in order to receive such services from 
UM Company. 

(i) In the event that Client elects to utilize UM Company to 
facilitate the provision of external review services through UM Company 
contracted IROs, UM Company will be responsible for facilitating all such 
appeals (and the IROs will be responsible for providing all such appeals) 
in accordance with PPACA and all other applicable federal and state laws, 
and Client hereby acknowledges and agrees that: 

(ii) UM Company (with respect to facilitating the external 
reviews) and the IROs (with respect to performing the external reviews), 
and not ESI, will be providing external review services; UM Company is 
an independent contractor of ESI; the IROs are independent contractors 
of UM Company and not ESI; and ESI does not in any way control or direct 
either UM Company or the IROs with respect to facilitation or performance 
of external review services provided by each respectively. 

(ii) ESI represents to Client that UM Company has 
contractually agreed that: (A) UM Company will facilitate all external 
review services in accordance with PPACA and all other applicable federal 
and state laws; (B) UM Company will contractually require its contracted 
IROs to perform all external reviews in accordance with PPACA and all 
other applicable federal and state laws; (C) to the extent not prohibited by 
law, UM Company will indemnify, defend and hold Client harmless from 
and against any and all losses, damages, injuries, causes of action, 
claims, demands and expenses (including reasonable attorney’s fees, 
costs and expenses), arising out of, resulting from, or related to any act, 
omission or default by the IROs in their performance of the external 
reviews; and (D) Client has third party beneficiary rights to enforce the 
preceding indemnification and hold harmless provision. 

 
5. Formulary Adherence and Clinical Programs. ESI may provide 
clinical, safety, adherence and other like programs as appropriate. The Clinical 
Addendum described in Exhibit A-2 sets forth certain available adherence, 
clinical, safety and/or trend programs that require additional fees hereunder. ESI 
will not implement any program for which Gallagher or Client may incur an 
additional fee without Gallagher’s or Client’s prior written approval and election 
of such program. 

 
6. Medicare (QRPDP) Services. If Client establishes a qualified retiree 
prescription drug plan (“QRPDP”) under Medicare for the purpose of applying for 
subsidy payments as defined under 42 CFR §423.886 it may request ESI to 
provide the supporting services to such QRPDP under the terms and conditions 
of such services by executing ESI’s standard subsidy election form and agreeing 
to the fees set forth in Exhibit A of the PBM Agreement. 

 
7. Billing and Payments. 

(a) Client shall be responsible to ESI for timely payment of 
all Fees under one of the payment methods below specified. ESI will bill Client 
weekly for all applicable claims reimbursement amounts (“Claims 
Reimbursements”) and other administrative fees (“Administrative Fees”) 
pursuant to the terms specified in the PBM Agreement relating to the program 
selected by Client (as communicated to ESI by Client or Gallagher) (“Claims 
Reimbursements,” “Administrative Fees” and any other charge or fee that is the 
responsibility of Client as may be described elsewhere in the PBM Agreement 
or this Client Agreement are hereinafter referred to collectively as “Fees”). 

(b) Client shall pay all Fees within the following time period, 
depending on the form of payment: 

□ Client wire transfer to a bank account designated by ESI within 7 
calendar days of receipt of ESI’s bill. 

□ Client ACH transfer based on its written authorization, initiated by 
ESI within 7 calendar days of receipt of ESI’s bill. 

(c) Any Fees not paid by Client on the due date set forth 
above shall bear interest at the rate of 1.5% per month or, if lower, the highest 
interest rate permitted by law, and the Client shall be liable for payment of the 
interest to ESI. The Client shall promptly reimburse ESI for all collection costs 
and expenses incurred by ESI, including but not limited to attorneys’ fees, in 
connection with attempting to recover overdue Fee payments. 

(d) In the event Client is delinquent in payment of Fees for 
two consecutive billing cycles, or ESI has reasonable grounds (as determined in 
good faith) for insecurity as to the ability of Client, to meet its financial 
commitments hereunder, ESI shall have the option to require that Client provide 
ESI with a deposit in an amount equal to the average monthly invoice amount 

for the previous three (3) months, or if there is less than three (3) months billing 
history, then such deposit shall be based on the average monthly invoice of the actual 
billing history. ESI shall retain the deposit until the earlier of: (i) termination of the 
Client Agreement (following any run-off period), or (ii) six consecutive months of timely 
payments of all Fees following submission of the deposit, and may apply the deposit 
to unpaid balances of Fees until return of the deposit. Upon forty eight (48) hours 
written notice to Client and Gallagher, ESI (and its wholly owned subsidiaries) shall 
be entitled to immediately suspend performance under this Client Agreement if Client 
fails to pay ESI in accordance with the terms of this Client Agreement or fails to 
promptly provide a deposit required by this Section (or such deposit becomes 
insufficient to cover delinquent Fees and the responsible party does not promptly 
replenish such deposit upon notice). 

(e) Client shall be responsible for and shall pay ESI in 
accordance with this Agreement for all claims for Covered Drugs dispensed and 
services provided to Clients and Members on or before the effective date of 
termination (“Termination Date”). Claims submitted by Participating Pharmacies or 
Member Submitted Claims filed with ESI after the Termination Date shall be 
processed and adjudicated in accordance with a mutually determined run-off plan. 
Upon termination of this Agreement, ESI agrees to remit to Gallagher (or Client, if 
applicable) after the Termination Date all outstanding Rebate amounts earned and 
collected as a result of prescriptions utilized by Members on or before the Termination 
Date. Rebates will be paid to the Gallagher (or Client, if applicable) under the 
regularly established payment process outlined in Exhibit A of the PBM Agreement. 
Notwithstanding the preceding, ESI may (i) delay payment of any final Rebates or 
other amounts due Gallagher (or Client, if applicable), if any, to allow for final 
reconciliation of any outstanding amounts owed by Gallagher or Client to ESI, or (ii) 
request that Client pay a reasonable deposit in the event ESI is requested to process 
after the Termination Date claims incurred on or prior to such date. Upon request of 
Client, ESI shall provide at no cost open refill files and standard claims data for 
transition to the successor pharmacy vendor in accordance with current industry 
protocol.  Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, ESI shall not 
be obligated to provide post-transition services following the transition to the 
successor pharmacy benefit manager and conclusion of the run-off period, including, 
but not limited to, the provision of continued data reporting, reporting, consultation, or 
analysis. 

 
8. Use of Records; HIPAA and Business Associate Agreement Terms. 
Subject to applicable law, ESI may communicate with Members regarding benefit 
design cost savings, availability, use of the Mail Service and ESI Specialty 
Pharmacies, and related items as necessary to conduct applicable clinical and/or 
trend programs. ESI or its affiliates may use and disclose both during and after the 
term of this Agreement the anonymized claims data (de-identified in accordance with 
HIPAA) including drug and related medical data collected by ESI or provided to ESI 
by Client or Gallagher for research; provider profiling; benchmarking, drug trend, and 
cost and other internal analyses and comparisons; clinical, safety and/or trend 
programs; ASES; or other business purposes of ESI or its affiliates, in all cases 
subject to applicable law. ESI agrees to comply with the business associate provisions 
of HIPAA, and the Business Associate Agreement posted at www.express- 
scripts.com, the terms and conditions of which are incorporated herein by reference. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the parties acknowledge that in providing services to 
Members, ESI Specialty Pharmacy and the Mail Service Pharmacy are acting as 
separate health care provider covered entities under HIPAA and not as business 
associates to the Plan covered by the Business Associate Agreement. In providing 
services, ESI Specialty Pharmacy and the Mail Services Pharmacy shall abide by all 
HIPAA requirements applicable to covered entities and shall safeguard, use and 
disclose Member PHI accordingly. 

 
9. Client Audits. Provided that this Client  Agreement has been duly 
executed by Client and Client is current in the payment of invoices under this Client 
Agreement, Client may, upon no less than thirty (30) days prior written request, audit 
ESI’s provision of services hereunder, the scope of which shall be to verify regulatory 
compliance and/or compliance with the financial terms of this Client Agreement, on 
an annual basis consistent with the Audit Protocol set forth in Exhibit B of the PBM 
Agreement. Client may use an independent third party auditor (“Auditor”), so long as 
such Auditor is not engaged in providing services for Client or otherwise that conflict 
with the scope or independent nature of the audit (as determined by ESI acting 
reasonably and in good faith), and provided that Client’s Auditor executes a mutually 
acceptable confidentiality agreement. Client may also not use an Auditor that has a 
conflict of interest with Gallagher. Any request by Client to permit an Auditor to 
perform an audit will constitute Client’s direction and authorization to ESI to disclose 
PHI to the Auditor.  If Gallagher has audited the prescription drug program on behalf 
of its clients, Client may not audit ESI for the same time frame or claims. 

90

Item 13.



 
4120660.v7 

  

 
 
 

1. Compliance with Law; Change in Law. 
(a) Each party shall be responsible for ensuring its 

compliance with any laws and regulations applicable to its business, including 
maintaining any necessary licenses and permits. Client shall be responsible for 
any governmental or regulatory charges and taxes imposed upon or related to 
the services provided under the PBM Agreement or this Client Agreement. If 
there is a new or change in federal, state or local law, court decisions, or 
regulations or the interpretation thereof, or any government, judicial or legal 
action that, among other things, materially burdens ESI, requires ESI to increase 
payments or shorten payment times for Covered Drugs to Participating 
Pharmacies, or materially changes the scope of services hereunder (a “Change 
in Law”), then there shall  be an appropriate modification of the services, 
reimbursement rates, Administrative Fees and/or Rebates hereunder. If the 
parties cannot agree on an adjusted fee, then either party may terminate this 
Client Agreement upon thirty (30) days prior written notice to the non-terminating 
party. 

 

(b) Client shall be responsible for disclosing, or shall direct 
Gallagher to  disclose, to  Members any and all information relating to  the 
prescription drug program to the extent required by law. It shall be Client’s 
obligation to communicate the terms of the prescription drug program to 
Members and to provide Members with any documents required under ERISA 
(e.g., SPD) or other applicable law. Client agrees that, except for the limited 
purpose set forth in Section 4, ESI is not a fiduciary and Client will not 
name ESI or any of ESI’s wholly-owned subsidiaries or affiliates as a 
fiduciary (as defined under ERISA or state law) of its plan. Client agrees 
that neither ESI nor any of ESI’s wholly-owned subsidiaries or affiliates 
have any power to make any decisions as to plan policy, interpretations, 
practices or procedures, but rather provides administrative services within 
a framework of policies, guidelines, rules, practices and procedures 
chosen by Client or Gallagher. Neither ESI nor any of ESI’s wholly-owned 
subsidiaries or affiliates have discretionary authority or control respecting 
management of Client’s plan except as set forth in Section 4 and do not 
exercise any authority or  control respecting the management  or 
disposition of the assets of Client’s plan, if any exist. 

 
2. COMMISSIONS. AS AUTHORIZED BY CLIENT FOR SERVICES 
RENDERED TO CLIENT BY Gallagher, ESI WILL FACILITATE THE PAYMENT 
TO Gallagher COMMISSIONS IN THE AMOUNT OF: 

 

Gallagher Participating 
Pharmacies 

Mail Service 
Pharmacy 

Non-Specialty 

□ per Rx 1-83 Days’ Supply 

□ per Rx 84-90 Days’ Supply 

 

$2.50 
$7.00 

 

$7.00 
$7.00 

 Participating 
Pharmacies 

ESI Specialty 
Pharmacy 

Specialty 

□ per Rx 
 

$2.50 
 

$7.00 
 

ESI will provide to Gallagher Pharmacy Alliance an additional five dollars ($5.00) 
per Member implemented provided as of the Effective Date for Clients that are 
new to ESI. Commissions may vary based on plan design, PBM pricing, the 
number of lives serviced by the Gallagher or other factors, and Client, on behalf 
of itself and its applicable health plan(s), acknowledges and expressly consents 
to same. Client further represents that the commissions represent fair and 
reasonable compensation for actual services rendered or to be rendered to 
Client. Commissions shall be paid from ESI’s general assets and client agrees 
that commissions do not constitute “plan assets” of the Client. If the commission 
amount changes following an amendment of Exhibit A of the PBM Agreement, 
Gallagher and Client agree that Gallagher shall notify Client of such change in 
writing without the need to amend this Client agreement, and that unless client 
objects to the change, ESI may rely on Gallagher’s confirmation of notice as 
Client approval. Commissions for any QR-PDP (Part D subsidy) Prescription 
Drug Claims shall be a PMPM amount. To the extent additional commission 
information necessary for Client to satisfy its duties under ERISA or other 
applicable law cannot be obtained by client from Gallagher, ESI will provide such 
information to Client upon written request. 

 
ESI will provide up to fifteen dollars ($15.00) per Member implemented as of the 
Effective Date, to reimburse the actual, fair market value of: (i) expense items 
and services related to transitioning, administering, and implementing the 
pharmacy benefit initially and throughout the term, such as, custom ID Cards, IT 

programming, custom formulary letters, member communications, and benefit set-up 
quality assurance; and/or (ii) mutually agreed upon expense items and services 
related to implementation of additional clinical or other similar programs provided by 
ESI throughout the Term; in either case subject to submission of adequate 
documentation to support reimbursement within one hundred and eighty (180) days 
of incurring the applicable expense. Both Client and ESI (upon agreement from 
Client) may use the PMF to cover the fair market value of expenses for projects 
requiring joint resources. All reimbursement under the PMF is subject to ESI’s 
standard PMF business practices for all clients. 

(i) Client represents and warrants that: (i) it will only request 
reimbursement under the PMF for its actual expenses incurred in 
transitioning, administering, and implementing the pharmacy benefit 
managed by ESI hereunder, and/or the additional clinical or other similar 
program provided by ESI throughout the Term; (ii) that the applicable 
service, item or program was actually performed or provided; (iii) the 
amount of the reimbursement is equal to or less than the reasonable fair 
market value of the actual expenses incurred by Client; (iv) it will notify 
and disclose the amount and the terms of any PMF reimbursements to 
Members and other third parties to the extent required by applicable laws 
and regulations. In addition, if the Client and the Plan are subject to 
ERISA, Client represents and warrants that it will only request 
reimbursement under the PMF for items or services for which Client, in 
the absence of the PMF, would be allowed reimbursement from the Plan 
(i.e., not “settlor functions”). 

 

(ii) Client shall comply with all applicable federal and state 
requirements, including, but not limited to, all applicable federal and state 
reporting requirements with respect to any expense, item or service 
reimbursed under this Section 12. ESI reserves the right to periodically 
audit the books and records of Client on-site, during normal business 
hours and after giving reasonable advance notice, for the purposes of 
verifying Client’s compliance with the PMF requirements set forth in this 
Client Agreement. 

 

(iii) ESI intends to amortize the PMF over the Initial Term of the 
Client Agreement on a straight-line basis.  In the event of a termination 
of this Client Agreement for any reason other than ESI’s uncured material 
breach prior to the expiration of the Initial Term, Client will reimburse ESI 
an amount equal to any paid but unamortized portion of the PMF. 
Reimbursement to ESI by Client pursuant to this Section will not be in 
lieu of any other rights or remedies ESI may have in connection with the 
termination of this Client Agreement, including monetary or other 
damages. PMF reimbursements shall not be paid prior to the Effective 
Date of this Client Agreement and are not payable until this Client 
Agreement is executed. Client will have no right to interest on, or the 
time value of, any PMF, and unused funds shall be retained by ESI. 

 

Commissions, PMF and Rebates are not payable until this Client Agreement is 
executed. 

 
3. Disclosure of Certain Financial Matters. In addition to the Administrative 
Fees paid to ESI by Client, ESI and ESI’s wholly-owned subsidiaries or affiliates 
derive revenue in one or more of the ways described in the ESI Financial Disclosure 
to PBM Clients set forth in Attachment 1 hereto (“Financial Disclosure”), as updated 
by ESI from time to time. Unlike the Administrative Fees, the revenues described in 
the Financial Disclosure are not direct or indirect compensation to ESI from Client for 
services rendered to Client or the Plan under this Client Agreement. In negotiating 
any of the fees and revenues described in the Financial Disclosure or in this 
Agreement, ESI and ESI’s wholly-owned subsidiaries and affiliates act on their own 
behalf, and not for the benefit of or as agents for Gallagher, Client, Members or the 
Plan. ESI and ESI’s wholly-owned subsidiaries and affiliates retain all proprietary 
rights and beneficial interest in such fees and revenues described in the Financial 
Disclosure and, accordingly, Client acknowledges that neither it, nor the Gallagher, 
nor any Member, nor the Plan, has a right to receive, or possesses any beneficial 
interest in, any such fees or revenues. 

 
4. Term; Termination. 
(a) The initial term of this Client Agreement shall commence on the Effective 
Date and shall continue for the duration of the initial term as specified on the first page 
of this Client Agreement (the “Initial Term”). Thereafter, this Client Agreement shall 
automatically renew for successive twelve (12) month renewal terms unless either 
ESI or Client gives notice to the other of its intention not to renew this Client 
Agreement at least ninety (90) days prior to the end of the then current term of this 

91

Item 13.



 
4120660.v7 

  

 
 
 

Client Agreement, with such termination of this Client Agreement upon notice 
effective the last day of such then current term.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
a party hereto may terminate this Client Agreement at any time in the event the 
other party materially breaches this Client Agreement and the breaching party 
does not reasonably cure such breach within thirty (30) days following receipt of 
written notice from the non-breaching party sufficiently describing and 
evidencing the actual breach and the non-breaching party’s intention to 
terminate as a result thereof.  A party’s right to terminate this Client Agreement 
shall not be exclusive of any other remedy available to the terminating party 
under this Client Agreement or otherwise. ESI shall have the right to immediately 
terminate PBM Services to Client (or, if applicable, Members) located in a state 
requiring a pharmacy benefit manager to be a fiduciary to Gallagher, Client, a 
Member or other third party relating to this Agreement. Following the initial twelve 
(12) months of this Agreement (but not before), either party may terminate this 
Agreement for any reason or for no reason upon ninety (90) days prior written 
notice of such termination to the other party. 

 
(a) Breach. The parties agree and acknowledge that any change 
resulting in fewer than one hundred (100) Plan Members remaining may be 
considered a breach of this Agreement at ESI’s discretion. 

 
(b) Without Cause. A termination fee equal to five percent (5%) of the 
previous twelve months’ drug spend (calculated by ESI as drug ingredient cost 
plus dispensing fees less guaranteed Rebates) divided by twelve (12) and 
multiplied by the remaining number of months of the Initial Term shall apply if 
Client terminates this Agreement prior to expiration of the Initial Term. 

 
1. Force Majeure. Neither party shall lose any rights under this 
Agreement or be liable in any manner for any delay to perform its obligations 
under this Client Agreement that are beyond a party’s reasonable control, 
including, without limitation, any delay or failure due to labor disputes, riots, 
earthquakes, storms, floods or other extreme weather conditions, fires, 
explosions, acts of terrorism, epidemics, embargoes, war or other outbreak of 
hostilities, government acts or regulations, the failure or inability of carriers, 
suppliers, delivery services, or telecommunications providers to provide services 
necessary to enable a party to perform its obligations hereunder, or any other 
reason where failure to perform is beyond the party's reasonable control, and is 
not caused by the negligence, intentional conduct or misconduct of the defaulting 
party; provided, however, that this clause may not be invoked to excuse a party's 
payment obligations hereunder. 

 
2. Notice. Any notice or document required or permitted to be 
delivered pursuant to this Client Agreement must be in writing and shall be 
deemed to be effective upon mailing and must be either (a) deposited in the 
United States Mail, postage prepaid, certified or registered mail, return receipt 
requested, or (b) sent by recognized overnight delivery service with tracing 
capability, in either case properly addressed to the other party at the address set 
forth below, or at such other address as such party shall specify from time to 
time by written notice delivered in accordance herewith: 

 
Express Scripts, Inc. Client 
Attn: President Attn: President 
One Express Way Address on Client Agreement 
St. Louis, MO 63121 
With copy to Legal Department 
Fax No. (800) 417-8163 

 
3. Assignment and Subcontracting. Client may assign this Agreement 
upon first obtaining ESI’s written consent, which consent will not be 
unreasonably withheld following a standard credit review of the proposed 
assignee. Client acknowledges and agrees that ESI may perform certain 
services hereunder (e.g., mail service pharmacy and specialty pharmacy 
services) through one or more ESI subsidiaries, affiliates or designees. ESI is 
responsible and liable for the performance of its subsidiaries and affiliates in the 
course of their performance of any such service. To the extent that ESI 
subcontracts any PBM Service under this Agreement to a third party, ESI is 
responsible and liable for the performance of any such third party. In addition, 
ESI may contract with third party vendors to provide information technology 
support services and other ancillary services, which services are not PBM 
Services hereunder, but rather are services that support ESI’s conduct of its 
business operations. This Agreement will be binding upon, and inure to the 
benefit of and be enforceable by, the respective successors and permitted 
assigns of the parties hereto. 

 
4. Proprietary Information. Information of the other party, including, but not 
limited to, the following, shall constitute confidential and proprietary information 
(“Proprietary Information”) unless otherwise public: (a) with respect to ESI: ESI’s 
reporting and other web-based applications, eligibility and adjudication systems, 
system formats and databanks (collectively, “ESI’s Systems”), clinical or formulary 
management operations or programs, fraud, waste and abuse tools and programs, 
anonymized claims data (de-identified in accordance with HIPAA): ESI Specialty 
Pharmacy and Mail  Service Pharmacy data;  information concerning Rebates, 
prescription drug evaluation criteria, drug pricing information, and Participating 
Pharmacy agreements; and (b) with respect to Client: Participating Pharmacy Client 
and Member identifiable health information and data, Eligibility Files, Set-Up Form 
information, business operations and strategies, are confidential and proprietary. 
Neither party shall use a party’s Proprietary Information, or disclose it or this Client 
Agreement to any third party, at any time during or after termination of this Client 
Agreement, except as specifically contemplated by this Client Agreement, upon prior 
written consent or as otherwise required by law. Upon termination of this Client 
Agreement, each party shall cease using the other’s Proprietary Information, and all 
such information shall be returned or destroyed at the owner’s direction. 

 
5. Indemnification. Each party agrees to indemnify and hold the other party, 
and its officers, directors, and employees, harmless from and against any and all third 
party claims, actions, demands, liabilities, losses, damages, judgments, costs or 
expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) incurred by the indemnified party and 
arising from any negligent act, negligent omission, or breach of this Agreement by the 
indemnifying party. Indemnification is conditioned upon the indemnified party 
notifying the indemnifying party in writing promptly upon learning of any claim for 
which indemnification may be sought hereunder, and tendering of the defense of such 
claim to the indemnifying party. Neither party will be obligated to indemnify the other 
party with respect to any claim settled without the mutual written consent of both 
parties hereto, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld. 

 
6. Independent Parties. No provision of this Client Agreement is intended 
to create or shall be construed to create any relationship between ESI and Client other 
than that of independent entities contracting with each other solely for the purpose of 
effecting the provisions of this Client Agreement. Neither party, nor any of their 
respective representatives, shall be construed to be the partner, agent, fiduciary, 
employee, or representative of the other and neither party shall have the right to make 
any representations concerning the duties, obligations or services of the other except 
as consistent with the express terms of this Client Agreement or as otherwise 
authorized in writing by the party about which such representation is asserted. 

 
7. Taxes and Assessments. Any applicable sales, use, excise, or other 
similarly assessed and administered tax, surcharge, or fee imposed on items 
dispensed, or services provided hereunder, or the fees or revenues generated by the 
items dispensed or services provided hereunder, or any other amounts ESI or one or 
more of its subsidiaries or affiliates may incur or be required to pay arising from or 
relating to ESI’s or its subsidiaries’ or affiliates’ performance of services as a 
pharmacy benefit manager, third-party administrator, or otherwise in any jurisdiction, 
will be the sole responsibility of Client or the Member. If ESI is legally obligated to 
collect and remit, or to incur or pay, any such sales, use, excise, or other similarly 
assessed and administered tax, surcharge, or fee in a particular jurisdiction, such 
amount will be reflected on the applicable invoice or subsequently invoiced at such 
time as ESI becomes aware of such obligation or as such obligation becomes due. 
ESI reserves the right to charge a reasonable administrative fee for collection and 
remittance services provided on behalf of Client. 

 
8. Miscellaneous.  ESI may amend the Terms and Conditions (the “T&C”) 
of this Client Agreement at any time upon written notice to Client (the “Notice”). If, 
however, Client objects to such amendment, Client shall have the right to object to 
such amendment by submitting a written objection within thirty (30) days of Client’s 
receipt of ESI’s Notice. In such event, the parties agree to negotiate in good faith a 
mutually acceptable amendment to the T&C and, if the parties cannot agree on such 
an amendment, then either party may terminate this Client Agreement upon sixty (60) 
days prior written notice to the other party. This Client Agreement shall be governed 
by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of Missouri. This 
Client Agreement supersedes any agreements between the parties hereto. Sections 
2, 6 (last sentence), 7, 8, 10, 14, 16, 15, 17, 18, 19 and 21 of this Client Agreement 
shall survive termination for any reason. 

92

Item 13.



 
4120660.v7 

 

 
 
 

THE UNDERSIGNED AGREE THAT THIS CLIENT AGREEMENT ACCURATELY DESCRIBES THE PRESCRIPTION DRUG PROGRAM TO BE PROVIDED TO CLIENT. CLIENT 
FURTHER EXPRESSLY AGREES TO THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS SET FORTH IN THIS CLIENT AGREEMENT AND THE PBM AGREEMENT. CLIENT SHALL RECEIVE A 
COPY OF THE PBM AGREEMENT BETWEEN Gallagher AND ESI UPON REQUEST. 
NAME OF CLIENT (PRINT): City of Cedar Falls Date:                                                                       
By: Name: Rob Green Title: Mayor                                        

SIGNATURE  (PRINT NAME) 
 

EXPRESS SCRIPTS, INC. 
By: Name:  Title:   

SIGNATURE  (PRINTED NAME) 
IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PRESCRIPTION DRUG PROGRAM DETAILED HEREIN INCLUDING PAYMENT OF REBATES AND/OR COMMISSIONS, IF ANY, SHALL NOT 
BE INITIATED UNTIL THIS CLIENT AGREEMENT IS EXECUTED BY CLIENT AND ESI. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

93

Item 13.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Green, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: July 15, 2021 

   SUBJECT:   Lease Estoppel Certificate, CFU Solar Farm 
 
 

The City has been requested to sign the attached Lease Estoppel Certificate. 

 

You may recall that Council previously authorized the Mayor to sign a Lease Estoppel Certificate for 

the same purpose as is now requested.  However, after the Certificate was signed by the Mayor and 

delivered to the buyer, the sale fell through.  Now there is a new buyer, Altus Power America, Inc., 

and that entity has requested that a new Lease Estoppel Certificate be signed. 

 

As a reminder, the City is the owner of the land upon which the CFU Solar Farm is located.  The City 

has leased the land to CFU on a long term basis for this purpose.  In turn, CFU has subleased the 

premises to an Iowa limited liability company, Cedar Falls Solar Farm, LLC.  It is Cedar Falls Solar 

Farm, LLC, which has been operating the solar farm and delivering the energy produced at the solar 

farm to CFU.  The entity owning the controlling interest in Cedar Falls Solar Farm, LLC, is General 

Energy Solutions USA, Inc.  General Energy Solutions USA, Inc. has agreed to sell its controlling 

interest in Cedar Falls Solar Farm, LLC to Altus Power America, Inc.  As was the case previously, the 

buyer, Altus Power America, Inc., has requested that the City sign the Lease Estoppel Certificate.  

Why?  So that Altus Power America, Inc. can be assured that the City, as landlord, has consented to 

the sublease to Cedar Falls Solar Farm, LLC (it has), and that key provisions of the sublease have 

been complied with by Cedar Falls Solar Farm, LLC (they have).   

 

It is a rather complicated arrangement, but the bottom line is that the key players are not changing.  

The City remains the landlord, CFU remains the tenant and Cedar Falls Solar Farm, LLC, remains the 

subtenant.  Only the ownership of the subtenant is changing.  And the new owner is stepping into the 

shoes of the former owner for all obligations under the sublease. 

 

Obviously this transaction is of great interest to CFU and the City would not sign such a document 

without CFU’s approval.  As with the previous transaction that fell through, CFU conducted its due 

diligence on this transfer of ownership, and the Board of Trustees by Board action on July 14, 2021, 

has approved this arrangement and also approved the Lease Estoppel Certificate. 

   

Staff therefore recommends approval of a Resolution approving the Lease Estoppel Certificate and 

authorizing its execution by the Mayor and City Clerk. 

 

Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions. 

94

Item 14.



 

 LEASE ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE 

Dated: July      , 2021 

Reference is made to the Lease Agreement between CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA (“Lessor”), and 

THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE MUNICIPAL ELECTRIC UTILITY OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA (“Lessee”), dated September 8, 2015 (the “Agreement”).   

Lessee is landlord to Cedar Falls Solar Farm, LLC, an Iowa limited liability company (“Sublessee”), 

under that certain Sublease dated October 14, 2015 (the “Sublease”).  Lessor has been advised that 

General Energy Solutions USA, Inc. (“Seller”) has agreed to transfer its controlling interest in Sublessee 

to Altus Power America, Inc. (“Buyer”).  

Lessor hereby certifies as of the date hereof to the Lessee and Buyer, as follows: 

1. The Agreement is in full force and effect and has not been amended, 

supplemented or modified except as set forth in Exhibit A. 

2. Lessor confirms that it has consented to the Sublease by Lessee to Buyer. 

 

3. Lessor confirms that it has approved of the Improvements, as that term is defined 

in the Agreement, as contemplated by Section 4.B.(a) of the Agreement. 

4. Lessor confirms that the Commercial Operation Date, as that term is defined in 

the Sublease, was April 1, 2016. 

LESSOR: 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

By:  _______________________ 

         Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

Attest:  _________________________________ 

              Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

  

95

Item 14.



EXHIBIT A 

96

Item 14.



 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

     VISITORS & TOURISM/  

PLANNING & COMMUNITY SERVICES INSPECTION SERVICES RECREATION & COMMUNITY PROGRAMS CULTURAL PROGRAMS 
220 CLAY STREET 220 CLAY STREET  110 E. 13TH STREET  6510 HUDSON ROAD 
PH: 319-273-8606 PH: 319-268-5161 PH: 319-273-8636 PH: 319-268-4266 
FAX: 319-268-5126 FAX: 319-268-5197 FAX: 319-273-8656 FAX: 319-277-9707 

 

 
 
 
 
  
 

M E M O R A N D U M 
 
 
 TO: Mayor Green & City Council 

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: July 15, 2021 

 SUBJECT: CDBG FFY20-21 Sidewalk Infill Project 
  City Project Number 3248 (SW-000-CD) 
  Temporary Construction Easements 
 
 
Since the January 19, 2021 Council Committee presentation on a potential CDBG 
FFY20-21 Sidewalk Infill Project for 2021, project plans have been developed and 
contact with some owners has been made for locations where temporary grading 
easements would be appropriate.  The project consists of the following sidewalk infill 
locations: 

 W 3rd St. (Francis St. to Hudson Road on North side of street) 

 Tucson Dr. (Idaho Rd. to Orchard Dr. on the East side of street) 

 Walnut St. (West 20th St. to West 21st St. on both sides of street) 
 
Four foot wide sidewalks are planned in these areas.  Temporary grading easements 
have been sought for four properties along W. 3rd Street and one property on Tucson, to 
provide a better transition from public to private property that is easier to maintain. 
 
Three of the five Temporary Easement Agreements are attached for review and 
consideration to approve.  We anticipate receiving the remaining signed easements for 
consideration at a future meeting. 

Address Owner 
Area  

(sq. ft.) 
Compensation 

Estimate 

3434 Tucson  No Boundaries, LLC – 
Paul Bourcke, Manager 

2,000 + 3 
trees 

$3,740.00 

1409 W 3rd St.  Danny Berregaard 660 $699.60 

1505 W 3rd St.  Catheryn Purnell 660 $699.60 

 
The Planning Division recommends approval of the Temporary Construction Easements 
for the FFY20-21 Sidewalk Infill Project, including recording the easements at the Black 
Hawk County Recorder’s Office and processing payment for their value. 

 
xc: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 Brett Armstrong, Civil Engineer I 

97

Item 15.



98

Item 15.



99

Item 15.



100

Item 15.



101

Item 15.



102

Item 15.



103

Item 15.



104

Item 15.



105

Item 15.



106

Item 15.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: July 8, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Cyber Lane Extension  
  City Project Number RC-268-3245 
  Temporary Construction Easements 
 

 
The Cyber Lane Extension Project consists of the extension of Cyber Lane from the 
existing dead end, north to Technology Parkway. This project includes approximately 
1,700 square yards of 7” thick PCC pavement, 500 linear feet of storm sewer, and 400 
square yards of 4” thick PCC sidewalk. 
 
This project requires temporary construction easements from three (3) properties in 
order to complete the storm sewer, sidewalk, and grading associated with the new 
roadway placement. The Temporary Easement Agreements are attached for review. 
These easements are a part of Lot 23 of the Cedar Falls Technology Park Phase II 
Tract B of Gateway Business Park at Cedar Falls I, and Lot 1 of Gateway Business 
Park at Cedar Falls I. 
 

The Engineering Division recommends approval of the Temporary Construction 
Easements for the Cyber Lane Extension project and be recorded at the Black Hawk 
County Recorder’s Office.  

 
 
xc: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
  

107

Item 16.



108

Item 16.



109

Item 16.



110

Item 16.



111

Item 16.



112

Item 16.



113

Item 16.



114

Item 16.



115

Item 16.



116

Item 16.



117

Item 16.



118

Item 16.



119

Item 16.



120

Item 16.



121

Item 16.



122

Item 17.



123

Item 18.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: July 14, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Cyber Lane Extension  
  City Project Number RC-268-3245 
  Bid Opening 
 
On Tuesday, July 13th, 2021 at 2:00 p.m., bids were received and opened for the Cyber 
Lane Extension Project. A total of eight (8) bids were received, with Owen Contracting, 
Inc. the low bidder: 
 

 Base Bid 

Engineering Estimate $347,866.80 

Owen Contracting, Inc. $296,323.66 

Peterson Contractors, Inc. $310,877.63 

Baker Enterprises, Inc. $328,563.86 

Hudson Hardware Plumbing and 
Heating 

$339,898.58 

BWC Excavating, LC $344,978.40 

Vieth Construction Corporation $366,050.58 

Dave Schmitt Construction $366,921.60 

Pirc-Tobin Construction, Inc. $372,164.20 

 
The Engineer's Estimate for this project was $347,866.80. Owen Contracting, Inc. of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa submitted the low bid in the amount of $296,323.66. Attached is a bid 
tab for your reference. The project will be funded by the Tax Increment Financing – 
South Cedar Falls Funds. 
 
We recommend acceptance of the lowest bid from Owen Contracting, Inc. in the 
amount of $296,323.66. On August 2nd, 2021, the Contract, Bonds, and Insurance 
Certificate will be submitted for City Council approval. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, City Engineer   

124

Item 19.



TABULATION OF BIDS

Cyber Lane Extension

City of Cedar Falls - Project Number RC-268-3245

BASE BID

ITEM ITEM CODE DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE

1 2010-D-1 Topsoil, On-site CY 150 25.00$             3,750.00$           6.00$             900.00$          5.75$             862.50$          10.00$           1,500.00$       5.00$             750.00$          20.00$           3,000.00$       21.00$           3,150.00$       24.50$           3,675.00$       20.00$           3,000.00$       14.03$           2,104.69$       
2 2010-D-3 Topsoil, Off-site CY 450 25.00$             11,250.00$         15.00$           6,750.00$       11.25$           5,062.50$       24.00$           10,800.00$     20.00$           9,000.00$       30.00$           13,500.00$     17.00$           7,650.00$       38.70$           17,415.00$     35.00$           15,750.00$     23.87$           10,740.94$     
3 2010-E Excavation, Class 10 CY 362 12.00$             4,344.00$           6.00$             2,172.00$       4.00$             1,448.00$       7.00$             2,534.00$       10.00$           3,620.00$       3.00$             1,086.00$       6.00$             2,172.00$       8.45$             3,058.90$       15.00$           5,430.00$       7.43$             2,690.11$       
4 2010-E Excavation, Class 10, Unsuitable Materials CY 68 15.00$             1,020.00$           6.00$             408.00$          55.00$           3,740.00$       7.00$             476.00$          10.00$           680.00$          40.00$           2,720.00$       22.00$           1,496.00$       91.80$           6,242.40$       57.00$           3,876.00$       36.10$           2,454.80$       
5 2010-E Excavation, Class 10, Waste CY 4630 10.00$             46,300.00$         4.50$             20,835.00$     7.00$             32,410.00$     6.00$             27,780.00$     8.00$             37,040.00$     10.00$           46,300.00$     10.50$           48,615.00$     10.90$           50,467.00$     13.50$           62,505.00$     8.80$             40,744.00$     
6 2010-G Subgrade Preparation SY 2024 1.50$               3,036.00$           1.75$             3,542.00$       1.50$             3,036.00$       1.50$             3,036.00$       1.50$             3,036.00$       1.00$             2,024.00$       1.50$             3,036.00$       1.25$             2,530.00$       1.30$             2,631.20$       1.41$             2,858.90$       
7 2010-H Subgrade Treatment, Geogrid, Type 3 SY 202 6.00$               1,212.00$           2.00$             404.00$          6.50$             1,313.00$       4.00$             808.00$          7.00$             1,414.00$       7.00$             1,414.00$       6.00$             1,212.00$       2.85$             575.70$          4.10$             828.20$          4.93$             996.11$          
8 2010-I Subbase, Modified, 12" SY 2226 15.00$             33,390.00$         14.00$           31,164.00$     14.75$           32,833.50$     15.50$           34,503.00$     14.00$           31,164.00$     14.75$           32,833.50$     15.25$           33,946.50$     17.10$           38,064.60$     15.50$           34,503.00$     15.11$           33,626.51$     
9 3010-C Trench Foundation TON 17 30.00$             510.00$              25.00$           425.00$          44.00$           748.00$          30.00$           510.00$          25.00$           425.00$          39.00$           663.00$          38.00$           646.00$          23.20$           394.40$          31.50$           535.50$          31.96$           543.36$          

10 3010-D Replacement of Unsuitable Backfill Material CY 45 40.00$             1,800.00$           46.50$           2,092.50$       24.75$           1,113.75$       35.00$           1,575.00$       40.00$           1,800.00$       50.00$           2,250.00$       24.00$           1,080.00$       45.30$           2,038.50$       54.50$           2,452.50$       40.01$           1,800.28$       
11 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  RCP, 15" LF 105 65.00$             6,825.00$           48.00$           5,040.00$       71.00$           7,455.00$       65.00$           6,825.00$       65.00$           6,825.00$       68.00$           7,140.00$       78.00$           8,190.00$       69.90$           7,339.50$       52.00$           5,460.00$       64.61$           6,784.31$       
12 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  RCP, 30" LF 86 90.00$             7,740.00$           105.00$         9,030.00$       117.00$         10,062.00$     122.00$         10,492.00$     105.00$         9,030.00$       112.00$         9,632.00$       64.00$           5,504.00$       152.50$         13,115.00$     94.50$           8,127.00$       109.00$         9,374.00$       
13 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  HDPE, 15" LF 88 50.00$             4,400.00$           83.00$           7,304.00$       40.00$           3,520.00$       64.00$           5,632.00$       45.00$           3,960.00$       82.00$           7,216.00$       79.00$           6,952.00$       76.30$           6,714.40$       75.50$           6,644.00$       68.10$           5,992.80$       
14 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  HDPE, 30" LF 210 85.00$             17,850.00$         95.00$           19,950.00$     68.50$           14,385.00$     99.00$           20,790.00$     75.00$           15,750.00$     100.00$         21,000.00$     111.00$         23,310.00$     93.60$           19,656.00$     93.50$           19,635.00$     91.95$           19,309.50$     
15 4020-D Removal of Storm Sewer, RCP, All Sizes and Materials LF 35 15.00$             525.00$              10.00$           350.00$          15.25$           533.75$          20.00$           700.00$          10.00$           350.00$          15.00$           525.00$          13.00$           455.00$          30.00$           1,050.00$       18.50$           647.50$          16.47$           576.41$          
16 4030-B Pipe Apron, RCP, 30" EA 1 1,600.00$        1,600.00$           1,575.00$      1,575.00$       1,525.00$      1,525.00$       1,600.00$      1,600.00$       2,750.00$      2,750.00$       1,625.00$      1,625.00$       1,200.00$      1,200.00$       1,396.00$      1,396.00$       1,300.00$      1,300.00$       1,621.38$      1,621.38$       
17 4030-C Footing for Concrete Pipe Apron, RCP, 30" EA 1 1,000.00$        1,000.00$           1,560.00$      1,560.00$       1,450.00$      1,450.00$       750.00$         750.00$          1,250.00$      1,250.00$       650.00$         650.00$          700.00$         700.00$          515.00$         515.00$          698.00$         698.00$          946.63$         946.63$          
18 4030-D Pipe Apron Guard EA 1 500.00$           500.00$              1,750.00$      1,750.00$       1,475.00$      1,475.00$       1,650.00$      1,650.00$       1,500.00$      1,500.00$       1,725.00$      1,725.00$       1,650.00$      1,650.00$       1,240.00$      1,240.00$       1,600.00$      1,600.00$       1,573.75$      1,573.75$       
19 4040-A Subdrain, 6", Corrugated PE, Type S LF 627 14.00$             8,778.00$           12.00$           7,524.00$       13.50$           8,464.50$       11.50$           7,210.50$       12.00$           7,524.00$       10.00$           6,270.00$       15.00$           9,405.00$       15.90$           9,969.30$       14.00$           8,778.00$       12.99$           8,143.16$       
20 4040-C Subdrain Cleanout, Type A-2, 6" EA 3 300.00$           900.00$              450.00$         1,350.00$       435.00$         1,305.00$       375.00$         1,125.00$       450.00$         1,350.00$       400.00$         1,200.00$       400.00$         1,200.00$       299.50$         898.50$          535.00$         1,605.00$       418.06$         1,254.19$       
21 4040-D Subdrain Outlets and Connections, CMP, 6" EA 9 300.00$           2,700.00$           125.00$         1,125.00$       270.75$         2,436.75$       250.00$         2,250.00$       500.00$         4,500.00$       400.00$         3,600.00$       600.00$         5,400.00$       74.50$           670.50$          146.00$         1,314.00$       295.78$         2,662.03$       
22 5010-A-1 Water Main, Trenched,  DIP, 12" (w/ Nitrile Gaskets) LF 29 100.00$           2,900.00$           195.00$         5,655.00$       230.00$         6,670.00$       225.00$         6,525.00$       200.00$         5,800.00$       175.00$         5,075.00$       450.00$         13,050.00$     246.50$         7,148.50$       230.00$         6,670.00$       243.94$         7,074.19$       
23 5010-C-1 Fitting, DI, 12" MJ 45? Bend EA 3 1,000.00$        3,000.00$           675.00$         2,025.00$       650.00$         1,950.00$       875.00$         2,625.00$       700.00$         2,100.00$       775.00$         2,325.00$       1,300.00$      3,900.00$       1,512.00$      4,536.00$       1,200.00$      3,600.00$       960.88$         2,882.63$       
24 5020-H Fire Hydrant Adjustment EA 1 2,000.00$        2,000.00$           750.00$         750.00$          1,454.00$      1,454.00$       2,250.00$      2,250.00$       1,000.00$      1,000.00$       1,915.00$      1,915.00$       1,350.00$      1,350.00$       1,610.00$      1,610.00$       3,700.00$      3,700.00$       1,753.63$      1,753.63$       
25 6010-B Intake, SW-507 EA 5 4,000.00$        20,000.00$         3,850.00$      19,250.00$     4,900.00$      24,500.00$     5,300.00$      26,500.00$     4,750.00$      23,750.00$     4,500.00$      22,500.00$     5,700.00$      28,500.00$     4,767.00$      23,835.00$     4,500.00$      22,500.00$     4,783.38$      23,916.88$     
26 6010-B Intake, SW-508 EA 3 4,750.00$        14,250.00$         4,875.00$      14,625.00$     5,750.00$      17,250.00$     6,600.00$      19,800.00$     5,250.00$      15,750.00$     5,335.00$      16,005.00$     6,150.00$      18,450.00$     5,770.00$      17,310.00$     5,200.00$      15,600.00$     5,616.25$      16,848.75$     
27 7010-A Pavement, PCC, 7" SY 1698 45.00$             76,410.00$         41.85$           71,061.30$     42.35$           71,910.30$     41.25$           70,042.50$     43.00$           73,014.00$     42.80$           72,674.40$     45.00$           76,410.00$     41.30$           70,127.40$     42.50$           72,165.00$     42.51$           72,175.61$     
28 7030-E Sidewalk, PCC, 4" SY 376 55.00$             20,680.00$         39.10$           14,701.60$     39.10$           14,701.60$     36.00$           13,536.00$     42.00$           15,792.00$     39.50$           14,852.00$     39.25$           14,758.00$     43.70$           16,431.20$     37.00$           13,912.00$     39.46$           14,835.55$     
29 7040-H Pavement Removal SY 183.4 15.00$             2,751.00$           6.00$             1,100.40$       9.95$             1,824.83$       10.00$           1,834.00$       10.00$           1,834.00$       10.00$           1,834.00$       10.00$           1,834.00$       19.10$           3,502.94$       15.50$           2,842.70$       11.32$           2,075.86$       
30 8030-A Temporary Traffic Control LS 1 4,000.00$        4,000.00$           2,500.00$      2,500.00$       750.00$         750.00$          750.00$         750.00$          1,500.00$      1,500.00$       1,000.00$      1,000.00$       825.00$         825.00$          750.00$         750.00$          3,600.00$      3,600.00$       1,459.38$      1,459.38$       
31 8940-A Sign Panels SF 41.36 30.00$             1,240.80$           26.00$           1,075.36$       41.36$           1,710.65$       26.00$           1,075.36$       28.00$           1,158.08$       25.00$           1,034.00$       28.00$           1,158.08$       26.00$           1,075.36$       22.50$           930.60$          27.86$           1,152.19$       
32 8940-B Sign Posts LF 64 30.00$             1,920.00$           13.00$           832.00$          13.00$           832.00$          13.00$           832.00$          20.00$           1,280.00$       10.00$           640.00$          14.00$           896.00$          13.00$           832.00$          21.00$           1,344.00$       14.63$           936.00$          
33 9010-B Hydraulic Seeding, Fertilizing, and Mulching, BFM, Type 1 Mix AC 0.8 3,750.00$        3,000.00$           4,250.00$      3,400.00$       4,250.00$      3,400.00$       4,250.00$      3,400.00$       6,000.00$      4,800.00$       7,250.00$      5,800.00$       4,650.00$      3,720.00$       4,250.00$      3,400.00$       5,100.00$      4,080.00$       5,000.00$      4,000.00$       
34 9040-A-2 SWPPP Management LS 1 2,000.00$        2,000.00$           3,500.00$      3,500.00$       2,500.00$      2,500.00$       2,500.00$      2,500.00$       3,500.00$      3,500.00$       2,600.00$      2,600.00$       2,700.00$      2,700.00$       2,500.00$      2,500.00$       1,700.00$      1,700.00$       2,687.50$      2,687.50$       
35 9040-D-1 Filter Sock, 12" LF 1650 3.50$               5,775.00$           2.00$             3,300.00$       2.50$             4,125.00$       2.00$             3,300.00$       3.65$             6,022.50$       2.75$             4,537.50$       2.00$             3,300.00$       2.00$             3,300.00$       2.80$             4,620.00$       2.46$             4,063.13$       
36 9040-D-2 Filter Socks, Removal LF 1650 1.00$               1,650.00$           0.35$             577.50$          0.50$             825.00$          0.35$             577.50$          1.00$             1,650.00$       1.25$             2,062.50$       0.30$             495.00$          0.35$             577.50$          0.35$             577.50$          0.56$             917.81$          
37 9040-J Rip Rap, Class E Revetment TON 25 54.00$             1,350.00$           45.00$           1,125.00$       44.00$           1,100.00$       55.00$           1,375.00$       40.00$           1,000.00$       52.50$           1,312.50$       58.00$           1,450.00$       53.40$           1,335.00$       49.50$           1,237.50$       49.68$           1,241.88$       
38 9040-O-2 Stabilized Construction Entrance TON 50 25.00$             1,250.00$           20.00$           1,000.00$       30.00$           1,500.00$       35.00$           1,750.00$       25.00$           1,250.00$       32.50$           1,625.00$       32.00$           1,600.00$       36.30$           1,815.00$       28.00$           1,400.00$       29.85$           1,492.50$       
39 9040-Q-2 Erosion Control Mulching, Hydromulching, BFM AC 1.3 3,000.00$        3,900.00$           2,150.00$      2,795.00$       2,150.00$      2,795.00$       2,150.00$      2,795.00$       4,000.00$      5,200.00$       2,850.00$      3,705.00$       2,350.00$      3,055.00$       2,150.00$      2,795.00$       2,250.00$      2,925.00$       2,506.25$      3,258.13$       
40 9040-T-1 Inlet Protection Device, Surface-Applied EA 8 250.00$           2,000.00$           75.00$           600.00$          75.00$           600.00$          75.00$           600.00$          95.00$           760.00$          112.50$         900.00$          85.00$           680.00$          75.00$           600.00$          95.00$           760.00$          85.94$           687.50$          
41 9040-T-2 Inlet Protection Device, Maintenance EA 8 45.00$             360.00$              25.00$           200.00$          25.00$           200.00$          25.00$           200.00$          40.00$           320.00$          26.00$           208.00$          25.00$           200.00$          25.00$           200.00$          22.50$           180.00$          26.69$           213.50$          
42 11,020-A Mobilization LS 1 16,000.00$      16,000.00$         20,000.00$    20,000.00$     13,600.00$    13,600.00$     22,750.00$    22,750.00$     27,500.00$    27,500.00$     15,000.00$    15,000.00$     20,000.00$    20,000.00$     14,489.00$    14,489.00$     20,000.00$    20,000.00$     19,167.38$    19,167.38$     
43 11,050-A Concrete Washout LS 1 2,000.00$        2,000.00$           1,000.00$      1,000.00$       1,500.00$      1,500.00$       1,000.00$      1,000.00$       1,200.00$      1,200.00$       1,000.00$      1,000.00$       750.00$         750.00$          1,726.00$      1,726.00$       500.00$         500.00$          1,084.50$      1,084.50$       

TOTAL BASE BID: 347,866.80$       296,323.66$   310,877.63$   328,563.86$   339,898.58$   344,978.40$   366,050.58$   366,921.60$   372,164.20$   340,722.31$   
BID SECURITY: 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10%

Addenda 1 x x x x x x x x

Bid Security x x x x x x x x

x x x x x x x x

x x x x x x x x

1 2 1

Hudson Hardware Plumbing 

and Heating
BWC Excavating, LC Vieth Const. Corp.

Non-Collusion Affidavit

Bidder Status Form

July 13, 2021 at 2:00 

PM
ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE Owen Contracting, Inc. Peterson Contractors Inc Baker Enterprises, Inc. Pirc-Tobin Construction Inc BID AVERAGE

1 2 3 32

Dave Schmitt Construction

125

Item 19.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS – Engineering Division 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 
 DATE: July 15, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement 
  Main Street Reconstruction (6th St. to University) 
  Foth Infrastructure and Environmental, LLC 
  Project No. RC-000-3283 
 
Please find attached the Professional Services Agreement with Foth Infrastructure and 
Environmental, LLC (Foth) which outlines the scope of services and costs for the Main 
Street Reconstruction project.  
 
This project is for design of the roadway from 6th Street to approximately 250 feet north of 
University Avenue. The project entails a four lane to three lane conversion, addition of 
roundabouts at  the intersections of 12th, 18th and Seerley streets, addition of bike lanes, 
underground infrastructure improvements, and optional mini roundabout at 6th Street. 
 
The enclosed agreement with Foth provides for the design and construction services of the 
roadway reconstruction, culvert design and property acquisition services. The fees of this 
agreement are based on hourly rates and fixed expenses and shall not exceed the total 
amount of $1,959,241.  
 
This project is currently programmed in the CIP for construction in FY 2023-2025. The 
project is currently budgeted at $8,300,000. Programmed funds include Local Option Sales 
Tax, Street Construction Fund, Storm Water Fund, Surface Transportation Block Grants, 
and General Obligation Bonds.  
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department requests your consideration and 
approval of this Professional Service Agreement with Foth for the Main Street 
Reconstruction project. 
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me.  
 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works  
 David Wicke, City Engineer 

126

Item 20.



 
 
 
 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

 
OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE DIVISION 

2200 TECHNOLOGY PKWY 
319-273-8629 
FAX 319-273-8632 
 

 

ENGINEERING DIVISION 

220 CLAY STREET 
319-268-5161 

FAX 319-268-5197 

  
  
  
     
 

 

WATER RECLAMATION DIVISION 
501 E. 4TH STREET 

319-273-8633 
FAX 319-268-5566 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT 
 

Main Street Reconstruction (6th Street to University Avenue) 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number: RC-000-3283  
 

 
  
This Agreement is made and entered by and between Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC, 411 6th 
Avenue SE, Suite 400, Cedar Rapids, Iowa 50401, hereinafter referred to as “CONSULTANT" and City of 
Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter referred to as "CLIENT.” 
 
IN CONSIDERATION of the covenants hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto mutually agree as follows: 
 
I.  SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
 CONSULTANT shall perform professional Services (the "Services") in connection with CLIENT's 

facilities in accordance with the Scope of Services set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto. 
 
II.  CONSULTANT'S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CONSULTANT shall, subject to the terms and provisions of this Agreement: 
  
 (a) Appoint one or more individuals who shall be authorized to act on behalf of CONSULTANT 

and with whom CLIENT may consult at all reasonable times, and whose instructions, 
requests, and decisions will be binding upon CONSULTANT as to all matters pertaining to 
this Agreement and the performance of the parties hereunder. 

 
 (b) Use all reasonable efforts to complete the Services within the time period mutually agreed 

upon, except for reasons beyond its control, as set forth in Exhibit A. 
 
 (c) Perform the Services in accordance with generally accepted professional engineering 

standards in existence at the time of performance of the Services. If during the two year 
period following the completion of Services, it is shown that there is an error in the Services 
solely as a result of CONSULTANT's failure to meet these standards, CONSULTANT shall 
re-perform such substandard Services as may be necessary to remedy such error at no cost 
to CLIENT. Since CONSULTANT has no control over local conditions, the cost of labor and 
materials, or over competitive bidding and market conditions, CONSULTANT does not 
guarantee the accuracy of any construction cost estimates as compared to contractor's bids 
or the actual cost to the CLIENT. CONSULTANT makes no other warranties either express 
or implied and the parties’ rights, liabilities, responsibilities and remedies with respect to the 
quality of Services, including claims alleging negligence, breach of warranty and breach of 
contract, shall be exclusively those set forth herein. 

 

127

Item 20.



 (d) CONSULTANT shall, if requested in writing by CLIENT, for the protection of CLIENT, require 
from all vendors and subcontractors from which CONSULTANT procures equipment, 
materials or services for the project, guarantees with respect to such equipment, materials 
and services. All such guarantees shall be made available to CLIENT to the full extent of the 
terms thereof. CONSULTANT's liability with respect to such equipment, and materials 
obtained from vendors or services from subcontractors, shall be limited to procuring 
guarantees from such vendors or subcontractors and rendering all reasonable assistance to 
CLIENT for the purpose of enforcing the same. 

 
(e) CONSULTANT will be providing estimates of costs to the CLIENT covering an extended 

period of time. CONSULTANT does not have control over any such costs, including, but not 
limited to, costs of labor, material, equipment or services furnished by others or over 
competitive bidding, marketing or negotiating conditions, or construction contractors’ 
methods of determining their prices. Accordingly, it is acknowledged and understood that any 
estimates, projections or opinions of probable project costs provided herein by 
CONSULTANT are estimates only, made on the basis of CONSULTANT’s experience and 
represent CONSULTANT’s reasonable judgment as a qualified professional. CONSULTANT 
does not guarantee that proposals, bids or actual project costs will not vary from the opinions 
of probable costs prepared by CONSULTANT, and the CLIENT waives any and all claims 
that it may have against CONSULTANT as a result of any such variance.  

 
III. CLIENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CLIENT shall at such times as may be required for the successful and expeditious completion of the 

Services: 
 
 (a) Provide all criteria and information as to CLIENT’s requirements; obtain all necessary 

approvals and permits required from all governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the 
project; and designate a person with authority to act on CLIENT’s behalf on all matters 
concerning the Services. 

  
 (b) Furnish to CONSULTANT all existing studies, reports and other available data pertinent to 

the Services, and obtain additional reports, data and services as may be required for the 
project. CONSULTANT shall be entitled to rely upon all such information, data and the results 
of such other services in performing its Services hereunder. 

 
IV. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
  

The provisions of the document entitled, "Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of 
Cedar Falls," dated December 13, 2011 as revised January 31, 2017 consisting of 11 pages, which 
are attached hereto, marked Exhibit B, are hereby made a part of this Agreement as if set out word 
for word herein. 
  
CONSULTANT shall furnish to CLIENT a certificate or certificates of insurance containing all 
coverages, endorsements and other provisions required by the Insurance Requirements set forth 
in Exhibit B. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of Exhibit B and the other terms of 
this Agreement, the provisions of Exhibit B shall control. 
 

 CONSULTANT shall obtain and maintain an insurance policy or policies that meet the provisions 
set out in the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, attached hereto 
and marked Exhibit B. 

 
  

128

Item 20.



V. STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN CONTRACTORS WHO 
PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

 
 The provisions of the documents entitled “Standard Terms and Conditions for Contracts Between 

Contractors Who Perform Professional Services and the City of Cedar Falls,” consisting of two 
pages are incorporated into this Agreement by the Client and attached as Exhibit C. 

 
VI. COMPENSATION AND TERMS OF PAYMENT 
 
 Compensation for the services shall be on an hourly basis in accordance with the hourly fees and 

other direct expenses in effect at the time the services are performed. Total compensation is a not 
to exceed a fee of One million nine hundred fifty nine thousand two hundred and forty one dollars 
($1,959,241). 

 Roadway Design Services  $929,530 
18th Street Box Culvert Design  $87,305 
Seerley Blvd Box Culvert Design $121,915 

 ROW Acquisition Services  $368,240 
 Construction Period Services  $452,251 

 
CONSULTANT may bill the CLIENT monthly for services completed at the time of billing. CLIENT 
agrees to pay CONSULTANT the full amount of such invoice within thirty (30) days after receipt 
thereof. In the event CLIENT disputes any invoice item, CLIENT shall give CONSULTANT written 
notice of such disputed item within ten (10) days after receipt of invoice and shall pay to 
CONSULTANT the undisputed portion of the invoice according to the provisions hereof. CLIENT 
agrees to abide by any applicable statutory prompt pay provisions currently in effect. 

 
VII. TERMINATION 
 
 CLIENT may, with or without cause, terminate the Services at any time upon fourteen (14) days 

written notice to CONSULTANT. The obligation to provide further Services under this Agreement may 
be terminated by either party upon fourteen (14) days' written notice in the event of substantial failure 
by the other party to perform in accordance with the terms hereof through no fault of the terminating 
party, providing such defaulting party has not cured such failure, or, in the event of a non-monetary 
default, commenced reasonable actions to cure such failure. In either case, CONSULTANT will be 
paid for all expenses incurred and Services rendered to the date of the termination in accordance 
with compensation terms of Article VI. 

 
VIII. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS 
 

(a) Sealed original drawings, specifications, final project specific calculations and other 
instruments of service which CONSULTANT prepares and delivers to CLIENT pursuant to 
this Agreement shall become the property of CLIENT when CONSULTANT has been 
compensated for Services rendered. CLIENT shall have the right to use such instruments of 
service solely for the purpose of the construction, operation and maintenance of the Facilities. 
Nothing contained in this paragraph shall be construed as limiting or depriving 
CONSULTANT of its rights to use its basic knowledge and skills to design or carry out other 
projects or work for itself or others, whether or not such other projects or work are similar to 
the work to be performed pursuant to this Agreement.  CONSULTANT shall not be liable for 
any unauthorized reuse of modification of its work product. 

 
(b) Any files delivered in electronic medium may not work on systems and software different than 

those with which they were originally produced and CONSULTANT makes no warranty as to 
the compatibility of these files with any other system or software. Because of the potential 
degradation of electronic medium over time, in the event of a conflict between the sealed 
original drawings and the electronic files, the sealed drawings will govern. 

 

129

Item 20.



IX. MEANS AND METHODS 
 

(a) CONSULTANT shall not have control or charge of and shall not be responsible for 
construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for safety measures 
and programs including enforcement of Federal and State safety requirements, in connection 
with construction work performed by CLIENT's construction contractors. Nor shall 
CONSULTANT be responsible for the supervision of CLIENT's construction contractors, 
subcontractors or of any of their employees, agents and representatives of such contractors; 
or for inspecting machinery, construction equipment and tools used and employed by 
contractors and subcontractors on CLIENT's construction projects and shall not have the 
right to stop or reject work without the thorough evaluation and approval of the CLIENT. In 
no event shall CONSULTANT be liable for the acts or omissions of CLIENT's construction 
contractors, subcontractors or any persons or entities performing any of the construction 
work, or for the failure of any of them to carry out construction work under contracts with 
CLIENT. 

 
X. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 
 
 CONSULTANT shall be an independent contractor with respect to the Services to be performed 

hereunder. Neither CONSULTANT nor its subcontractors, nor the employees of either, shall be 
deemed to be the servants, employees, or agents of CLIENT. 

 
XI. PRE-EXISTING CONDITIONS 
 
 Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, CONSULTANT shall have no legal responsibility or 

liability for any and all pre-existing contamination. "Pre-existing contamination" is any hazardous or 
toxic substance present at the site or sites concerned which was not brought onto such site or sites 
by CONSULTANT. CLIENT agrees to release CONSULTANT from and against any and all liability 
to the CLIENT which may in any manner arise in any way directly or indirectly caused by such pre-
existing contamination except if such liability arises from CONSULTANT's sole negligence or willful 
misconduct. 

 
 CLIENT shall, at CLIENT’s sole expense and risk, arrange for handling, storage, transportation, 

treatment and delivery for disposal of pre-existing contamination. CLIENT shall be solely responsible 
for obtaining a disposal site for such material. CLIENT shall look to the disposal facility and/or 
transporter for any responsibility or liability arising from improper disposal or transportation of such 
waste. CONSULTANT shall not have or exert any control over CLIENT in CLIENT’s obligations or 
responsibilities as a generator in the storage, transportation, treatment or disposal of any pre-existing 
contamination. CLIENT shall complete and execute any governmentally required forms relating to 
regulated activities including, but not limited to generation, storage, handling, treatment, 
transportation, or disposal of pre-existing contamination.  

 
 For CONSULTANT's Services requiring drilling, boring, excavation or soils sampling, CLIENT shall 

approve selection of the contractors to perform such services, all site locations, and provide 
CONSULTANT with all necessary information regarding the presence of underground hazards, 
utilities, structures and conditions at the site.  
 

XII. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
 
 If a dispute arises out of, or relates to, the breach of this Agreement and if the dispute cannot be 

settled through negotiation, then the CONSULTANT and the CLIENT agree to submit the dispute to 
mediation. In the event CONSULTANT or the CLIENT desires to mediate any dispute, that party shall 
notify the other party in writing of the dispute desired to be mediated. If the parties are unable to 
resolve their differences within 10 days of the receipt of such notice, such dispute shall be submitted 
for mediation in accordance with the procedures and rules of the American Arbitration Association (or 
any successor organization) then in effect. The deadline for submitting the dispute to mediation can 

130

Item 20.



be changed if the parties mutually agree in writing to extend the time between receipt of notice and 
submission to mediation. The expenses of the mediator shall be shared 50 percent by CONSULTANT 
and 50 percent by the CLIENT. This requirement to seek mediation shall be a condition required 
before filing an action at law or in equity. However, prior to or during the negotiations or the mediation 
either party may initiate litigation that would otherwise be barred by a statute of limitations, and 
CONSULTANT may pursue any property liens or other rights it may have to obtain security for the 
payment of its invoices. 

 
 This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Iowa and any action at law or other 

judicial proceeding arising from this Agreement shall be instituted in Black Hawk County District Court, 
Waterloo, Iowa. 

 
XIII. MISCELLANEOUS 
 
 (a) This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto and supersedes 

any oral or written representations, understandings, proposals, or communications 
heretofore entered into by or on account of the parties and may not be changed, modified, or 
amended except in writing signed by the parties hereto. In the event of any conflict between 
this contract document and any of the exhibits hereto, the terms and conditions of Exhibit C 
shall control. In the event of any conflict among the exhibits, Exhibit C shall control. 

 
 (b) This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Iowa. 
 
 (c) CONSULTANT may subcontract any portion of the Services to a subcontractor approved by 

CLIENT. In no case shall CLIENT's approval of any subcontract relieve CONSULTANT of 
any of its obligations under this Agreement.  

 
 (d) In the event CLIENT uses a purchase order form to administer this Agreement, the use of 

such form shall be for convenience purposes only, and any typed provision in conflict with 
the terms of this Agreement and all preprinted terms and conditions contained in or on such 
forms shall be deemed stricken and null and void. 

 
 (e) This Agreement gives no rights or benefits to anyone other than CLIENT and CONSULTANT 

and does not create any third party beneficiaries to the Agreement. 
 

(f) Except as may be explicitly set forth above, nothing contained in this Agreement or its exhibits 
limits the rights and remedies, including remedies related to damages, of either party that are 
available to either party under the law. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement on the day and year written below. 
 
APPROVED FOR CLIENT  APPROVED FOR CONSULTANT 
 
 
By:  By:  
 
 
Printed Name:  __Robert M. Green_______  Printed Name: Aaron Moniza                 
 
 
Title: __Mayor of Cedar Falls  Title: Senior Client Manager                              
 
 
Date:  Date:  

131

Item 20.

APM
Image

APM
Blue Text Box
7/15/21



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

1 

 

 

Exhibit A 
 

Main Street Reconstruction (6th Street to University Avenue) 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number RC-000-3283 
 

   
 
    SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
This document outlines the scope of services specific for the Main Street 
Reconstruction Project. The term “CONSULTANT” as used in this document 
shall be defined as the design contractor (Foth Infrastructure & Environment, 
LLC) that will be performing work for the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter 
referred to as “CLIENT”. 
 
A. Project Description 

Project will include the reconstruction of Main Street (currently a 4-lane minor 
arterial) between 6th Street and University Avenue, including all intersections. 
 
Project Objectives: 

 Improve pavement conditions 

 Enhance safety 

 Provide bicycle and pedestrian mobility 

 Improve traffic flow 

 Support economic growth and revitalization 
 

B. General Scope of Work 
The work to be performed by the Consultant under this agreement shall 
encompass and include detailed work, services, materials, equipment and 
supplies necessary to complete the following scope of services for the project. 
 
The project consists of conceptual development, public involvement, 
preliminary design, final design, right-of-way acquisition, and construction 
period services. 
 
Project Assumptions: 

 Maintain existing 80’ corridor right-of-way width. 

 Replace existing pavement 

 Replace subsurface materials as necessary 

 Update roadway typical section to 3-lanes with on-street bike lanes 

 Maintain or improve project area drainage 

132

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

2 

 

 Replace or extend box culverts located at 18th Street and Seerley 
Boulevard if needed. This will be determined by hydrologic/hydraulic 
study. 

 Intersection improvements at 6th Street (to be determined), 12th Street 
(roundabout), 18th Street (roundabout), Seerley Boulevard 
(roundabout). 

 Upgrade/replace sanitary sewer within project limits. 

 Upgrade/replace water main within project limits. 

 Permanent acquisition and temporary construction easements will be 
required for project. Consultant to prepare acquisition plats and 
temporary easement exhibits and complete acquisition services. 

 Roadway and intersection lighting planned for corridor. CFU will do the 
electrical circuit design for lighting. 

 Construct project under traffic - maintain traffic on Main Street and 
access during construction. 

 

Design Services 
 
Project Management/Administration 

General Project Management 
The project manager for the Consultant will be responsible for the 
development and tracking of the scope of services, maintaining coordination 
with the Client, monthly progress reporting, interoffice memoranda, and 
project invoicing. This includes subconsultant management, scheduling of 
staff, and progress review. 
The duration is assumed to be 52 months for this scope of services. 
 
Internal Project Kick-off Meeting 
The Consultant will conduct project planning events with the project team. 
The events will involve the development of a realistic project plan, including a 
high level master schedule, resource plan, visual work flow planning boards 
and a proactive risk identification and mitigation analysis. Regularly 
scheduled stand-up meetings, combined with a visual task management 
board will be used to update the entire team on the progress of project 
milestones/deliverables, individual team member task completion and to 
facilitate the overall team collaboration. For budget purposes, the project 
team will hold one (1) project development kickoff meetings in addition to the 
weekly progress review meetings. 
 
Project Coordination 
Design Development Meetings 
The Consultant will maintain communications with the Client to review 
progress and discuss specific elements of the project design and receive 
direction from the Client. The meetings will also serve to establish schedules, 
develop project goals, establish initial design parameters, promote a dialog 

133

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

3 

 

between the various entities, improve the decision-making process, and 
expedite design development. Prepare minutes of meetings and keep 
documentation of other communications. For budget purposes, the 
Consultant will attend three (3) meetings that will be attended by three (3) 
staff members of the Consultant. 
The following meetings are included with the scope of work: 

 Functional Design Phase - One (1) meeting 

 Preliminary Plan Phase - One (1) meeting 

 Final Plan Phase - One (1) meeting 
As necessary, discussions with individual utility companies to address specific 
conflicts will occur as part of the design development meetings. 
 
Project Management Team (PMT)/Project Advisory Committee (PAC) 
Meetings 
The Consultant will maintain communications with the Client, CFU, and other 
stakeholders to review progress and discuss specific elements of the project 
design and receive direction from the Client. The meetings will also serve to 
establish schedules, develop project goals, establish initial design 
parameters, promote a dialog between the various entities, improve the 
decision-making process, and expedite design development. Prepare minutes 
of meetings and keep documentation of other communications. Included in 
the scope is the Consultant scheduling bi-weekly meetings during the design 
phase. For budget purposes, the Consultant will attend a total of 30 meetings 
(10 in person and 20 virtual). 
 
Utility Coordination Meetings 
The Consultant will conduct meetings with individual utility companies to 
address specific conflicts. It is anticipated that there will be three (3) meetings 
with representatives of the various utility companies. The first will be to advise 
of the nature and extent of the improvements and any potential conflicts with 
existing or proposed utility systems, and the second/third will be 
preliminary/final design review and coordination meetings. 
 
Individual Property Owner Meetings 
Due to the nature of the project, which includes, but is not limited to, impacts 
to driveways, retaining walls, trees, shrubs, and landscaping elements on 
both public and private land, it is likely there will be a need to meet one-on-
one with some affected property owners outside of public information 
meetings. The Consultant will conduct meetings with individual property 
owners to address issues of specific concern to adjacent properties. These 
meetings will be held in concert with the preliminary design development and 
property acquisition phases of the project. On-site meetings, phone, email or 
a combination of communication methods will be conducted. This will include 
specific discussions about access issues, changes in circulation, potential 
right-of-way needs and other issues related to specific parcels. 

134

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

4 

 

 
During the scheduled individual property owner meeting times, the Consultant 
will meet with the affected property owner to discuss the specifics of the 
project as it relates to their property, obtain information regarding any issues 
the property owner feels is important and get input regarding their 
expectations about the project. The information gathered at this time will be 
used in developing the project documents and negotiating the required right-
of-way. For planning purposes, it is assumed a total of ten (10) meetings with 
individual property owners. 
 

Individual Parcel Exhibits 
The Consultant will prepare individual colored parcel impact exhibits (8.5-
in by 11-in) for each parcel which will consist of aerial imagery and show 
the proposed roadway design elements, driveway access, site 
modifications, in addition to existing right-of-way lines, proposed fee title 
right-of-way needs and permanent/temporary easement needs. The 
exhibits will be label with key parcel information and reference individual 
easement square footage areas. The exhibits will be used for initial right-
of-way discussions and verification in advance of the preparation of 
acquisition plats. 

 
Public Information Meetings 
The Consultant will conduct five (5) public informational meetings. These 
meetings will be held in an open house format, with a short presentation on 
the project and then time for questions and input. Scope includes three (3) 
attendees from Consultant for each meeting, assuming each open house is 
1.5 hours in length. This task includes preparation of the public notification 
letter, display materials and hand out information for the meeting. 
 Meeting #1: Present Preliminary Design 
 Meeting #2: Discuss Access and Staging 
 Meeting #3: Discuss Construction Schedule (2023 construction) 
 Meeting #4: Discuss Construction Schedule (2024 construction) 
 Meeting #5: Discuss Construction Schedule (2025 construction) 
The purpose of the meeting 1 will be to provide a brief overview of the 
improvements to the adjacent property owners and stakeholders, discuss the 
plan for improvements, and gather information on concerns, specific issues 
and priorities of the adjacent property owners and other affected parties. 
Meeting 2 will focus on the presentation of the staging concept and final 
design elements and provide a general update. Meeting 3 will focus on a 
general update on schedule and what to expect during construction. 
The reserving of the meeting facility and a public notification will be completed 
by the Client. 
 
Individual Stakeholder Meetings (Impacted Businesses) 

135

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

5 

 

The Consultant will attend meetings with key business stakeholders directly 
impacted by the project. Individual meetings with business representatives 
will be coordinated and scheduled by the Client, and the Consultant will 
attend to provide support for the technical design. Key stakeholders will be 
identified and include:  

a) Caseys 
b) St. Patrick’s Church 
c) First Presbyterian Church 
d) Fire Station 
e) Medicap Pharmacy 
f) Tuffy Service Center 
g) Cenex Gas 
h) McDonald’s  
i) Dan Deery Auto 

The Consultant will attend a total of two (2) meetings with each stakeholder in 
order to assist the Client with engagement of these property owners and 
capture input as it relates to the design development. Each of these meetings 
will have a specific objective with regard to corridor improvements and will be 
scheduled at the appropriate time during the project. For budget purposes, 
the meetings will be attended by two (2) staff members of the Consultant. 
 
Periodic Meetings with Local Elected Officials  
Informational update presentations will be provided to the City Council on an 
as needed basis during the design development process. The presentations 
will provide an introduction/overview of the project and project goals and 
objectives. It will also provide an update on design development concepts and 
schedule. The presentations will be held in conjunction with Council Work 
Sessions or as determined by the Client. For estimating purposes, it is 
assumed that the Consultant will attend two (2) meetings. 
 
Project Newsletters 
The Consultant will prepare periodic newsletters for the project, which will be 
distributed via mail and the project website to all residents in the project area, 
local officials, agencies and other interested parties. The purpose of the 
newsletters will be to provide a brief overview of the project, including goals, 
development steps, schedule and who to contact for additional information. 
The content of these newsletters will be reviewed and coordinated with the 
Client. It is anticipated that three (3) newsletters will be prepared during the 
project in conjunction with the Public Information Meetings. 
 
Public Engagement Tools and Media Kit 
The following is a list of visual materials and hands-on tools to leverage as 
part of the project’s public involvement plan: 

 Public displays (will be developed for Public Information Meetings) 

 3D project rendering of the Main Street corridor. 

136

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

6 

 

 Frequently Asked Questions document 

 Web page dedicated to the project. The Consultant will host and 
manage a project website. The Consultant will provide materials for 
posting to the project site and social media to communicate updates, 
schedule and improvements. 

 
Design Surveys 

The Consultant will perform field and office tasks required to collect additional 
topographic information deemed necessary to complete the project. The 
Client will provide aerial photographic and other available mapping of the 
Project area. The specific supplemental survey tasks to be performed include 
the following: 
 
Control Survey 
The Consultant will establish horizontal and vertical control for the Project 
area. Each permanent control point or benchmark will have horizontal 
coordinates or elevation, recovery information and monument description.  
Accurate descriptions of the horizontal control points and benchmarks will be 
created and recorded on the plan sheets. 
 
Topographic Survey 
The Consultant will perform topographic surveys required for the development 
of the project. Horizontal and vertical accuracies will be adequate to produce 
a map that is compatible with the topographic data for incorporation into the 
existing mapping. Consultant will utilize mobile scanning for purposes of 
collecting mainline and side road topographic survey data. The final point 
cloud will be provided to the Client upon design completion. 
 
Utility Survey 
The Consultant will perform utility surveys required for the development of the 
project. Contact utility owners of record or the Iowa One Call representative, 
request that buried utilities be marked in the field and obtain existing utility 
map. Establish coordinates and elevations (if possible) for utilities that fall 
within the limits of the project and are visible or have been marked on the 
ground by the utility owner. Show utility name and describe the utility on the 
plans. 
 
This task consists of field survey indicating the location of utilities within the 
existing right-of-way for the project. The Consultant will field locate utility 
locations established by others; excavating to expose buried utilities is not 
part of this contract. Utilities to be surveyed, if present, include phone, gas, 
fiber optic, water main, overhead/underground electrical, sanitary sewer and 
storm sewer (including power poles, pedestals, valves and manholes). This 
includes establishing manhole and intake elevations for existing sanitary, 
storm sewers and roadway culverts.  

137

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

7 

 

 
Property Ownership and Research 
Research City and County records including right-of-way strip maps, 
subdivision plats, section corner ties, and surveys, locate existing boundary 
corner monuments, establish property lines, right-of-way lines, section lines, 
and easements, determine ownership of the properties affected by the 
project. Prepare a drawing with property lines, right-of-way lines, section 
lines, and easements within the project area as shown on the existing plats 
and other documents of record along with the land corner monuments and 
boundary corner monuments located in field. Review property ownership 
information from public records and add property owner names to the project 
mapping for public display and plan preparation purposes. 
 
Right-of-Way Survey 
The Consultant will perform right-of-way surveys as required for the 
development of the project. The right-of-way surveys will be in-depth legal 
surveys for which acquisition plats and temporary easement exhibits are to be 
developed. 
 
This task includes a thorough search of City, County and State records to 
review all surveys of record pertaining to the survey corridor, including County 
Auditor’s Subdivisions Plats, original government surveys, early surveys 
made by County Surveyors, all irregular land survey and road establishment 
records. Copies of such records are to be included in the project file for future 
reference. 
 
This task also includes obtaining sufficient field data to locate or establish 
property lines affected by the project to enable the preparation of the 
improvement plans. This includes locating section corners, property pins, and 
visible lines of occupation such as fences, field divisions or any other lines, 
indicating possession. A diligent effort must be made to recover existing land 
corner monuments necessary to describe the right-of-way along the project 
corridor. 
 
The task includes incorporation of property lines, right-of-way lines, and 
ownership of properties affected by the project into the base mapping for the 
project. The base mapping will identify the owners and approximate 
boundaries of all appropriate parcels within the survey limits. 
 
Project Base Map 
Incorporate field surveys into an electronic base map to be used for the 
design of the project. Incorporate property lines, right-of-way lines, and 
property ownership for parcels located within the project limits into the base 
map. For budgetary purposes, it is assumed that 138 parcels are within the 
project limits. 

138

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

8 

 

 
Preparation of Legal Descriptions and Temporary Easement Exhibits 
The Consultant will prepare legal descriptions and parcel exhibits for 
permanent acquisition and temporary easements to be acquired for the 
project. For estimating purposes, the following numbers of acquisition plats 
are assumed for this agreement: 

 Permanent (Fee-Title) Right-of-Way Acquisition Plats: 9 

 Temporary Construction Easements = 130 
 
The following was used to calculate costs per plat included in the agreement 
and for any additional plats added at the request of the Client. Consultant will 
only bill for plats prepared. 
 
Permanent (Fee-Title) Right-of-Way Acquisition Plats = $650 per plat 
Temporary Construction Easement = $400 per plat 
 
Individual plats and legal descriptions will be prepared for each parcel with 
permanent and temporary acquisitions. The legal descriptions shall be metes 
& bounds descriptions for both permanent and temporary construction 
acquisitions. The plats and legal descriptions shall comply with requirements 
of the Iowa Code and shall be prepared by or under the direct supervision of 
a duly licensed land surveyor under the laws of the State of Iowa. For 
permanent acquisitions, the Consultant will stake the acquisition area at the 
request of the Client in support of the negotiation process. 
 
Permanent Monumentation of Right-of-Way 
This task consists of monumentation of the right-of-way acquired as part of 
this project which will be performed upon completion of construction of the 
proposed improvements. The monumentation will comply with requirements 
of the Iowa Code and will be performed by or under the direct supervision of a 
duly licensed land surveyor under the laws of the State of Iowa. 
 
This task also includes resetting existing right-of-way monumentation for 
those parcels with only a temporary construction easement. 
 
Soil Borings and Potholing Locations 
The Consultant will survey soil boring locations and existing utilities that have 
been potholed. Potholing activities will be subcontracted by the Consultant. 
 
Public Notice of Project 
The Consultant will prepare a project notice letter for property owners directly 
adjacent to the project. This letter will provide a brief project description, 
notification of property surveys, anticipated schedule and contact information. 
The Consultant will distribute the notice letter. 
 

139

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

9 

 

 
Geotechnical Services 

Geotechnical Exploration & Analysis (Terracon) 
The Consultant will retain the services of a sub-contractor to complete 
geotechnical exploration along the project corridor. These services will be in 
general accordance with the standard specifications for subsurface 
investigations and design. This task includes the necessary field and office 
services to provide a geotechnical report for the project. Complete pavement 
cores and soil borings for pavement design and/or subsurface treatment 
design. 

 Roadway borings: 11 borings (6 at 20’ depth and 5 at 10’ depth) 

 Structure borings: 6 borings (30’ depth) 
 
The purposes of the borings include determination of existing pavement 
sections, roadway/utility design, settlement recommendations for new 
roadway alignment, moisture contents, groundwater levels, and engineering 
analysis. The borings will include all City/State required traffic control 
measures including coordination, permits and arranging a utility locate 
through Iowa One Call. The backfilling of the boreholes will be performed 
following the borings and meet City requirements. 
 
This subsurface exploration will include laboratory testing, engineering 
analysis, pavement design and a written report. 
 
The results of the field and laboratory programs will be evaluated by the sub-
contractors professional geotechnical engineer licensed in the State of Iowa. 
Based on the results of the evaluation, an engineering report will be prepared 
and include the following information: 

 Description of the project. 

 Computer generated boring logs with soil stratification based on visual 
soil classification 

 Summarized laboratory data on the boring logs 

 Groundwater levels observed during and shortly after completion of 
drilling 

 Boring location diagram 

 Subsurface exploration procedures 

 Subsurface soil conditions 
 
In addition, geotechnical recommendations for the project will include: 

 Earthwork construction 

 Expansive soil design considerations, if applicable 

 Cut and fill construction 

 Excavation and backfill 

 Site preparation, including the suitability of the existing on-site soils for 
use as structural fill 

140

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

10 

 

 Subsurface drainage recommendations 

 Subgrade preparation recommendations for grade supported 
pavements 

 Recommendations for Portland Cement Concrete pavement 
thicknesses 

 
Environmental Services 
The Consultant will complete the following environmental services as part of 
the Project. The proposed tasks follow the IDOT SWAP Environmental 
Review process. 
 
Wetland and Waters of the U.S. Delineation  
The Consultant will perform a wetland and Waters of the United States (WUS) 
delineation of the project area. The delineation will focus on the intersections 
at East 18th Street and East Seerley Boulevard where potential drainageways 
are visible on aerial imagery. The delineation will use mandatory technical 
criteria, field indicators, and other sources of information to assess whether 
the project area has jurisdictional wetlands or WUS. The classification will be 
performed by an experienced biologist, environmental scientist, or engineer.  
If wetlands are present, the upper boundaries within the project area will be 
identified. WUS will also be identified and mapped during the delineation. 
 
The methods the Consultant will use in the delineation generally follow the 
Regional Supplement to the Corps of Engineers Wetland Delineation Manual: 
Midwest Region (2010) and the Federal Manual for Identifying and 
Delineating Jurisdictional Wetlands (1987). Under normal circumstances, 
wetlands generally have three essential characteristics: hydrophytic 
vegetation, hydric soils, and wetland hydrology. 
 
Our proposed Scope of Work includes the following: 

 Assemble application information (i.e., aerial maps, soil classifications, 
site hydrology, vegetation type, etc.). 

 Perform on-site visit to gather data pertaining to the hydrophytic 
vegetation community, surface hydrology, and hydric soil 
characteristics. The following items will be performed at discrete data 
point locations within suspect wetland areas on-site.  

o Assess each stratum of vegetation (i.e., trees, saplings/shrubs, 
herbs, and woody vines). Vegetation will be classified by Genus 
species and dominance will be assessed. 

o Classify soil types and evaluate hydric soil indicators using 
shallow soil probes or spade holes. 

o Observe site characteristics for wetland hydrology indicators. 

 Utilize a hand-held GPS unit (sub-meter accuracy) to map the location 
and boundaries of delineated wetlands and WUS. If heavy tree cover is 

141

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

11 

 

present, a non-GPS survey may be needed to identify wetland 
boundaries. 

 Prepare maps showing the delineated wetland and WUS area(s). 

 Submit a Wetland and Waters of the U.S. Delineation Report 
containing the applicable data, wetland jurisdictional rationale, and 
proposed project information. 

The scope of this proposal includes one site visit to conduct a baseline 
delineation. 
 
Section 404 Permit Application and Mitigation Plan, if needed 
If wetland or WUS impacts are proposed, the Consultant will prepare and 
submit a Section 404 Permit Application containing the applicable data, 
wetland jurisdictional rationale, and proposed project information to the 
USACE, Iowa Department of Natural Resources (IDNR) Flood Plain Section, 
and IDNR Sovereign Lands Section. The Consultant will prepare a Mitigation 
Plan for the project to address Section 404 permitting requirements. The 
Mitigation Plan will summarize each wetland and WUS area that will be 
impacted by the project based on the findings in the Delineation Report and 
the proposed site plan for the project. 
 
The project site is located within the primary or secondary service areas of 
the following banks that offer emergent, forested and stream credits: Black 
Hawk Mitigation Bank, Cedar River Crossing, Heineman Mitigation Bank, 
Niebuhr Stream Mitigation Bank, and Smoketown Mitigation Bank. The 
Consultant will contact the bank/banks regarding the purchase of credits for 
wetland and WUS impacts. The Consultant will utilize the State of Iowa 
Stream Mitigation Method as a guideline for determining the quantity of WUS 
credits need for the project and wetland credits will be based on USACE 
regulatory guidance. 
 
Threatened & Endangered Species Habitat Assessment 
The Consultant reviewed the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS) 
Endangered Species List to evaluate potential Threatened and Endangered 
(T&E) species in the project area. The list for Black Hawk County included the 
following species: 

 Monarch butterfly (Danaus plexippus) 

 Rusty patched bumble bee (Bombus affinis) 

 Eastern prairie fringed orchid (Platanthera leucophaea) 

 Prairie bush-clover (Lespedeza leptostachya) 

 Western prairie fringed orchid (Platanthera praeclara) 

 Northern long-eared bat (Myotis septentrionalis) 
 
The Consultant will perform a field review of the project area to evaluate 
whether suitable habitat for the listed T&E species is present. The Consultant 
will evaluate whether residential flower gardens that may be suitable habitat 

142

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

12 

 

for the insect species or native prairie or wetland areas, which may be 
suitable habitat for the plant species, are located within the proposed grading 
limits. The Consultant will evaluate whether the trees within the project area 
may be suitable habitat for northern long-eared bat based on the FWS 2019 
Range-Wide Indiana Bat Summer Survey Guidelines (April 2019). 
 
The Consultant will complete the IDOT’s Determination of Effect (DOE) form 
regarding potential impacts to T&E species. 
 
Cultural Resource Survey 
The Consultant will retain a subcontractor to perform a limited/cursory 
archeological and architectural survey for review by the State Historical 
Preservation Office (SHPO) during the permitting process. The subcontractor 
will provide a reconnaissance-level examination for a majority of the project 
area with intensive-level inventory of up to four or five buildings. The 
intensive-level survey will be conducted at the proposed roundabout area for 
the intersection of Main Street and West 12th Street where older residential 
properties are still extant. The landforms in the project area are expected to 
only have contained near-surface archeological deposits and it is unlikely that 
any of these would be intact due to the earthmoving and construction that has 
already taken place. During the reconnaissance survey, the subcontractor will 
hand core available locations in the roundabout areas to demonstrate the 
existing disturbance. The architectural survey will include compiling the 
existing data for the buildings and structures along that portion of Main Street. 
Currently, 16 buildings that have been documented with SHPO including six 
that have been recommended as eligible for listing to the National Register of 
Historic Places or as requiring additional work to make a recommendation. 
During the reconnaissance survey the subcontractor will ascertain if these 
buildings are still present and if there has been a substantive change in their 
integrity. They will also compile a list of buildings along the project corridor 
that could be National Register eligible, but no formal recording or eligibility 
recommendations will be made for the buildings recorded at the 
reconnaissance-level. Formal recordings and National Register eligibility 
recommendations will be made for the residences at the West 12th Street 
intersection. 
 
Functional Design (30% Plans) 

Complete functional design layout for the proposed improvements. The 
primary focus will be on development of roadway geometrics, identify existing 
and proposed utility locations, identify existing and proposed right-of-way 
needs, and develop a general staging concept to construct the improvements. 
The work to be performed by the Consultant under the Functional Design 
phase shall consist of the following tasks: 
 
Develop Design Criteria 

143

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

13 

 

The Consultant will develop and submit to the Client design criteria to be used 
in developing the improvements. Criteria will conform to the Iowa DOT, 
SUDAS, and City Standards and will be in English units. The criteria to be 
addressed include: 

 Functional classification and design type. 

 Design speed and Regulatory speed. 

 Design vehicles for intersection design. 

 Widths of parking areas and right-of-way. 

 Preferred Clear Zone/Acceptable Clear Zone requirements. 

 Provisions for pedestrians and/or bicycles. 

 Street lighting requirements 

 Utility corridor locations. 
 
Prepare a brief technical memorandum documenting the proposed criteria. 
The memorandum will be reviewed, revised, and approved by the Client prior 
to proceeding with subsequent tasks. 
 
Develop Typical Sections 
Develop typical sections for the mainline street improvements. This task 
includes lane widths, shoulder width, curb section/type, sidewalk widths, right-
of-way widths, pavement types and clear-zones. This task does not include 
pavement and subgrade design. 
 
This task also includes identifying potential storm sewer, sanitary sewer, 
water main and other utility locations in the development of the typical 
sections. The scope of services for this project does not include design 
calculations and capacity analysis for storm sewer, water mains or sanitary 
sewers. 
 
Utility Research 
The Consultant will meet with the utility companies, including City utilities and 
CFU for information within the project corridor regarding transmission, 
distribution and service laterals. This includes information related to existing 
facilities and facilities planned for construction during the proposed 
improvements. 
 
Develop Functional Roadway and Roundabout Geometrics 
Develop functional geometrics that includes intersection return radii, sidewalk 
locations, and driveway locations for the project. Included as part of this task 
is turning design vehicle templates at the intersections. The functional 
roundabout geometrics will be developed based on proposed mainline lane 
configurations and modeling efforts using the appropriate software. Modeling 
will be done using traffic data from the Main Street Corridor Traffic Study 
dated 7/6/17 and as agreed upon by Client. Off peak hours may also be 
modeled for special events or unusual traffic patterns. Functional geometrics 

144

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

14 

 

will also take into account existing roadway alignments and profiles, design 
vehicles, environmental constraints and utilities. The Consultant will initiate 
coordination with the Iowa DOT’s roundabout peer review team at this time. 
 
Develop Horizontal Alignments and Vertical Profiles 
Utilizing functional geometrics and design survey, develop horizontal 
alignments and vertical profiles for the mainline and connecting roadways. 
The alignments and profiles will be developed based on the technical 
memorandum summarizing the design criteria 
 
Functional Drainage Analysis 
Inventory existing hydrologic and hydraulic conditions and analyze the 
impacts the proposed improvements will have on the area wide drainage 
patterns. Once the impacts have been quantified, develop storm sewer layout 
and major cross road culverts. HEC-RAS modeling of the existing box 
culverts at 18th Street and Seerley Boulevard to determine if capacity 
upgrades are warranted. Use existing HEC-RAS models provided by the City 
where applicable. Determine preferred culvert type and location and 
incorporate into the overall development of the functional roadway design. 
 
Functional Design Exhibit 
Prepare functional design exhibit that will consist of a full-size aerial strip map 
that shows the major project features. Include new roadway features, 
driveway locations, sidewalk locations, water main locations, storm sewer 
locations, sanitary sewer locations, property lines, property ownership, 
anticipated right-of-way needs, changes in accesses, and major structure 
locations. 
 
Functional Plan Preparation 
Upon completion of the functional plans, the design plans will be 
approximately 30 percent complete. The work to be performed by the 
Consultant under Functional Design will consist of the following tasks: 
 

 Title and Utility Conflict Sheets (A Sheets) 
o This task consists of assembling the preliminary title and 

general information sheets. The preliminary title sheets will 
include the following: Index of Sheets, Legend, Location Map, 
Project Number, Design Traffic data. Includes utility conflict 
identification tabulations and plan design exhibit sheets. 

 Functional Typical Cross Sections (B Sheets) 
o This task consists of assembling the Typical Cross Section to be 

used for the roadway improvements. 

 Functional Plan & Profiles (D & E Sheets) 

145

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

15 

 

o This item consists of the site plan and profile sheets, including 
the detail information required for plan approvals, permitting, 
and construction of the improvements. 

 Functional Traffic Control and Staging (J Sheets) 
o Develop overview of anticipated staging necessary to construct 

the project. Identify the number of major stages and how traffic, 
utility service, and property access will be maintained during 
construction. Document any special consideration that public or 
private utilities will require during construction. 

 Functional Roundabout Plan (K Sheets) 
o Develop geometric layouts and provide horizontal alignment 

information for the roundabout intersections. 

 Functional Removal Plans (R Sheets) 
o This item consists of functional layout of the removal plan for the 

project. 

 Functional Cross Sections (W Sheets) 
o This task consists of the design and drafting associated with the 

assembly of detailed cross sections (25’ increments) to illustrate 
typical conditions, drainage designs, and non-typical conditions 
as needed for guidance during design, review, and quantity 
estimating purposes. 

 
Quality Control 
Involve quality control input from the project team and the design engineer’s 
senior technical staff throughout the function design development. The design 
engineer is responsible for making specific recommendations and ensuring 
that critical issues are discussed and resolved prior to submittal of the 30% 
plan set. Review functional design set for technical accuracy, as well as for 
general constructability and conformance with the project design criteria. 
 
Field Review 
A field review will be held with the project team to discuss key issues and 
design concepts, including drainage, access control, traffic control/stage 
construction and right of-way. The review will determine the completion of the 
plan design, identify needed adjustments to minimize potential property 
impact and confirm the proposed staging plans. Revisions will be noted for 
preparation of the preliminary and final design. 
 
Budget Review 
The Consultant will prepare a functional opinion of probable construction cost 
for the project and compare the cost to the Client’s current Project budget. 
The Consultant will, if necessary, make recommendations pertaining to 
modifications in the Project in order to address budgetary concerns. Cost 
estimates will be developed as part of the functional design and based on 

146

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

16 

 

representative major project elements and recent bid information. Detailed 
quantity takeoffs will not be developed for the functional cost estimate. 
 
Preliminary Design (60% Plans) 

The Consultant will perform preliminary design services in the preparation of 
design plans and specifications depicting the proposed grading, drainage, 
paving, signing, utility relocation, and other features of the project. Comments 
received from the Functional Design Phase plans will be implemented in the 
Preliminary Design Phase plans. The preliminary phase will include but not be 
limited to the following tasks: 
 
Preliminary Water Main and Sanitary Sewer Modification Design 
Develop preliminary design modifications for existing water main (CFU) and 
sanitary sewer (City) systems within the project corridor. 
 
Preliminary Storm Sewer Design 
Develop storm sewer system vertical profiles and resolve potential conflicts 
with underground utilities and other design elements. 
 
Preliminary Culvert Design 
Develop preliminary culvert design in association with roadway 
improvements. 
 
Utility Conflict Identification 
The Consultant will identify utility conflicts based upon the preliminary design 
layout and develop a tabulation with plan sheet exhibits for the purposes of 
working through conflict resolution. This task includes storm sewer, water 
main, sanitary sewer and all private utilities including gas, electric and 
communications. Potholing of utilities is included in our scope if it is 
determined as needed. For budgeting purposes, an estimated 20 potholing 
locations are included in the scope. 
 
Preliminary Traffic Signal Design 
Determine warrant and need for replacement of existing mid-block crossing 
between 8th Street and 9th Street. Investigate pre-emption signal system need 
for 18th Street intersection roundabout for fire station emergency response. 
 

The preliminary plans will include traffic signal pole layout and major 
equipment layout. This task also includes gathering information on the type of 
equipment to be used for the project using available design standards of the 
City, and the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD). 
 
Acquisition Requirements Identification 
The Consultant will identify temporary easement needs based on the 
preliminary design development. The requirements will take into 

147

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

17 

 

considerations proposed utilities, construction staging and access, utility 
relocations and other critical construction elements. Colored parcel impact 
exhibits will be created to illustrate needs and for use in right-of-way 
negotiations. 
 
Landscaping 
Develop landscaping concept plan and estimate of costs. Concepts will 
include three options: Base design, Current Level (similar to University 
Avenue and Ridgeway Avenue projects), and New Design Option. Consultant 
will coordinate with client to select preferred concept for incorporation into the 
project. 
 
Preliminary Plan Preparation 
Upon completion of the preliminary plans, the design plans will be 
approximately 60 percent complete. Consultant shall provide the Client with 
the following deliverables: 
 

 Title and Utility Conflict Sheets (A Sheets) 
o This task consists of assembling the preliminary title and general 

information sheets. The preliminary title sheets will include the 
following: Index of Sheets, Legend, Location Map, Project Number, 
Existing Traffic data. Includes utility conflict identification tabulations 
and plan design exhibit sheets. 

 Preliminary Typical Cross Sections (B Sheets) 
o This task consists of assembling the Typical Cross Sections to be 

used for the proposed improvements as well as a preliminary 
determination of the limits that each Typical Section will apply. The 
Typical Cross Sections will include but not be limited to typical 
sections for the proposed grading, drainage and pedestrian 
improvements. 

 Preliminary Mainline/Sideroad Plan and Profiles (D and E Sheets) 
o This task consists of the development of preliminary plan sheets 

that will show the existing topography along with the roadway 
improvements, including pedestrian facilities, and access points. 

 Preliminary Detour, Temporary Pavement (F Sheets) 
o Identify temporary pavements needs to maintain traffic and local 

access. 

 Preliminary Survey Reference (G Sheets) 
o This task consists of assembling reference ties to the plan control 

points and the benchmark data used to develop the plans and to be 
preserved throughout construction of the project. This task also 
includes preserving any Government Corners that are found in the 
vicinity of the proposed construction. 

 Preliminary Right-of-Way (H Sheets) 

148

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

18 

 

o The preliminary plans will include an ownership reference plan 
exhibit showing general parcel information. 

 Preliminary Traffic Control and Staging (J Sheets) 
o The Consultant will develop a preliminary traffic control concept to 

indicate how the project will generally be constructed and traffic and 
access will be maintained during construction. The construction 
staging plan will take into consideration all elements of construction 
including mainline and side street roadways, storm water 
management improvements, property access, and private utility 
relocations. With refinements and acceptance by the Client, the 
concepts developed in preliminary plans will serve as the basis for 
preparing the final traffic control plan in final design 

 Preliminary Roundabout Plan and Profiles (K Sheets) 
o Develop geometric layouts and provide horizontal alignment and 

vertical profile information for the roundabout intersections. 

 Preliminary Geometric, Staking and Jointing (L Sheets) 
o Develop and refine geometric layouts and provide additional 

horizontal and vertical survey information needed to construct 
intersection improvements. 

 Preliminary Storm Drainage Systems (M Sheets)  
o Develop preliminary storm sewer layout, sizing, and profiles based 

on proposed improvements and existing drainage patterns. Resolve 
potential conflicts with underground utilities and other design 
elements. 

 Preliminary Sanitary Sewer (MSA Sheets) 
o This task consists of the development of preliminary sanitary sewer 

replacement plan and profile sheets that will show the pipe 
improvements, sewer profile, flow line and rim elevations, and utility 
access locations. 

 Preliminary Water Main Design (MWM Sheets)  
o This task consists of the development of preliminary water main 

plan and profile sheets that will show the existing topography, 
improvements, and water main profile, hydrant and valve locations. 

 Preliminary Traffic Signals, Pavement Marking and Traffic Signing Sheets 
(N Sheets) 

o Develop preliminary traffic signal sheets that includes major 
equipment layout such as temporary signals, traffic signal poles, 
traffic signal cabinet and handholes. This task also consists of 
design and drafting of the pavement markings and traffic signing 
sheets. This task includes development of pavement marking and 
traffic signing plans to be placed into service following construction. 
The traffic signals, traffic control devices, procedures and layouts 
will be as per the requirements of the City and Manual on Uniform 
Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD). 

 Roadway Lighting Plan (P Sheets) 

149

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

19 

 

o This task consists of selection of lighting poles and fixture types, 
design and drawing preparation of a preliminary layout, preparation 
of photometric analysis and reports. This task does not include any 
electrical circuit design. The Consultant will work closely with the 
City and CFU to ensure that the proposed lighting system is 
compatible with the overall project design, and that it will meet the 
needs of the City. 

 Preliminary Soils (Q Sheets) 
o Develop preliminary soils plan and profile sheets 

 Preliminary Removal Plans (R Sheets)  
o This item consists of preliminary layout of the project removal plan. 

 Preliminary Erosion Control (RR and RU Sheets) 
o This item consists of preliminary design and layout of erosion 

control plan sheets required to construct the project. 

 Preliminary Sidewalk Plans (S Sheets) 
o Develop preliminary curb ramp layout and accessible curb ramp 

design in accordance with Chapter 12 of Iowa SUDAS Design 
Manual. Design ramp geometric configurations alternatives, identify 
surface requirement, review general horizontal curb openings, 
cross slopes, running slope, and identify sidewalk width and 
passing space within the corridor. 

 Preliminary Roadway Culvert and Retaining Wall Plans (V Sheets) 
o Prepare 1”=20’ scale Type, Size, and Location (TS&L) plans for 

proposed major drainage structures. This task includes a Situation 
Plan and a General Elevation consisting of a cross/longitudinal 
section perpendicular/along the roadway centerline at the roadway 
culvert. Roadway curve and profile data, hydraulic data, and traffic 
data will be shown. Two (2) box culverts are required for this 
project. 

 Preliminary Cross Sections (W and X Sheets) 
o This task consists of the design and drafting associated with the 

assembly of detailed cross sections (25’ increments) to illustrate 
typical conditions, drainage designs, and non-typical conditions as 
needed for guidance during design, review, and quantity estimating 
purposes. 

 
Budget Review 
The Consultant will prepare a preliminary opinion of probable construction 
cost for the project and compare the cost to the Client’s current Project 
budget. If necessary, the Consultant will make recommendations pertaining to 
modifications in the Project in order to address budgetary concerns. 
Preliminary cost estimates will be based on representative major project 
elements and recent bid information. Detailed quantity takeoffs of major items 
will be developed for the preliminary cost estimate. 
 

150

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

20 

 

Quality Control 
Involve ongoing quality control input from the project team and the design 
engineer’s senior technical staff throughout the development of preliminary 
plans. The design engineer is responsible for making specific 
recommendations and ensuring that critical issues are discussed and 
resolved prior to submittal of the 60% plan set. Review the preliminary 
engineering plan set for technical accuracy, as well as for general 
constructability and conformance with the project design criteria. 
 
Check Plans (90% Plans) 
Based upon approved preliminary design, field exam, and public informational 
meetings, the Consultant shall subsequently proceed with final design, 
contract drawings, specifications, and opinion of probable construction costs 
for the award of a single Contract for the construction of the proposed 
improvements. Comments received from the Preliminary Design Phase plans 
will be implemented in the Final Design Phase plans. The work tasks to be 
performed include the following: 
 
3D Visualization Model 
Data Collection: Reality Mesh Data – Project Corridor 
The Consultant will use drone, camera, and video equipment to complete 
survey-based high quality video and image gathering along the Court Street 
between Muscatine Avenue and 1st Avenue. The Consultant will process the 
photo and video data into a Reality Mesh image to be used for 3D modeling. 
The Consultant will provide an electronic image mesh to the Client. 
 
Rendered Images/3D Visualization Modeling 
The Consultant will create a 3D file using our design files for use in 
visualization of the Main Street corridor. This task will include adding the 
following features: pavement markings, roadway signing, underground 
utilities, trees, and light poles. 
 
Final Construction Plans 
The Consultant shall provide the Client with the following deliverables: 
 

 Final Title Sheets (A Sheets) 
o Finalize title sheet. The title sheets will include the following: Index 

of Sheets, Legend, Location Map, Project Number and Existing 
Traffic Data. 

 Final Typical Sections and Final Details (B Sheets) 
o This item consists of final design and drafting of typical cross 

sections and standard details to be utilized for the improvements.  

 Final Quantities and Final Estimate of Miscellaneous Quantities (C 
Sheets) 

151

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

21 

 

o This item consists of final bid items to be included in the Project, as 
well as final quantity tabulations, and the development of the 
general notes and estimate reference information. 

 Final Mainline/Sideroad Plan and Profiles (D and E Sheets) 
o This task consists of the development of final plan sheets that will 

show the existing topography along with the roadway 
improvements, including pedestrian facilities, and access points. 

 Final Detour, Temporary Pavement (F Sheets) 
o This item consists of final design and drafting of the detour and 

temporary pavement plans. 

 Reference Ties and Bench Marks (G Sheets) 
o Finalize the plan control points and the benchmark data used to 

develop the plans and to be preserved throughout construction of 
the project.  

 Right-of-Way Sheets (H Sheets) 
o Finalize Right-of-Way sheets showing the existing right-of-way and 

temporary easement information in relation the proposed 
centerline, control points and property ownership. 

 Traffic Control, Staging, Pavement Markings and Traffic Signing (J 
Sheets) 

o This item consists of final design and drafting of the traffic control, 
staging, permanent pavement marking and traffic signing plans. 

 Final Roundabout Plan and Profiles (K Sheets) 
o This item consists of final design and drafting of alignments, profiles 

and geometric layouts for the roundabout intersections. 

 Final Geometric Staking, Jointing, and Edge Profiles (L Sheets) 
o This item consists of the final design and drafting of jointing details, 

spot elevations, and geometric layouts for all non-typical pavement 
areas and intersection improvements. 

 Final Landscaping Plans (LS Sheets) 

 Final Design of Storm Drainage Systems (M Sheets) 
o This item consists of final design and drafting of storm sewers, 

storm sewer inlets, manholes, open ditches, culverts, and other 
storm drainage related facilities for the Project. 

 Final Sanitary Sewer Design (MSA Sheets) 
o This task consists of the development of final sanitary sewer pipe 

and manhole replacement plan and profile sheets that will show the 
pipe improvements, sewer profile, flow line and rim elevations, and 
utility access locations. 

 Final Water Main Design (MWM Sheets)  
o This task consists of the development of final water main plan and 

profile sheets that will show the existing topography, improvements, 
and water main profile, hydrant and valve locations. 

 Final Traffic Signals, Pavement Marking and Traffic Signing Sheets (N 
Sheets) 

152

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

22 

 

o This task consists of the final design and drafting of permanent 
traffic signals (mid-block crossing and preemption system). 
Included in this task will be the signal layout plans, wiring diagrams, 
major equipment, poles, signal heads, quantities, special 
provisions, and other elements of the traffic signal installations, as 
necessary, to accommodate the roadway design, as well as 
phasing and timing of traffic signals. This task includes 
development of pavement marking and traffic signing plans to be 
placed into service following construction. The traffic signals, traffic 
control devices, procedures and layouts will be as per the 
requirements of the City and Manual on Uniform Traffic Control 
Devices (MUTCD). 

 Roadway Lighting Plans (P Sheets) 
o This task consists of selection of lighting poles and fixture types, 

design and drawing preparation of a final layout and photometric 
analysis. This task does not include any electrical circuit design. 
The Consultant will work closely with the City and CFU to ensure 
that the proposed lighting system is compatible with the overall 
project design, and that it will meet the needs of the City. 

 Soils (Q Sheets) 
o Develop final soils plan and profile sheets 

 Final Removal Plans (R Sheets) 
o This item consists of final layout of the project removal plan. 

 Final Erosion Control Plan (RR, RU Sheets) 
o This task consists of the development of erosion control sheets that 

show a draft pollution prevention plan, existing and proposed 
topography, location of proposed best management practices, and 
permanent surface restoration types. 

 Accessible Curb Ramp Design (S Sheets) 
o Develop final curb ramp layout in accordance with applicable Iowa 

DOT Design Manual. Finalize ramp geometric configurations, 
transitions between sidewalks and driveways, calculate horizontal 
curb openings, cross slopes, running slope, and label sidewalk 
width and passing space within the corridor. 

 Final Earthwork Quantities (T Sheets) - This task consists of final drafting 
of the earthwork quantities and tabulations. 

 Final Construction Details (U Sheets) 
o This item consists of the final design and drafting of special project 

details not covered in other items. Included are such items as 
special grading details, special storm water management details 
not included in the standard drawings, and other required 
miscellaneous details found to be required for completion of the 
project. 

 Final Box Culvert Sheets and Retaining Wall Plans (V Sheets) 

153

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

23 

 

o This task consists of final design and drafting of the plan and details 
for the two (2) box culverts and retaining walls. 

 Final Design Cross-Sections (W Sheets) 
o This item consists of the final design and drafting of individual cross 

sections for the project. Cross sections will be designed and drawn 
at 25-foot maximum intervals, with additional cross-sections 
included as necessary. Cross sections will show the existing 
ground elevations as well as the final project grading, including fore 
slope and back slope information, and other pertinent information. 

 
Project Permitting 
The Consultant will assist the Client in preparing applications for permits from 
governmental authorities that have jurisdiction to approve the design of the 
project and participate in consultations with such authorities, as necessary.  
The Consultant shall prepare the following documents for the project: 

 IDNR Water Supply Section, Construction Permit Application 

 IDNR Wastewater Disposal System, Construction Permit Application 

 IDNR NPDES Stormwater Discharge Permit 

 Notice of Publication 

 Pollution Prevention Plan 
 
Any fees for construction permits, licenses or other costs associated with 
permits and approvals shall be the responsibility of the Client. The Consultant 
shall provide technical criteria, written descriptions and design data for the 
Client’s use in filing the applications for permits. The Consultant shall prepare 
the permit applications and other documentation. 
 
Special Provisions Development 
The Consultant will prepare special provision specifications for the project and 
submit with 90% Plans. 
 
Opinion of Probable Construction Cost  
The Consultant shall prepare a Final Opinion of Probable Construction Cost 
for the project at the time of completion of the plans and specifications. The 
Opinion of Probable Construction Cost is intended for the use of the Client in 
financing the Project. 
 

Quality Control 
Involve ongoing quality control input from the Project Team and the design 
engineer’s senior technical staff throughout the development of final plans. 
The design engineer is responsible for making specific recommendations and 
ensuring that critical issues are discussed and resolved prior to submittal of 
the check plan set. 
 
Final Design (Bid Documents) 

154

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

24 

 

The Consultant will coordinate and manage the final project development 
submittals to the Client for the project. The work tasks to be performed or 
coordinated by the Consultant will include the following 
 
Incorporate Client Comments from Check Plan Submittal 
The Consultant will incorporate pre-final plan review comments into the plan 
set. The Consultant will revise pre-final construction plans and special 
provisions to incorporate comments. 
 
Final Plan Submittal 
The Consultant shall submit the Final Plans package via the DOT’s TPMS 
system. 
 
Project Bidding 
 
The project will be let through the Iowa DOT. The work tasks to be performed 
or coordinated by the Consultant will include the following: 
 
Plan Clarification and Addenda 
The Consultant will be available to answer questions from contractors prior to 
the letting and will issue addenda as appropriate to interpret, clarify or expend 
the bidding documents. 
 
 

Real Estate Services (JCG Land Services, Inc.) 
The Consultant will retain the services of JCG Land Services, Inc. (JCG) to 
provide Real Estate Services required for the project as a Sub-Consultant to 
serve as the professional representative for both the Consultant and the 
Client. The Consultant, with the assistance of JCG, will coordinate and 
manage the right-of-way acquisition process as an integral part of the 
management and scheduling of the project. Milestones and critical dates for 
completion of key elements of the right-of-way acquisition process will be 
identified and made a part of the project development plan and schedule. The 
objective is to start the acquisition process early and proceed to a timely 
conclusion of right-of-way acquisition. The Consultant, with the assistance of 
JCG, will coordinate specialists and subconsultants involved in right-of-way 
acquisition. 
The real estate acquisition services will follow the Iowa DOT’s Office of Right-
of-Way’s instructional manual for property acquisition, Right-of-Way 
Information Packet for Local Public Agency Federal/State-Aid Projects. 
 
Record of Property Ownership and Liens Certificates. 
Based on the final design of the facility or public improvement project, JCG 
will identify those parcels that are expected to be acquired in fee or 
encumbered by an easement to identify current ownership. For acquisition 

155

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

25 

 

purposes, a certified Record of Ownership and Liens report(s) will be 
obtained by JCG from a local abstractor and verified to identify all the owners, 
easements and encumbrances, judgments, mortgages, and other interest 
holders needed to obtain possession of the interests in land being acquired.  
The costs for procuring the Recertified Record of Ownership and Liens for 
each parcel will be a pass-through, reimbursable expense as noted on JCG’s 
project Invoices. 
 
Public Hearing  
If applicable, the Client will mail the Notice of Public Hearing and a Statement 
of Property Owner’s Rights to all property owners and contract purchasers by 
regular mail not less than 30 days before the date of the hearing; and publish 
a notice of the public hearing at least 4 but not more than 20 days before the 
public hearing. Upon request, JCG will participate in the Public Hearing to 
explain the acquisition process. 
 
Compensation Valuation. 
JCG will prepare offers of compensation based upon current fair market value 
of similar property in the vicinity of the project. To adequately determine the 
fair market value of right of way sought to be acquired, JCG will search public 
records for comparable sales data for each land use type encountered for 
allocation of just compensation payments. If the proposed acquisition for any 
parcel is complicated and/or estimated to exceed $25,000.00, JCG will 
recommend the services of an experienced Eminent Domain Appraiser to 
prepare the appraisal products for the Client. If requested, JCG will also 
recommend an experienced Eminent Domain Review Appraiser to complete 
the valuation process. The Client shall approve the Review Appraiser’s 
allocation of value to be offered to the affected property owner(s) as Just 
Compensation for the acquisition of each parcel. The costs for procuring 
appraisal and review appraisal reports for each parcel will be a pass-through, 
reimbursable expense as noted on JCG’s project Invoices. 
 
Acquisition Process. 
Forms of transfer documents and purchase agreements will be submitted to 
the Client for approval and acceptance. Where applicable, preparation of 
Warranty Deeds for the conveyance of fee ownership interests will be the 
responsibility of the Acquiring Authority’s attorney, or other attorney to comply 
with state law. 
 
JCG shall make a good faith effort to negotiate the purchase of the land, or 
interests in the land, needed for the project. JCG shall make contacts with the 
property owners, tenants and/or their legal representative to explain the effect 
of the acquisition, answer questions, and make a written offer to acquire the 
property. Nonresident landowners shall be contacted by mail, return receipt 
requested if necessary. If an agreement cannot be reached with a property 

156

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

26 

 

owner through good faith negotiations, JCG shall consider any evidence of 
value or an appraisal provided by the landowner; report landowner 
counteroffers; and/or make a recommendation whether a settlement should 
be attempted at an amount other than that previously offered. No action shall 
be taken based on such recommendations until it has been approved by the 
Client and/or Acquiring Authority. 
 
Negotiations shall be considered complete upon occurrence of one of the 
following:  

 both the owner and tenant accept the offer or an administrative 
settlement, or  

 either the owner or tenant fails or refuses to sign the offer or 
administrative settlement after four in-person meetings to discuss the 
associated acquisition and offer, or  

 in the judgment of the Client and/or Acquiring Authority, negotiations 
have reached an impasse 

 
For every parcel on which negotiations have reached an impasse or that 
cannot be acquired by negotiated agreement, JCG shall deliver as much of 
the file to the Client or Acquiring Authority as is necessary for the Acquiring 
Authority’s Attorney, or other attorney, to begin preparation for the 
condemnation of the parcel. 
 
Closing Process 
Upon completion of the acquisition of right of way, JCG will organize and 
verify data for each parcel file’s closing and payment process and return the 
parcel file data to the Client for payment processing, recording, and, if 
applicable, the fee title real estate closing process. The completed file will 
contain originals of all executed offer and easement documents, a signed W-9 
form, and, if necessary, an Allocation of Proceeds statement directing the split 
of payment(s) to be made. 
 
Condemnation Support 
In the event condemnation should become necessary, JCG will provide parcel 
file documents and information necessary for the Client and/or the Acquiring 
Authority’s attorney, or other attorney, to file the Application for 
Condemnation.  If requested, (UNDER A SEPARATE TIME AND 
MATERIALS ADDENDUM TO THIS AGREEMENT) attend necessary 
meetings in support of the condemnation proceeding and/or appear as an 
expert witness at the condemnation hearing. In addition to the items 
contained in the Scope of Services for this Agreement, JCG will also provide 
additional support and administrative services as requested by the Client’s 
attorney in support of the condemnation process on a case by case basis. 
 
Project Management 

157

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

27 

 

Throughout the project, JCG will provide a project manager with significant 
public works project experience to oversee the process and progress of the 
acquisition team, meet with the Client and/or its contractors as necessary, 
and submit periodic status reports to Client’s personnel that will calculate the 
level of completion of each respective task in the process. 
 
 

Construction Period Services 

The scope of services and estimated effort is based on the assumption that 
construction of this project will be three full construction seasons 2023, 2024, 
2025. The Consultant shall provide the following Constriction Period Services: 
 
Construction Administration 

Construction administration services shall consist of office based services to 
assist the Client in implementing the construction contract for this project. The 
work tasks to be performed by the Consultant shall include: 
 
Pre-construction Meeting 
The Consultant shall conduct a pre-construction meeting after award of 
construction contract for the Client’s Contractor, subcontractors, utility 
companies, and other interested parties. 
 
Shop Drawings Submittal Reviews 
The Consultant shall review shop drawings, samples, and other data which 
the Contractor is required to submit, but only for conformance with design 
concept of the Project and conformance with the information given in the 
contract documents. The Consultant shall evaluate and determine the 
acceptability of substitute materials and equipment proposed by the 
Contractor. The Consultant shall have authority to require special inspection 
or testing of the work, and shall receive and review all certificates of 
inspections, testing, and approvals required. 
 
Engineer Site Visits  
In connection with observations of the Contractor’s work while it is in 
progress: 
 

a. The Consultant shall make visits to the site at intervals appropriate to 
the various stages of construction as the Consultant deems necessary 
(estimated to be one (1) site visit per month minimum, with up to 
weekly visits during peak construction activity periods) in order to 
observe as an experienced and qualified design professional the 
progress and quality of the various aspects of the Contractor’s work. 
Based on information obtained during such visits and on such 
observations, the Consultant shall determine, in general, if such work 

158

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

28 

 

is proceeding in accordance with the Plans, and the Consultant shall 
keep the Client informed of the progress of the work. 

b. The purpose of the Consultant’s visits to the site will be to enable the 
Consultant to better carry out his duties and responsibilities during the 
construction phase and, in addition, by exercise of the Consultant’s 
efforts as an experienced and qualified design professional, to provide 
for the Client a greater degree of confidence that the completed work 
of the Contractor will conform to the Plans, and that the integrity of the 
design concept as reflected in the Plans has been implemented and 
preserved by the Contractor. 

c. The Consultant shall not during such visits supervise, direct, or have 
control over the Contractor’s work, nor shall the Consultant have 
authority over or responsibility for the means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, or procedures of construction selected by the Contractor 
for safety precautions and programs incident to the work or for any 
failure of the Contractor to comply with laws, rules, regulations, 
ordinances, codes, or orders applicable to the Contractor furnishing 
and performing his work. 

d. During such visits, the Consultant may disapprove of or reject the 
Contractor’s work while it is in progress if the Consultant believes that 
such work will not produce a completed Project that conforms to the 
Plans, or that it will prejudice the integrity of the design concept of the 
Project as reflected in the Plans. 

 
Weekly Progress Meetings 
The City shall conduct weekly progress meeting with the Client, Contractor, 
and Utility Companies to review progress, update the project schedule, 
resolve conflicts, and determine any corrective actions if necessary. The 
Consultant shall attend and assist the City and Contractor in resolving issues 
and communicating upcoming construction activities with the adjacent 
businesses and property owners. 
 
Request for Information (RFIs), Plan Revisions, and Change Orders 
The Consultant will respond to all RFIs, issue necessary plan interpretations, 
clarifications, and revisions and prepare and process project change orders. 
 
Public Communications 
The Consultant will prepare newsletters to provide updates to the public on 
the construction of the project. In addition, the Consultant will develop Traffic 
Pattern Maps to communicate travel patterns during the various phases of 
construction. For budgetary purposes, the following frequencies of 
communication are estimated: 

 Newsletters: 10 

 Traffic Pattern Maps: 20 

159

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

29 

 

These communication tools will be provided to the Client for internal 
distribution and posted to the project website. 
 
Final Inspections and Project Close-Out 
The Consultant shall conduct an inspection in the company of the Client to 
determine if the work is substantially complete and a final inspection to 
determine if the completed work is acceptable. The Consultant may 
recommend, in writing, final payment to the Contractor and may give written 
notice to the Client and the Contractor that the work is acceptable. This task 
will also include assembling final project documentation, certifications, and 
attendance at the project audits.  
 
Record Drawings 
This task consists of preparation of construction record drawings defining the 
actual location of improvements and fixtures. The Consultant shall prepare 
record drawings showing those changes made during construction, based on 
the marked-up drawings and other data furnished by the Contractor and the 
Resident Construction Observer. The Consultant shall provide the Client with 
one (1) reproducible copy of the record drawings. 
 
The above Construction Administration Services is for 2023-2025 Calendar 
Years and includes 2,040 hours of effort. In the event the construction period 
exceeds the planned duration or unanticipated conditions require 
Construction Administration in excess of 2,040 hours of effort, the Consultant 
shall notify the Client as it approaches this limit and determine the additional 
effort to complete the project. The Consultant and Client shall work to develop 
a mutual resolution for the remaining effort. 
 
 
Construction Survey 
Construction Survey shall consist of the following tasks to be performed by 
the Consultant: 
 
Project Control 

a. Verify existing horizontal and vertical control as shown in the project 
plans and supplement with additional control points as-needed to 
complete the project. 

b. Reset land corners and permanent reference markers as indicated on 
the plans. 

c. Tie-ins with existing roadways shall be checked for correctness of 
alignment prior to construction staking. 

d. This task does not include resetting all property corners disturbed by 
construction. 

 
Property Lines and Temporary Easement 

160

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

30 

 

Stake temporary easements, permanent right-of-way corners at 50 foot 
intervals, or less if needed. These points shall be marked by placement of a 
metal pin or wood hub, flat, and lath at the same location as the slope stakes. 
 
Grading – Task not used. 
It is assumed that the Contractor will utilize the Engineer’s surfaces for 
automatic machine control for grading purposes and therefore no grading 
stakes will be required. 
 
Sanitary Sewer and Storm Sewers 
Mark locations and elevations of centerline pipes with metal pin or tack in a 
wood hub, flat, and lath. The flat shall be clearly marked with the station 
location, pipe number, cut/fill elevation to flow line and form grade, and offset 
distance to centerline of pipe. It is estimated that the project contains the 
following approximate quantities: 
 
Water Mains  
Mark locations and elevations of water main, fittings, valves ad hydrants with 
metal pin or tack in a wood hub, flat, and lath. Clearly mark the flat with the 
station location, pipe number, cut/fill elevation, and offset distance to 
centerline of pipe. 
 
Intakes and Utility Accesses 
Mark locations and elevations of intakes, utility accesses, bends, and clean 
outs with metal pin or tack in a wood hub, flat, and lath. The flat shall be 
clearly marked with the station location; intake or utility access number; cut/fill 
elevation, including bottom of well and form grade; and offset distance to the 
station location. 
 
Pavement (PCC) 

a. Stake limits of existing pavement removal. 
b. For Main Street mainline and side roads, mark locations and elevations 

(graded 4’ offset paving hubs) at 25 foot intervals for finished grading 
and paving. 

c. At intersections and entrances, graded offset hubs will be set at each 
end of radius, and radius points will be set where radius distance is 
less than 100 feet. Also graded midpoint offsets will be set on radii 
where curve length is greater than 40 feet. 

d. At roundabouts, three lines of graded offset hubs internal to the 
roundabouts, center radius point, tapers and external radius points will 
be set. Roundabouts intersections include 6th, 12th, 18th, Seerley Blvd. 

e. Sidewalks and trails will be staked with a graded offset hubs and 25-ft 
increments, major breaks and pedestrian ramp locations. 

f. Parking lots and driveways will be graded with offset hubs at 25 foot 
intervals for finished grading and paving. 

161

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

31 

 

g. After grading and paving is complete, reset plan control points and 
land corner monuments. 

 
Reinforced Concrete Box Culvert 

a. Mark locations and elevations with metal pin or tack in a wood hub, 
flat, and lath. Clearly mark the flat with the station location, design 
number, cut/fill elevation, and offset distance from the centerline of the 
culvert and back of parapet.  

b. Perform an independent check of the above stakes. 
c. Provide the Engineer with a copy of the staking diagram prior to 

commencing work. 
d. Report to the Engineer questionable flow lines and alignments that do 

not match existing drainage patterns. 
 
Temporary Traffic Signals and Pedestrian Signal 
Mark locations and elevations of the temporary traffic signal pole bases, 
handholes, and cabinets with metal pin or tack in a wood hub, flat, and lath. 
The flat shall be clearly marked with the station location and cut/fill elevation 
to finished elevation. It is estimated that the project contains the following 
approximate quantities: 
 
Light Poles 
Mark locations and elevations of the light pole bases, handholes, and 
cabinets with metal pin or tack in a wood hub, flat, and lath. The flat shall be 
clearly marked with the station location and cut/fill elevation to finished 
elevation. 
 
Pavement Markings and Permanent Street Signs 
Mark locations and elevations of the pavement markings and signs with metal 
pin or tack in a wood hub, flat, and lath. 
 
Task 13 – Streetscaping and Miscellaneous Staking 
Mark locations and elevations of the hardscape monuments and footings 
internal to the roundabouts with metal pin or tack in a wood hub, flat, and lath. 
Mark location of trees, plantings, bus shelters, fences, retaining wall, and bike 
racks. 
 
Note: It is assumed that shrubs and grasses and other landscape features will 
not be staked. 
 
Private Utility Relocations 
Assist private utilities in layout of their relocated facilities. Included in this is 
staking critical crossing locations of storm sewer, water main, sanitary sewer 
and other utilities being incorporated as part of the project. Estimated level of 
effort not to exceed 120 hours for a two-person field survey crew. 

162

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

32 

 

 
The above tasks include qualified personnel, equipment and supplies 
required for a one-time construction staking for the project to establish the line 
and grade for the proposed improvements. Replacement costs of any survey 
stakes or marks that are destroyed or disturbed by the Contractor shall be 
charged to the Contractor. 
 
Construction staking for silt fence, revetment limits, erosion control lining, 
surface restoration, traffic control, rock excavation volumes, and other 
miscellaneous items are not included in this scope of services.  It is assumed 
that the on-site construction technician for the project will provide these 
services where appropriate. Existing and final cross-sections for earthwork 
computations are also not included in the above.  
 
The above Construction Survey estimate includes a maximum of 1,020 hours 
of effort. In the event the Construction Period exceeds the planned duration or 
unanticipated conditions require Construction Survey in excess of 1,020 
hours of effort, the Consultant shall notify the City as it approaches this limit 
and determine the additional effort to complete the project. The Consultant 
and Client shall work to develop a mutual resolution for the remaining effort. 
 
 

 
C. Project Team 
  
Consultant   Scope 

Foth   Project Management, Survey, Design, Construction 
Administration 

Terracon   Geotechnical 
JCG   Real Estate Services 
Hoffman Trenching Potholing 

 
D. Schedule 

Functional Design  August to September 2021 
Environmental   August to December 2021 
Preliminary Design  September to December 2021 
Final Design   January to August 2022 
Bid Letting   November 2022 
Construction   2023 - 2025 

 
E. Deliverables 

The scope of services shall be considered to be complete upon completion 
and delivery of the following items to the satisfaction of the Client: 

 Acquisition Plats and Temporary Easement Exhibits 

163

Item 20.



  Main Street Reconstruction 
  6th Street to University Ave 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

33 

 

 Original Final construction drawings (11”x17”), Final Project Manual, and 
Opinion of Probable Construction Cost 

 All CADD files and design documents (AutoCad format) 

 Record Drawings (.pdf format) 
 

F. Contingency 
If at any time during the work the Consultant determines that its actual costs 
will exceed the estimated actual costs, thus necessitating the use of a 
contingency amount, it will promptly so notify the Client’s Project Manager in 
writing and describe what costs are causing the overage and the reason. The 
Consultant shall not exceed the estimated actual costs without prior written 
approval from the Client. 
 
Items that may cause the need to utilize the Contingency include but are not 
necessarily limited to the following: Design changes, unanticipated field 
conditions (e.g. unknown utility conflicts), increases in scope item quantities 
beyond those listed herein, plan and/or propriety equipment changes, 
Contractor changes, nonperformance by subconsultants, etc. 
 

G. Additional Services 
Additional Services not included as part of this Scope. If authorized, under a 
supplemental agreement, the Consultant shall furnish or obtain from others 
the following services: 

 Additional meetings or data collection/evaluation requested by the 
USACE. 

 Preparation of an Alternatives Analysis if an Individual Section 404 
Permit is needed based on the quantity of wetland or WUS impact.  

 Design of a wetland or WUS mitigation area  

 Additional T&E species studies, such as mist netting, acoustic 
surveys, emergence surveys, or botanical surveys  

 Phase II archeological investigations   

 Preparation of Environmental NEPA Documentation (CE/EA/EIS) 

 Electrical Circuitry Design (to be completed by CFU) 

 Condemnation Services 

 Relocation Assistance 

164

Item 20.



    

Exhibit B 
 

Main Street Reconstruction (6th Street to University Avenue) 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number RC-000-3283 
 

  Original12/13/11 
Revision 01/31/2017 

 
    INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR  

CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
 
*** This document outlines the insurance requirements for all Contractors who 
perform work for the City of Cedar Falls. The term “contractor” as used in this 
document shall be defined as the general contractor, artisan contractor, or design 
contractor that will be performing work for the City of Cedar Falls under contract. 
 
 
1.  All policies of insurance required hereunder shall be with an insurer 
authorized by law to do business in Iowa.  All insurance policies shall be 
companies satisfactory to the City and have a rating of A-, VII or better in the 
current A.M. Best Rating Guide.   
 
2. All Certificates of Insurance required hereunder shall include the 
Cancellation & Material Change Endorsement.  A copy of this endorsement is 
attached in Exhibit 1. 
 
3.  Contractor shall furnish a signed Certificate of Insurance to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa for the coverage required in Exhibit 1.  Such Certificates shall 
include copies of the following endorsements: 
 

a) Commercial General Liability policy is primary and non-contributing 
b) Commercial General Liability additional insured endorsement – See 

Exhibit 1 
c) Governmental Immunities Endorsement – See Exhibit 1 

 
Copies of additional insured endorsements, executed by an authorized 
representative from an Insurer duly authorized to transact business at the 
location of the jobsite, must be provided prior to the first payment.    
 
Contractor shall, upon request by the City, provide Certificates of Insurance for 
all subcontractors and sub-sub contractors who perform work or services 
pursuant to the provisions of this contract. 
 
4. Each certificate shall be submitted to the City of Cedar Falls. 

165

Item 20.



 

Main Street Reconstruction 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 
5. Failure to provide minimum coverage shall not be deemed a waiver of 
these requirements by the City of Cedar Falls. Failure to obtain or maintain the 
required insurance shall be considered a material breach of this agreement.   
 
6. Failure of the Contractor to maintain the required insurance shall 
constitute a default under this Contract, and at City’s option, shall allow City to 
terminate this Contract for cause and/or purchase said insurance at Contractor’s 
expense. 
 
7. Contractor shall be required to carry the following minimum 
coverage/limits or greater, if required by law or other legal agreement; as per 
Exhibit 1: 
 

 This coverage shall be written on an occurrence, not claims made form. 
All deviations or exclusions from the standard ISO commercial general 
liability form CG 001 shall be clearly identified and shall be subject to the 
review and approval of the City.  

 
 Contractor shall maintain ongoing CGL coverage for at least 2 years 

following substantial completion of the Work to cover liability arising from 
the products-completed operations hazard and liability assumed under an 
insured contract.    

 
 Governmental Immunity endorsement identical or equivalent to form 

attached. 
 

 Additional Insured Requirement – See Exhibit 1. 
The City of Cedar Falls, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees, its boards, commissions and/or authorities and their board 
members, employees shall be named as an additional insured on General 
Liability Policies for all classes of contractors. 
 
Contractors shall include coverage for the City of Cedar Falls as an 
additional insured including ongoing and completed operations coverage 
equivalent to: ISO CG 20 10 07 04* and ISO CG 20 37 07 04** 
 

*  ISO CG 20 10 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or 
Contractors – Scheduled Person or Organization” 

  
 ** ISO CG 20 37 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or 

Contractors – Completed Operations”  
 
 

166

Item 20.



 

Main Street Reconstruction 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

8. Errors & Omissions:  If the contract’s scope of services includes design 
work or other professional services, then Contractor shall maintain insurance 
coverage for errors, omissions and other negligent acts or omissions (except for 
intentional acts or omissions), arising out of the professional services performed 
by Contractor. Contractor shall maintain continuous Errors & Omissions 
coverage for a period commencing no later than the date of the contract, and 
continuing for a period of no less than 2 years from the date of completion of all 
work completed or services performed under the contract.  The limit of liability 
shall not be less than $1,000,000. 
 

9. Separation of Insured’s Provision: If Contractor’s liability policies do not 
contain the standard ISO separation of insured’s provision, or a substantially 
similar clause, they shall be endorsed to provide cross-liability coverage. 
 
10. Limits: By requiring the insurance as set out in this Contract, City does not 
represent that coverage and limits will necessarily be adequate to protect 
Contractor and such coverage and limits shall not be deemed as a limitation on 
Contractor’s liability under the indemnities provided to City in this Contract.  The 
City will have the right at any time to require liability insurance greater than that 
otherwise specified in Exhibit 1. If required, the additional premium or premiums 
payable shall be added to the bid price. 
 
11. Indemnification (Hold Harmless) Provision:  To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, the Contractor agrees to defend (for all non-professional claims), 
indemnify, and hold harmless the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and 
appointed officials, directors, employees, and agents working on behalf of the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa against any and all claims, demands, suits or loss, 
including any and all outlay and expense connected therewith, and for damages 
which may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, directors, employees, and agents 
working on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including, but not limited to, 
damages arising by reason of personal injury, including bodily injury or death, 
and property damages, which arises out of or is in any way connected or 
associated with the work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa pursuant to the provisions of this contract to the extent arising 
out of the errors, omissions or negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, 
employees, subcontractors or others working on behalf of the Contractor.  It is 
the intention of the parties that the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and 
appointed officials, directors, employees, and agents working on behalf of the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall not be liable or in any way responsible for the 
injury, damage, liability, loss or expense incurred by the Contractor, its officers, 
employees, subcontractors, and others affiliated with the Contractor due to 
accidents, mishaps, misconduct, negligence or injuries either in person or 
property resulting from the work and/or services performed by the Contractor 

167

Item 20.



 

Main Street Reconstruction 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

pursuant to the provisions of this contract, except for and to the extent caused by 
the negligence of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.   
 
The Contractor expressly assumes full responsibility for damages or injuries 
which may result to any person or property by reason of or in connection with the 
work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
pursuant to this contract to the extent arising out of the errors, omissions or 
negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, employees, subcontractors or others 
working on behalf of the Contractor, and agrees to pay the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa for all damages caused to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa premises resulting 
from the work and/or services of the Contractor, its officers, employees, 
subcontractors, and others affiliated with the Contractor to the extent arising out 
of such errors, omissions or negligent acts. 
 
The Contractor represents that its activities pursuant to the provisions of this 
contract will be performed and supervised by adequately trained and qualified 
personnel, and the Contractor will observe, and cause its officers, employees, 
subcontractors and others affiliated with the Contractor to observe all applicable 
safety rules. 
 
12. Waiver of Subrogation: To the extent permitted by law, Contractor hereby 
releases the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, its 
directors, employees, and agents working on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, from and against any and all liability or responsibility to the Contractor or 
anyone claiming through or under the Contractor by way of subrogation or 
otherwise, for any loss or damage to property caused by fire or any other 
casualty and for any loss due to bodily injury to Contractor’s employees. This 
provision shall be applicable and in full force and effect only with respect to loss 
or damage occurring during the time of this contract or arising out of the work 
performed under this contract. The Contractor’s policies of insurance (except for 
Professional Liability) shall contain a clause or endorsement to the effect that 
such release shall not adversely affect or impair such policies or prejudice the 
right of the Contractor to recover thereunder. 
 
 
Completion Checklist 
 

 Certificate of Liability Insurance (2 pages) 
 Additional Insured CG 20 10 07 04 
 Additional Insured CG 20 37 07 04 
 Governmental Immunities Endorsement 

 
 
 
  

168

Item 20.



 

Main Street Reconstruction 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

EXHIBIT 1 – INSURANCE SCHEDULE 
 
 
General Liability (Occurrence Form Only): 

 Commercial General Liability 
  General Aggregate  $2,000,000 
  Products-Completed Operations Aggregate Limit $2,000,000 
  Personal and Advertising Injury Limit $1,000,000 
  Each Occurrence Limit  $1,000,000 
  Fire Damage Limit (any one occurrence) $     50,000 
  Medical Payments  $       5,000 
  

 

Automobile: (Combined Single Limit)     $1,000,000                            

If the Contractor does not own any vehicles, coverage is required on non-owned 
and hired vehicles. 
 
 
Standard Workers Compensation  
 Statutory for Coverage A 
 Employers Liability:  
 Each Accident $  500,000 
 Each Employee – Disease $  500,000 
 Policy Limit – Disease $  500,000 
 
 
Umbrella:  $3,000,000 
The Umbrella/Excess Insurance shall be written on a per occurrence basis and if 
the Umbrella/Excess is not written on a follow form basis it shall have the same 
endorsements as required of the primary policy(ies). 
 
 
Errors & Omissions: $1,000,000 
 

 
  

169

Item 20.



 

Main Street Reconstruction 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT 

 
The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees, its boards, commissions and/or authorities and their board 
members, employees, are included as Additional Insureds, including ongoing 
operations CG 2010 07 04 or equivalent, and completed operations CG 2037 07 
04 or equivalent. See Specimens. 
 
This coverage shall be primary to the Additional Insureds, and not contributing 
with any other insurance or similar protection available to the Additional Insureds, 
whether other available coverage be primary, contributing or excess. 

 
 
 

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT 
(For use when including the City as an Additional Insured) 

 

1. Nonwaiver of Government Immunity. The insurance carrier expressly 
agrees and states that the purchase of this policy and the including of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa as an Additional Insured does not waive any of the defenses of 
governmental immunity available to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under Code of 
Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
2. Claims Coverage. The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of 
insurance shall cover only those claims not subject to the defense of 
governmental immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists 
and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
3. Assertion of Government Immunity. The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be 
responsible for asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do so 
at any time and shall do so upon the timely written request of the insurance 
carrier. Nothing contained in this endorsement shall prevent the carrier from 
asserting the defense of governmental immunity on behalf of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa. 
 
4. Non-Denial of Coverage. The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage 
under this policy and the insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights and 
benefits accruing to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under this policy for reasons of 
governmental immunity unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction has 
ruled in favor of the defense(s) of governmental immunity asserted by the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 

170

Item 20.



 

Main Street Reconstruction 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

5. No Other Change in Policy. The insurance carrier and the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa agree that the above preservation of governmental immunities shall 
not otherwise change or alter the coverage available under the policy. 

 
 

CANCELLATION AND MATERIAL CHANGES ENDORSEMENT 

 
Thirty (30) days Advance Written Notice of Cancellation, Non-Renewal, 
Reduction in coverage and/or limits and ten (10) days written notice of non-
payment of premium shall be sent to: Risk Management Office, City of Cedar 
Falls, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. This endorsement 
supersedes the standard cancellation statement on the Certificate of Insurance to 
which this endorsement is attached.  Contractor agrees to furnish the City with 30 
days advance written notice of cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in coverage 
and/or limits, and 10 days advance written notice of non-payment of premium. 
 
 
  

171

Item 20.



 

Main Street Reconstruction 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

$1,000,000 

172

Item 20.



 

Main Street Reconstruction 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

  

173

Item 20.



 

Main Street Reconstruction 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

174

Item 20.



 

Main Street Reconstruction 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 

  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

175

Item 20.



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2016 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

Willis Towers Watson Midwest, Inc.
c/o 26 Century Blvd
P.O. Box 305191
Nashville, TN   372305191  USA

Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC
2121 Innovation Court
De Pere, WI 54115

Project Description:  Main Street Reconstruction

The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all its employees, its boards,
commissions and/or authorities and their board members, employees are included as Additional Insureds as respects to
General Liability and Umbrella/Excess Liability.

City of Cedar Falls
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls, IA 50613

07/12/2021

1-877-945-7378 1-888-467-2378

certificates@willis.com

Lexington Insurance Company 19437

W21614161

A

1,000,000

300,000

0

1,000,000

2,000,000

2,000,000

Y Y 037205326 03/01/2021 03/01/2022

A
3,000,000

25,000

Y 015438053 03/01/2021 03/01/2022 3,000,000

A Professional Liability Per Claim026154181 03/01/2021 03/01/2022

Aggregate

216173921343718SR ID: BATCH:

$1,000,000

$1,000,000

Willis Towers Watson Certificate Center

Page 1 of 2

176

Item 20.



ACORD 101 (2008/01)
The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

© 2008 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

THIS ADDITIONAL REMARKS FORM IS A SCHEDULE TO ACORD FORM,
FORM NUMBER: FORM TITLE:

ADDITIONAL REMARKS

ADDITIONAL REMARKS SCHEDULE Page           of

AGENCY CUSTOMER ID:
LOC #:

AGENCY

CARRIER NAIC CODE

POLICY NUMBER

NAMED INSURED

EFFECTIVE DATE:

Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC
2121 Innovation Court
De Pere, WI 54115

General Liability policy shall be Primary and Non-contributory with any other insurance in force for or which may be
purchased by Additional Insureds.

Waiver of Subrogation applies in favor of Additional Insureds with respects to General Liability.

2 2

Willis Towers Watson Midwest, Inc.

See Page 1

See Page 1 See Page 1 See Page 1

25 Certificate of Liability Insurance

W21614161CERT:2161739BATCH:21343718SR ID:

177

Item 20.



 

LX4309 (06/14) Includes Copyrighted Information of the Insurance Services
Offices, Inc., with its permission.  All Rights Reserved.

Page  of 21

Required by the contract or agreement; or1.
will pay on behalf of the additional insured is the amount of insurance:
If coverage provided to the additional insured is required by a contract or agreement, the most we 

Section III - Limits Of Insurance:
With respect to the insurance afforded to these additional insureds, the following is added to B.

required by the contract or agreement to provide for such additional insured.
insurance afforded to such additional insured will not be broader than that which you are 
If coverage provided to the additional insured is required by a contract or agreement, the 2.
and
The insurance afforded to such additional insured only applies to the extent permitted by law;1.

However:
 In connection with your premises owned by or rented to you.2.

In the performance of your ongoing operations; or1.
or the acts or omissions of those acting on your behalf:
damage" or "personal and advertising injury" caused, in whole or in part, by your acts or omissions 
organization(s) shown in the Schedule, but only with respect to liability for "bodily injury", "property 
Section II - Who Is An Insured is amended to include as an additional insured the person(s) or A.

 

 

Forms a part of policy no.: 037205326

 

  

Information required to complete this Schedule, if not shown above, will be shown in the Declarations

As required by written contract

Name of Additional Insured Person(s) or Organization(s)

SCHEDULE

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY POLICY

This endorsement modifies insurance provided by the following:

(Based on CG2026 04/13)

ADDITIONAL INSURED - DESIGNATED PERSON OR ORGANIZATION

By: LEXINGTON INSURANCE COMPANY

Issued to: FOTH INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENT, LLC

This endorsement, effective 12:01 AM 03/01/2021

ENDORSEMENT # 024

178

Item 20.



ADDITIONAL INSURED - OWNERS, LESSEES OR 

(Based on CG2037  04/13)

CONTRACTORS- COMPLETED OPERATIONS

This endorsement modifies insurance provided by the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY POLICY

SCHEDULE

Name of Additional Insured Person(s) Location of Completed Operations
or Organization(s)

# 032

Where required by contract

Information required to complete this Schedule, if not shown above, will be shown in the Declarations

A. Section II - Who Is An Insured is amended to include as an additional insured the person(s) or 
organization(s) shown in the Schedule, but only with respect to liability for "bodily injury", or 
"property damage" caused, in whole or in part, by "your work" at the location designated and 
described in the Schedule of this endorsement performed for that additional insured and included in 
the "products-completed operations hazard". 
However:

1. The insurance afforded to such additional insured only applies to the extent permitted by law; 
and

2. If coverage provided to the additional insured is required by a contract or agreement, the 
insurance afforded to such additional insured will not be broader than that which you are 
required by the contract or agreement to provide for such additional insured.

B. With respect to the insurance afforded to these additional insureds, the following is added to 
Section III - Limits Of Insurance:

If coverage provided to the additional insured is required by a contract or agreement, the most we 
will pay on behalf of the additional insured is the amount of insurance:

LX4316 (06/14) Includes Copyrighted Information of the Insurance Services
Offices, Inc., with its permission.  All Rights Reserved.

Page  of 21

By: LEXINGTON INSURANCE COMPANY

Issued to: FOTH INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENT, LLC

Forms a part of policy no.: 037205326

  

ENDORSEMENT

This endorsement, effective 12:01 AM 03/01/2021

179

Item 20.



1. Required by the contract or agreement; or
2. Available under the applicable Limits of Insurance shown in the Declarations;
whichever is less.

This endorsement shall not increase the applicable Limits of Insurance shown in the Declarations

All other terms and conditions of the policy remain the same.

Authorized Representative 

LX4316 (06/14) Includes Copyrighted Information of the Insurance Services
Offices, Inc., with its permission.  All Rights Reserved.

Page  of 22

180

Item 20.



(Based on CG2010  04/13)

PERSON OR ORGANIZATION

This endorsement modifies insurance provided by the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY POLICY

SCHEDULE

Name of Additional Insured Person(s) Location of Covered Operations
or Organization(s)

 

LX4315 (06/14) Includes Copyrighted Information of the Insurance Services
Offices, Inc., with its permission.  All Rights Reserved.

Page  of 21

All others where required by contract

exclusions apply:
With respect to the insurance afforded to these additional insureds, the following additional B.

required by the contract or agreement to provide for such additional insured.
insurance afforded to such additional insured will not be broader than that which you are 
If coverage provided to the additional insured is required by a contract or agreement, the 2.
and
The insurance afforded to such additional insured only applies to the extent permitted by law;1.

However:
designated above.
in the performance of your ongoing operations for the additional insured(s) at the location(s)

The acts or omissions of those acting on your behalf;2.
Your acts or omissions or1.

damage" or "personal and advertising injury" caused, in whole or in part, by:
organization(s) shown in the Schedule, but only with respect to liability for "bodily injury", "property 
Section II - Who Is An Insured is amended to include as an additional insured the person(s) or A.

Information required to complete this Schedule, if not shown above, will be shown in the Declarations

 

ADDITIONAL INSURED - OWNERS, LESSEES OR CONTRACTORS-SCHEDULED

By: LEXINGTON INSURANCE COMPANY

Issued to: FOTH INFRASTRUCTURE & ENVIRONMENT, LLC

Forms a part of policy no.: 037205326

 

  

This endorsement, effective 12:01 AM 03/01/2021

ENDORSEMENT # 024

181

Item 20.



This insurance does not apply to "bodily injury" or "property damage" occurring after:
1. All work, including materials, parts or equipment furnished in connection with such work, on the 

project (other than service, maintenance or repairs) to be performed by or on behalf of the 
additional insured(s) at the location of the covered operations has been completed; or

2. That portion of "your work" out of which the injury or damage arises has been put to its 
intended use by any person or organization other than another contractor or subcontractor 
engaged in performing operations for a principal as a part of the same project.

C. With respect to the insurance afforded to these additional insureds, the following is added to 
Section III - Limits Of Insurance:

If coverage provided to the additional insured is required by a contract or agreement, the most we 
will pay on behalf of the additional insured is the amount of insurance:
1. Required by the contract or agreement; or
2. Available under the applicable Limits of Insurance shown in the Declarations;
whichever is less.

This endorsement shall not increase the applicable Limits of Insurance shown in the Declarations

All other terms and conditions of the policy remain the same.

Authorized Representative 

LX4315 (06/14) Includes Copyrighted Information of the Insurance Services
Offices, Inc., with its permission.  All Rights Reserved.

Page  of 22

182

Item 20.



____________________________________________________________________________________________

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY.   PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

        COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART

1. Nonwaiver of Government Immunity. We expressly agree and state that the purchase of this
policy and the including of the City of Cedar falls, Iowa as an Additional Insured does not waiver
any of the defense of governmental immunity available to the City of Cedar falls, Iowa. Section
670-4 as it now exists and as it may amended from the time to time.

2. Claims Coverage. We further agree that this policy of insurance shall cover (subject to policy all
policy terms, conditions and exclusions) only those claims not subject to the defense of
governmental immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be
amended from time to time.

3. Assertion of Government Immunity. The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be responsible for
asserting and defense of governmental immunity, and may do so at any time and shall do so upon
the timely written request of the insurance carrier. Nothing contained in this endorsement shall
prevent us from asserting the defense of governmental immunity on behalf of the City of Cedar
Falls, Iowa.

4. Non-Denial of Coverage. We shall not deny coverage nor any of the rights and benefits accruing
to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under this policy for reasons of governmental immunity unless and
until a court of completed jurisdiction has ruled in favor of the defense(s) of governmental immunity
asserted by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.

5. No Other Change in Policy. We and the City of Falls, Iowa agree that the above preservation of
governmental immunities shall not otherwise change or alter the coverage available under the policy.

All other terms, conditions and exclusions remain the same.

183

Item 20.



LX8960 (05/13) Page 1 of 1

Authorized Representative

ADVICE OF CANCELLATION TO ENTITIES OTHER THAN THE NAMED INSURED LIMITED

TO E-MAIL NOTIFICATION

This policy is amended as follows:

In the event that the Insurer cancels this policy for any reason other than non payment of premium, and

1. The cancellation effective date is prior to this policy's expiration date; 

2. The First Named Insured is under an existing contractual obligation to notify a certificate 
holder when this policy is canceled (hereinafter, the "Certificate Holder(s)"); and has 
provided to the Insurer, either directly or through its broker of record, the email address of 
the contact at such entity, 

and the Insurer received this information after the First Named Insured receives notice of 
cancellation of this policy and prior to this policy's cancellation effective date, via an electronic 
spreadsheet that is acceptable to the Insurer, 

the Insurer will provide advice of cancellation (the "Advice") via e-mail to such Certificate Holders.

Proof of the Insurer emailing the Advice, using the information provided by the First Named Insured, 
will serve as proof that the Insurer has fully satisfied its obligations under this endorsement.

This endorsement does not affect, in any way, coverage provided under this policy or the cancellation of 
this policy or the effective date thereof, nor shall this endorsement invest any rights in any entity not 
insured under this policy.  

The following Definitions apply to this endorsement:

1. First Named Insured means the Named Insured shown on the Declarations Page of this 
policy.

2. Insurer means the insurance company shown in the header on the Declarations Page of this 
policy.

All other terms, conditions and exclusions shall remain the same.

# 017

By: LEXINGTON INSURANCE COMPANY

Issued to: FOTH & VAN DYKE, LLC

Forms a part of policy no.: 037205326

  

ENDORSEMENT

This endorsement, effective 12:01 AM 03/01/2021

184

Item 20.



ENDORSEMENT 026#

____________________________________________________________________________________________

ADVICE OF CANCELLATION TO ENTITIES OTHER THAN THE NAMED INSURED LIMITED
TO E-MAIL NOTIFICATION

This policy is amended as follows:

In the event that the Insurer cancels this policy for any reason other than non payment of premium, 
and

1.     The cancellation effective date is prior to this policy's expiration date

2.     The  First Named Insured  is  under  an existing contractual  obligation to notify  a
certificate holder when this policy is canceled (hereinafter, the "Certificate 
Holder(s)"); and has provided to the Insurer, either directly or through its broker of 
record, the email address of the contact at such entity,

and the Insurer received this information after the First Named Insured receives notice of 
cancellation of this policy and prior to this policy's cancellation effective date, via an 
electronic spreadsheet that is acceptable to the Insurer,

the Insurer will provide advice of cancellation (the "Advice") via e-mailto such Certificate 
Holders.

Proof of the Insurer emailing the Advice, using the information provided by the First Named 
Insured, will serve as proof that the Insurer has fully satisfied its obligations under 
endorsement.

This endorsement does not affect, in any way, coverage provided under this policy or the 
cancellation of this policy or the effective date thereof, nor shall this endorsement invest any 
rights in any entity not insured under this policy.

The following Definitions apply to this endorsement:

1. First Named Insured  means  the  Named Insured  shown on the  Declaration Page of  this
    policy.
2. Insurer means the insurance company shown in the header of the Declaration Page of this
    policy.

All other terms and conditions shall remain the same.

LEXDOC021
LX0404 Authorized Representative OR

Countersignature (In states where applicable)

By: LEXINGTON INSURANCE COMPANY

Issued to: FOTH & VAN DYKE, LLC

Forms a part of policy no.: 026154181

This endorsement, effective 12:01 AM 03/01/2021 

185

Item 20.



A
IO

Q
H

o
ld

e
r 

Id
e
n

ti
fi

e
r 

: 
77777
77707
07070
00777
63616
06555
33307
72637
56412
46775
07740
13555
27341
12071
77376
43653
32310
77153
72213
47332
30761
71144
76244
47407
70405
13166
30310
07160
23337
20523
30077
06057
73025
45500
77727
25202
57731
10777
77770
70007
07007
 

66666
66606
06060
00626
06466
20444
62006
22200
42402
60022
06200
22404
22620
20060
22226
24206
20000
62000
24062
26022
00620
02242
62240
02006
20000
60622
60022
06002
20426
22600
02062
20006
06220
04220
66646
06224
06644
40666
66660
60006
06006

C
e
rt

if
ic

a
te

 N
o

 :
5
7
0
0
8
8
4
2
8
9
4
5

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
 DATE(MM/DD/YYYY)        

 07/12/2021

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed. If 
SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to   the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on this 
certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS 
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES 
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED 
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

PRODUCER

Aon Risk Services Central, Inc.

Green Bay WI Office
10700 Research Drive
Suite 450
Milwaukee WI 53226 USA 

PHONE
(A/C. No. Ext):

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #

(920) 437-7123

INSURED 25615The Charter Oak Fire Insurance CompanyINSURER A:

25682The Travelers Indemnity Co of CTINSURER B:

INSURER C:

INSURER D:

INSURER E:

INSURER F:

FAX
(A/C. No.):

(920) 431-6345

CONTACT
NAME:

Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC
P.O. BOX 5095
DE PERE WI 54115-5095 USA 

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: 570088428945 REVISION NUMBER:
THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD 
INDICATED. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS 
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS, 
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS. Limits shown are as requested

POLICY EXP 
(MM/DD/YYYY)

POLICY EFF 
(MM/DD/YYYY)

SUBR
WVD

INSR 
LTR

ADDL 
INSD POLICY NUMBER  TYPE OF INSURANCE LIMITS

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

POLICY LOC

EACH OCCURRENCE

DAMAGE TO RENTED 
PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

MED EXP (Any one person)

PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

GENERAL AGGREGATE

PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: 
PRO-
JECT

OTHER:

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

ANY AUTO

OWNED 
AUTOS ONLY

SCHEDULED
 AUTOS

HIRED AUTOS 
ONLY

NON-OWNED 
AUTOS ONLY

BODILY INJURY ( Per person)

PROPERTY DAMAGE
(Per accident)

X

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

$1,000,000A 01/01/2021 01/01/2022

BUSINESS AUTO

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
(Ea accident)

8102L49594A2143G

EXCESS LIAB

OCCUR 

CLAIMS-MADE AGGREGATE

EACH OCCURRENCE

DED 

UMBRELLA LIAB

RETENTION

E.L. DISEASE-EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. DISEASE-POLICY LIMIT

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT $1,000,000

X OTH-
ER

PER STATUTEB 01/01/2021 01/01/2022

WORKERS COMPENSATION

$1,000,000

Y / N

(Mandatory in NH)

ANY PROPRIETOR / PARTNER / EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED? N / AN

WORKERS COMPENSATION AND 
EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

If yes, describe under 
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

$1,000,000

UB9H92614021

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

RE: MAIN STREET RECONSTRUCTION. CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IA IS INCLUDED AS ADDITIONAL INSURED ON A PRIMARY AND NON-CONTRIBUTORY 
BASIS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS OF THE AUTO LIABILITY POLICY. A WAIVER OF SUBROGATION IS GRANTED IN FAVOR OF THE
ADDITIONAL INSURED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS OF THE AUTO AND WORKERS COMPENSATION POLICIES. SHOULD ANY OF THE 
ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, THE POLICY PROVISIONS WILL GOVERN HOW NOTICE OF 
CANCELLATION MAY BE DELIVERED TO CERTIFICATE HOLDERS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS OF EACH POLICY.

CANCELLATIONCERTIFICATE HOLDER

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVECITY OF CEDAR FALLS
220 CLAY STREET
CEDAR FALLS IA 50613 USA 

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

©1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE THE 

EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 

POLICY PROVISIONS.

186

Item 20.



Iowa Jurisdiction:
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

ANY PROJECT

COMMERC TOIAL AU
POLICY : ISSUE D :NUMBER ATE

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY ENDORSEMENT
IOWA JURISDICTION

This endorsement i ies insurance pro ided under t folmod f v he lowing:

BUSINESS O C AGE TAUT OVER PAR

SCHEDULE

Descriptio of Project:n

The fo lowing is added tol SECT IV BUSINESSION ble for asserting any de of go menfense vern tal
AUTO C T ONS, oss Co itiONDI I A. L nd ons: i mun and must do so i requested in writm ity f ing

by us.IOWA GOV TAL IERNMEN IMMUN TY
c. For any cla m or "suit" seeking damages fro thei ma. For any cla m or "suit" seeking damages fro thei m

Iowa jurisdict scheduled in th endorsemention isIowa jurisdict scheduled in th endorsemention is
because of "bodi " or "propert da " toly injury y magebecause of co "bodil injur " or "propertyvered y y
which this insurance applies, caused by an "acci-damage" caused by an "accident" and resulting
dent" and resulting fro the ownership, ma e-m intf m the ownership, ma ntenance or use of aro i
nance or use of a co "auto" in your businessveredco "auto" in your business while on or forvered
while on or t is scheduled in thisfor any projec thatany project that is scheduled in th endorsementis
endorsement and that is located in such Iowa ju-and that is located in such Iowa jurisdiction, this
risdiction, we agree that:insurance applies only to the extent that such
(1) the purchase of this policy and includ theingclai or "suit" is not subject to any defense ofm

go menta i m ty under Code of Iowa Sec- such Iowa jurisdict lvern l m uni ion as an additiona insured
tion 670.4 and any mend that ction. under this policy does not wai any defensea ment to se ve

of go men i m ty a a lable to suchvern tal m uni v ib. For any cla m or "suit" seeking damages fro thei m
Iowa jurisdict under Code of Iowa SectionionIowa jurisdict scheduled in th endorsemention is
670.4 and any amend to ion;ment that sectbecause of "bodi " or "propert da " toly injury y mage

(2) we wil take the position that this insurancelwhich this insurance applies, caused by an "acci-
dent" and resulting fro the ownership, ma e- does not apply because of go mental im int vern m-
nance or use of a co "auto" in your business mun only a ter a cour o law ha jur s-vered ity f t f ving i
while on or t at dict o such clai or "suit" has ruled infor any projec th is scheduled in this ion ver m
endorsement and that is located in such Iowa ju- fa or o any de of go menta i mu-v f fense vern l m
risdict such Iowa jur ion wil be responsi- nity wa jurisdiction, isdict l asserted by such Io ion.

CA F0 77 03 07 2007 The Travelers Companies, Inc. Page 1 of 1

1-1-2020810-2L49594A-20

187

Item 20.



SEE CA T8 02

.

. IA 52404

30

COMMERCIAL AUTO

POLICY NUMBER: ISSUE DATE:

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

NOTICE OF CANCELLATION

This endorsement modifies insurance provided by the following:

BUSINESS AUTO COVERAGE FORM
GARAGE COVERAGE FORM
MOTOR CARRIER COVERAGE FORM
TRUCKERS COVERAGE FORM

SCHEDULE

1. Name:

Address:

2. Number of Days Notice:

(If no entry appears above, information required to complete this endorsement will be shown in the Declarations
as applicable to this endorsement.)

PROVISIONS

We will mail notice of cancellation or material limitation of these coverage forms to the person or organization
shown above. We will mail the notice at least the Number of Days indicated above before the effective date of
our action.

CA T3 25 02 99 Page 1 of 1

810-2L49594A-21 01-01-21

188

Item 20.



COMMERCIAL AUTO POLICY

** THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY. **

NOTICE OF CANCELLATION

IT IS AGREED THAT:

NOTICE OF CANCELLATION:

1. CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS PUBLIC WORKS DEP.
500 15TH AVE. SW
CEDAR RAPIDS, IA 52404
NUMBER OF DAYS NOTICE: 30

2. DES MOINES AIRPORT AUTHORITY
5800 FLEUR DRIVE , DES MOINES, IA 50321

NUMBER OF DAYS NOTICE: 30

3. CITY OF DES MOINES
400 ROBERT D RAY DR.
DES MOINES, IA 50309

NUMBER OF DAYS NOTICE: 30

4. CITY OF CEDAR RAPIDS
FINANCE DEPT. - PURCHASING SERVICES DIVISION
101 FIRST STREET, SE
CEDAR RAPIDS, IA 52401

NUMBER OF DAYS NOTICE: 30

EFFECTIVE DATE EXPIRATION DATE 

PAGE 0001

ENDORSEMENT - CA T8 02 01 16 

POLICY NUMBER 888810-2L49594A-20

01-01-2101-01-20

189

Item 20.



2.

Endorsement No.

Insured

Insurance Company Countersigned by

Number of Days Written Notice: Additional Days

Policy No.

Premium $

Endorsement Effective

This endorsement changes the policy to which it is attached and is effective on the date issued unless otherwise 
stated.  

(The information below is required only when this endorsement is issued subsequent to preparation of 
the policy.) 

0

AND

SCHEDULE

WORKERS COMPENSATION

EMPLOYERS LIABILITY POLICY

ENDORSEMENT WC 99 06 11 ( A) -

POLICY NUMBER:

NOTICE OF CANCELLATION

Except for non-payment of premium by you, we agree that no cancellation or limitation of this policy shall become 
effective until the number of day's written notice specified in item 2 of the Schedule has been mailed to you and to 
the person or organization designated in item 1 of the Schedule at the address indicated.  

ONE TOWER SQUARE
HARTFORD CT 06183

UB-9H926140-21

003

1. Name: ANY PERSON OR ORGANIZATION WITH WHOM YOU HAVE AGREED IN A WRITTEN

CONTRACT THAT NOTICE OF CANCELLATION OR MATERIAL LIMITATIONS OF
THIS POLICY WILL BE GIVEN, BUT ONLY IF:

1. YOU SEE TO IT THAT WE RECEIVE A WRITTEN REQUEST TO PROVIDE
SUCH NOTICE, INCLUDING THE NAME AND ADDRESS OF SUCH PERSON OR
ORGANIZATION, AFTER THE FIRST NAMED INSURED RECEIVES NOTICE
FROM US OF THE CANCELLATION OR MATERIAL LIMITATION OF THIS
POLICY; AND

2. WE RECEIVE SUCH WRITTEN REQUEST AT LEAST 14 DAYS BEFORE
THE BEGINNING OF THE APPLICABLE NUMBER OF DAYS SHOWN IN THIS
ENDORSEMENT.
ADDRESS
THE ADDRESS FOR THAT PERSON OR ORGANIZATION INCLUDED IN SUCH
WRITTEN REQUEST FROM YOU TO US.

NUMBER OF DAYS NOTICE
30

ST ASSIGN: Page ofDATE OF ISSUE: 1 1190

Item 20.



ONE TOWER SQUARE
HARTFORD, CT 06183

01

ANY PERSON OR ORGANIZATION FOR WHICH THE INSURED HAS

AGREED BY WRITTEN CONTRACT EXECUTED PRIOR TO LOSS TO

FURNISH THIS WAIVER.

01-27-15

WORKERS COMPENSATION

AND

EMPLOYERS LIABILITY POLICY

ENDORSEMENT WC 00 03 13 (00)-

POLICY NUMBER:

WAIVER OF OUR RIGHT TO RECOVER FROM OTHERS ENDORSEMENT

We have the right to recover our payments from anyone liable for an injury covered by this policy. We will not
enforce our right against the person or organization named in the Schedule. (This agreement applies only to the
extent that you perform work under a written contract that requires you to obtain this agreement from us.)

This agreement shall not operate directly or indirectly to benefit any one not named in the Schedule.

SCHEDULE

DESIGNATED PERSON:

DESIGNATED ORGANIZATION:

DATE OF ISSUE: ST ASSIGN:

UB-9H926140-21

191

Item 20.



 

Consultant  Main Street Reconstruction 
Project No. ____________  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

    

Exhibit C 
 

Main Street Reconstruction (6th Street to University Avenue) 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number RC-000-3283  
 

  2/9/12 
 

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN 
CONTRACTORS WHO PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS 

 
 This document outlines the Standard Terms and Conditions for all Contractors 
who perform work or services for the City of Cedar Falls under a contract.  The term, 
“Contractor,” as used in this document, includes an engineer, an architect, and any other 
design professional providing professional services to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
under a contract (but excludes construction contractors). 
 
 1. This Contract may not be modified or amended except by a writing signed 
by an authorized representative of the City of Cedar Falls and of the Contractor. 
 
 2. Time is of the essence of this Contract. 
 
 3. Contractor shall be an independent contractor with respect to the services 
to be performed under this Contract.  Neither Contractor nor its subcontractors, agents, 
or employees, shall be deemed to be employees or agents of the City. 
 
 4. Contractor shall perform all duties in accordance with all applicable 
federal, state and local laws and regulations. 
 
 5. If Contractor breaches this Contract, the City shall have all remedies 
available to it at law or in equity. 
 
 6. Severability.  If any provision of this Contract is declared invalid, illegal, or 
incapable of being enforced by any court of competent jurisdiction, all of the remaining 
provisions of this Contract shall nevertheless continue in full force and effect, and no 
provision shall be deemed dependent upon any other provision unless so expressed 
herein. 
 
 7. Assignment.  Contractor may not assign this Contract or any of its rights 
or obligations hereunder, without the prior written consent of the City, which consent 
may be withheld in the sole and absolute discretion of the City. 
 
 8. Survival of Obligations.  All obligations and duties which by their nature 
extend beyond the term of this Contract shall survive the expiration or termination of this 
Contract. 
 

192

Item 20.



 

Consultant  Main Street Reconstruction 
Project No. ____________  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

 9. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Venue and Trial.  This Contract shall be 
construed in accordance with, and all disputes hereunder shall be governed by, the laws 
of the State of Iowa, excluding its conflicts of law rules.  The parties hereto agree that 
the exclusive jurisdiction and venue shall be in the Iowa District Court for Black Hawk 
County, and in no other jurisdiction or location, and shall not be removed to federal 
court.  The parties hereby agree to waive the right to trial by jury and agree to submit all 
disputes to a trial by judge alone.  The parties agree that no disputes under this Contract 
shall be submitted to binding arbitration, but may be submitted to mediation by mutual 
consent of both parties. 
 
 10. Any failure of Contractor to comply with the Insurance Requirements for 
Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls set forth on Attachment A, shall constitute a 
default under this Contract. 
 
 11. Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event of litigation, the City shall under no 
circumstances be obligated for payment of any attorneys’ fees of Contractor or any other 
party, arising out of such litigation. 
 
 12. Payment.  Payment of Contractor’s invoices shall be due no sooner than 
thirty (30) days from the date of invoice.  In the event any invoices are not paid within 
thirty (30) days, the City shall pay interest thereon at the rate provided for by 
Section 668.13(3), Code of Iowa, computed monthly. 
 
 13. The City shall not be obligated to maintain confidentiality of Contractor 
documents or records that are furnished to the City if such documents are public records 
under the Iowa Open Records Law, Chapter 22, Code of Iowa, and the City shall have 
no responsibility to Contractor for disclosure of such records. 
 
 14. Under no circumstances shall the City waive any damages against the 
Contractor or any other party arising out of any breach of this Contract, whether 
consequential, indirect, special, or punitive damages. 
 
 15. Under no circumstances shall the Contractor’s liability to the City be 
limited to any specific amount or sum, whether that amount is the compensation paid by 
the City to the Contractor under this Contract, or the dollar amount of coverage provided 
for in the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, Attachment 
A. 
 
 16. No waiver of the City’s subrogation rights against the Contractor or any 
other party shall conflict with the provisions of the City Insurance Requirements, 
Attachment A. 
 
 17. Limitations Period.  There shall be no limitation, except as provided for by 
Iowa law, on the period of time within which the City may make any claim against the 
Contractor or other party under the provisions of this Contract. 
 
 18. This Contract shall not be binding on the City unless and until approved 
by the City Council of the City at a duly constituted meeting, and signed by the Mayor 
and City Clerk of the City. 
 

193

Item 20.



 

Consultant  Main Street Reconstruction 
Project No. ____________  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3283 

 

 19. Warranties.  Contractor represents and warrants that all services 
furnished to the City under this Contract shall be furnished in a skilled and workmanlike 
manner, in accordance with the degree of skill and care that is required by current, good 
and sound practices applicable to the Contractor’s industry or profession, and as 
otherwise required by applicable law. 
 
 20. Force Majeure.  Neither party to this Contract shall be liable to the other 
party for delays in performing the services, or for the direct or indirect cost resulting from 
such delays, that may result from acts of God, acts of governmental authorities, 
extraordinary weather conditions or other natural catastrophes, or any other cause 
beyond the reasonable control or contemplation of either party.  Each party will take 
reasonable steps to mitigate the impact of any force majeure. 

194

Item 20.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, Civil Engineer I 
 
 DATE: July 15, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: 2021 Seal Coat 
  Project No. SC-000-3272 
  Request for PS&E Approval 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs 
and Quantities for the 2021 Seal Coat Project. 
 
We recommend setting Monday, August 2nd, 2021 at 7:00 p.m. as the date and time for the 
public hearing on this project and Thursday, August 5th, 2021, at 2:00 p.m. as the date and time 
for receiving and opening bids. We also request that the Notice to Bidders be published by July 
22, 2021. The Plans and Specifications will be ready for distribution to contractors on July 22, 
2021 allowing two (2) weeks of review before contract letting. 
 
This Project involves seal coating 13 street sections, covering 29,018 S.Y.; and 24,391 S.Y. at 
multiple single lane drives within 3 cemeteries and 7 parking lots. Work shall include proper 
surface preparation and proper placement and compaction of the surface. 
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $143,728.14. Funding for the 
project is provided by the City’s Street Construction Fund (SCF) and also the Local Options 
Sales Tax (LOST).  
 
The Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities are available for your review at 
the City Clerk's office or the Engineering Division of the Public Works Department. 
 
xc: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

  

195

Item 21.



Item Item Estimated Estimated Total Unit Estimated

No. Description Unit Streets Parks Estimated Cost Cost

Quantity

1 Surface Preparation, Streets & Parks S.Y. 26,502.59 3,907.50 30,410.09 0.30 9,123.03$      

2 Seal Coat, Streets S.Y. 29,010.49 0.00 29,010.49 2.20 63,823.08

3 Seal Coat, Parks S.Y. 0.00 24,386.38 24,386.38 2.20 53,650.04

4 Pavement Markings, Painted STA. 0.72 30.48 31.20 60.00 1,872.00

5 Pavement Markings, Handicapped Symbols EA. 0.00 4.00 4.00 65.00 260.00

6 Mobilization L.S. 0.50 0.50 1.00 5,000.00 5,000.00

7 Traffic Control L.S. 0.85 0.15 1.00 10,000.00 10,000.00

TOTAL: 143,728.14$  

PROJECT NO. SC-000-3272

2021 SEAL COAT PROJECT

ENGINEER'S COST ESTIMATE

7/09/2021

196

Item 21.



 1

 

 

PROJECT PLANS & SPECIFICATIONS 

FOR THE 

SEAL COAT – 2021 PROJECT 

 

 

Project No. SC-000-3272 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 

July 2021 
  

 

 

 

  

  

 
 

 
ENGINEER'S CERTIFICATION 

 
 

 

 
I hereby certify that this engineering document was prepared by me or 
under my direct personal supervision and that I am a duly licensed 
professional engineer under the laws of the State of Iowa. 
 
 
________________________________________  Date: 7/12/2021 
David Wicke, P.E.      Iowa License No. P25684 
My license renewal date is December 31, 2022 
 
Pages or sheets covered by this seal: 1 - 39 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

197

Item 21.



 2

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
 
    Page Numbers 
 
TITLE SHEET  1 
 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 2 - 3 
 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 4 
 

NOTICE TO BIDDERS                                                                                       5 - 6 
 
DIVISION 1 – Instructions to Bidders 
 

01 Definitions & Terms 7 
 02 Qualifications of the Bidders 7 - 8 

03 Contents of the Proposal Forms 8 
04 Taxes  8 
05 Submission of the Proposal, Identity of Bidder, & Bid Security 8 - 9 
Form of Proposal 10 - 11 
Bid Bond  12 
Bidder Status Form 13 
Worksheet: Authorization to Transact Business 14 
Non-Collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder 15 
Form of Contract 16 - 17 

 
DIVISION 2 – Special Provisions 

01 Award of Contract 18 
02 Availability of Site 18 
03 Protection of Line & Grade Stakes 18 - 19 
04 Borrow & Waste Sites 19 
05 Subletting or Assignment of Contract 19 
06 Contract Time 19 
07 Work Progress & Schedule 19 
08 Weekly Record of Working Days 20 
09 Liquidated Damages 20 
10 Vouchers & Progress Payments 20 
11 Storm Water Pollutant Prevention Plan 21 
 National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 
           (NPDES) Certification 22 
12 Staging Sites 22 
13 Surface Protection 22 
14 Method of Measurement 23 

           15 Basis of Payment 24 
 16 Notice To Proceed 25 
 
 

198

Item 21.



 3

DIVISION 3 – Standard Specifications 

 
The City of Cedar Falls has adopted the 2021 edition of the Iowa “Statewide Urban 
Design and Specifications” (SUDAS) as the City’s Standard Specification. 
 
The “Standard Specification” is amended by the City of Cedar Falls’ 2021 
Supplemental Specifications to the 2021 edition of the Iowa “Statewide Urban 
Design and Specifications” (SUDAS). 

 

Links to both documents can be found on the City’s website at: 
www.cedarfalls.com/designstandards 
 

 

                                             

199

Item 21.



 4

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON PLANS, SPECIFICATIONS, 

FORM OF CONTRACT, & ESTIMATE OF COST FOR THE  

SEAL COAT - 2021 PROJECT IN THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 

TO ALL TAXPAYERS OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, & OTHER PERSONS 
INTERESTED: 
 

Public notice is hereby given that the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

will conduct a Public Hearing on Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract, and Estimated 

Total Contract Cost for the construction of the SEAL COAT – 2021 project in said City at 

the 7:00 p.m. meeting on the 2nd day of August 2021, said meeting to be held in the 

Council Chambers in the City Hall at 220 Clay St., Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

Said Plans, Specifications, Form of Contract, and Estimated Total Contract Cost are 

now on file in the office of the City Clerk in the City Hall in Cedar Falls, Iowa, and may be 

inspected by any person(s) interested. 

Any person(s) interested may appear at said meeting of the City Council for the 

purpose of making objections to said Plans, Specifications, Contract or the Estimated Total 

Contract Cost of making said improvement. 

This notice is given by order of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

    

   City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

    By: _______________________________ 

    Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
    City Clerk 

200

Item 21.



 5

NOTICE TO BIDDERS 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS PROJECT 

SEAL COAT - 2021 
 

Time & Place for Filing Sealed Proposals: Sealed proposals will be received at the City 
Clerk's office at City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa by the City Engineer or an 
authorized representative of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, before 9:00 a.m. on the 5

th
 day 

of August, 2021. 
 

Time & Place Sealed Proposals will be Opened & Considered: Sealed proposals will be 
opened and read at 9:00 a.m. on the 5

th
 day of August, 2021 in the City Council Chambers 

at City Hall, 220 Clay St., Cedar Falls, Iowa, for consideration by the City of Cedar Falls’ 
City Council at its 7:00 p.m. meeting on August 16

th
, 2021 or at such later time and place 

as may be fixed. The City of Cedar Falls reserves the right to reject any and all proposals 
including without limitation, non-conforming, non-responsive, unbalanced or conditional 
bids.  
 

Time for Commencement & Completion of Work: The work under the proposed contract 
shall commence within ten (10) calendar days after the date as set forth in the written 
Notice to Proceed and shall be performed regularly and diligently throughout the duration 
of the project. All work shall be completed within twenty-five (25) working days. Working 
days will be accumulated concurrently from the date as set forth in the written Notice to 
Proceed. 
 

Bid Security: The Form of Proposal shall be accompanied in a separate envelope by the 
Bid Security as defined in the Project Specifications, Division 1 - Instructions to Bidders, 
Section 05. 
 

Contract Documents: Plans, specifications, and proposal forms have been approved by 
the City Council and are now on file for public examination in the office of the City Clerk. 
Electronic contract documents will become available Tuesday, July 20, 2021 at no cost 
by clicking on the “Bid Opportunities” link at www.cedarfalls.com and choosing the 2021 

Seal Coat project (Quest Project #7912582) from the list. Project information, 
Engineer’s cost opinion, and plan holder information is also available at no cost at this 
website. Downloads require the user to register for a free membership at 
www.QuestCDN.com.  
Contact Matthew Tolan for document distribution or any questions via phone: 

(319) 268-5161, fax: (319) 268-5197, or email: matthew.tolan@cedarfalls.com . 
QuestCDN reference number 7912582. 
If any prospective Bidder is in doubt as to the true meaning of any parts of the contract 
documents, the Bidder may request an interpretation from the Engineer, in writing, 
either through mail, fax or email. Questions received less than five (5) days prior to the 
date for opening bids may not be answered. 
Contact individual(s) shall be as follows: 
Matthew Tolan 
Cedar Falls Engineering Department                               
220 Clay Street                                                                 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613                                                       

201

Item 21.



 6

matthew.tolan@cedarfalls.com 
 
Any interpretation of the contract documents will be made in writing and only by an 
addendum duly mailed or delivered to each prospective Bidder who received, or in the 
future requests, contract documents from Jurisdiction. Only questions answered by 
Addenda will be binding. Oral and other interpretations or clarifications will be without 
legal effect. 
 
Addenda may be issued to clarify, correct, or change the contract documents as 
deemed advisable by Jurisdiction or the Engineer. 
. 
 

Preference for Iowa Products & Labor: By virtue of statutory authority, a preference will be 
given to products and provisions grown and coal produced within the State of Iowa. 
 
In accordance with Iowa statues, a resident Bidder shall be allowed a preference as 
against a nonresident Bidder from a state or foreign country if that state or foreign country 
gives or requires any preference to Bidders from that state or foreign country, including but 
not limited to any preference to Bidders, the imposition of any type of labor force 
preference, or any other form of preferential treatment to Bidders or laborers from that 
state or foreign country. The preference allowed shall be equal to the preference given or 
required by the state or foreign country in which the nonresident Bidder is a resident. In the 
instance of a resident labor force preference, a nonresident Bidder shall apply the same 
resident labor force preference to a public improvement in this state as would be required 
in the construction of a public improvement by the state or foreign country in which the 
nonresident Bidder is a resident. 
 
Failure to submit a fully completed Bidder Status Form with the Bid may result in the Bid 
being deemed nonresponsive and rejected. 
 

Sales Tax: Contractors and approved subcontractors will be provided a Sales Tax 
Exemption Certification to purchase project materials, supplies or equipment to be used in 
the work performance of this project. Products utilized in the direct construction of this 
project will be exempt from sales tax as provided by the current Code of Iowa, Sections 
423.2 and 423.45. 
 

Project Description: This Project involves seal coating 13 street sections, covering 29,018 
S.Y.; and 24,391 S.Y. at multiple single lane drives within 3 cemeteries and 7 parking lots. 
Work shall include proper surface preparation and proper placement and compaction of 
the surface. 
 

Published upon order of the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 

   CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
   BY: __________________________ 
           Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 
 
 

202

Item 21.



 7

 

DIVISION 1 – Instructions to Bidders 

 
The work comprising the Seal Coat - 2021 project shall be constructed in accordance with 
the 2021 edition of the Iowa “Statewide Urban Design and Specifications” (SUDAS) and as 
further modified by the City of Cedar Falls’ 2021 Supplemental Specifications and the special 
provisions included in the contract documents. The terms used in the contract revision of the 
documents are defined in said Standard Specifications. 
 
Before submitting your bid, please review the requirements of “Division One, General 
Provisions and Covenants”, in particular the sections regarding proposal requirements, 
bonding, contract execution, and insurance requirements. Please be certain that all 
documents have been completed properly; as failure to complete and sign all documents and 
to comply with the requirements listed below can cause your Bid not to be read. 
 
01  Definitions & Terms 
 
Add the following to the Iowa “SUDAS” Section 1010, 1.03: 
 
Code of Iowa: The latest edition of the Iowa Code 
 
Engineer: The City Engineer of Cedar Falls, Iowa or an authorized representative. 
 
Owner: The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa; acting through its City Council. 
 
Project: SEAL COAT - 2021   Project No. SC-000-3272 
 
02  Qualifications of the Bidders 
 
Add the following to the Iowa “SUDAS” Section 1020, 1.01: 
 
To demonstrate a Bidder’s qualifications to perform the work, within five (5) days of the 
Owners request, Bidder shall submit written evidence such as may be called for below: 
 
The address and description of the Bidder’s place of business; the number of years 
engaged in the contracting business under the present firm name, and the name of the 
state where incorporated; a list of the property and equipment available to the Bidder to 
evaluate if the Bidder can complete the work in accordance with the bidding documents; a 
financial statement of the Bidder showing that the Bidder has the financial resources to 
meet all obligations incidental to the work; the Bidder’s performance record giving the 
description, location, and telephone number of similar projects constructed in a satisfactory 
manner by the Bidder; a list of projects presently under contract, the approximate contract 
amounts and the percent of completion of each; a list of contracts which resulted in 
lawsuits; a list of contracts defaulted; a statement of the Bidder indicating whether or not 
the Bidder has ever filed bankruptcy while performing work of a like nature or magnitude;  a 
list of officers of the firm who, while in the employ of the firm or the employ of previous 
firms, were associated with contracts which resulted in lawsuits, contracts defaulted or filed 
for bankruptcy; the technical experience of personnel guaranteed to be employed in 

203

Item 21.



 8

responsible charge of the work stating whether the personnel have or have not performed 
satisfactorily on other contracts of like nature and magnitude or comparable difficulty at a 
similar rate of progress; such additional information as will assist the Owner in determining 
whether the Bidder is adequately prepared to fulfill the contract. The Owner’s decision as to 
qualifications of the Bidder will be final. 
 
The Owner hereby notifies all Bidders that it will affirmatively ensure that pursuant to 
advertisement, that any disadvantaged business enterprise will be afforded full opportunity 
to submit a Proposal in response to said advertisement and will not be discriminated 
against on the grounds of race, color or national origin in consideration of the awarding of 
this Project’s Contract. 
 
03  Contents of the Proposal Forms 
 
Add the following to the Iowa “SUDAS” Section 1020, 1.02: 
 
Plans, Specifications, and a Form of Proposal may be obtained from the office of the City 
Engineer. Plans, Specifications, and the Form of Proposal have been approved by the City 
Council and are now on file for public examination in the office of the City Clerk at 220 Clay 
Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
04  Taxes 
 
Add the following to the Iowa “SUDAS” Section 1020, 1.08: 
 
Contractors and approved subcontractors will be provided a Sales Tax Exemption 
Certification to purchase project materials, supplies or equipment to be used in the work 
performance of this project. Products utilized in the direct construction of this project will be 
exempt from sales tax as provided by the current Code of Iowa Sections 423.2 and 423.45. 
 
05  Submission of the Proposal, Identity of Bidder, & Bid Security 
 
Add the following to the Iowa “SUDAS” Section 1020, 1.12: 
 
The Bid Security must be in the minimum amount of ten (10%) percent of the total bid 
amount including all add alternates (do not deduct the amount of deduct alternates).  The Bid 
Security shall be in the form of a cashier’s check or certified check drawn on a state-
chartered or federally chartered bank, or a certified share draft drawn on a state-chartered or 
federally chartered credit union, or a bidder’s bond with corporate surety satisfactory to the 
City. The Bid Bond must be submitted on the enclosed Bid Bond form, as no other bid bond 
forms are acceptable.  All signatures on the Bid Bond must be original signatures in ink; 
facsimile (fax) of any signature on the Bid Bond is not acceptable.  Bid Security other than 
said Bid Bond shall be made payable to the City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
“Miscellaneous Bank checks,” as well as “Money Orders” and “Traveler’s Checks” issued by 
persons, firms or corporations licensed under the current Code of Iowa Chapter 533B are not 
acceptable bid security. 
 

204

Item 21.



 9

The Bid shall be submitted on the Form of Proposal included herewith or on a computer 
printed proposal. All entries on the Form of Proposal shall be filled in ink, typed or 
computer printed. The Bidder shall not alter the quantity, unit price or an extension that has 
been provided for any item that has been predetermined by the contracting authority. 
 
If the proposal is computer generated, the Bidder shall submit a form titled as “Form of 
Proposal”, followed by: the project name, the project number, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
and the Bidder's name. The Form of Proposal shall then include the item numbers, 
descriptions, units, and quantities. The Bidder shall specify a unit price in figures of dollars 
and cents for all bid items, extension figures for the respective unit prices, and quantities in 
a column provided for that purpose, and the total amount of the proposal obtained by 
adding the correct extensions for each of the bid items. The Form of Proposal shall then 
conclude with the Bidder's name, the legible printed name of its representative, and the 
representative's signature. 
 
The computer generated Proposal then is to be attached to the supplied Form of Proposal, 
included herewith, which has the following entries completed: Bid Security sum and form, 
the name of the Bidder, Bidder’s official address, the legible printed name of the Bidder's 
Representative and title, and the Representative’s signature. Also, the “entry area for total 
bid” line on the supplied Form of Proposal shall be completed with the entry of "see 
attached." 
 
The Form of Proposal shall be submitted in a sealed envelope separate from the Bid 
Security, Bidder Status Form, and the Non-Collusion Affidavit. The envelope shall bear the 
return address of the Bidder and shall be addressed as follows: 
 

To: City Clerk 
City of Cedar Falls 
City Hall 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

 
Proposal for: SEAL COAT - 2021 

Project No.: SC-000-3272 
 

205

Item 21.



 10

 

Form of Proposal 

Seal Coat - 2021 
Project No. SC-000-3272 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 

 

To the Mayor and City Council 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
The undersigned hereby certifies that __________________________ have personally 

and carefully examined the Specifications, General Conditions, and Form of Contract 

annexed hereto. Having made such examination, the undersigned hereby proposes to 

construct the improvements for the SEAL COAT - 2021 project in accordance with the 

Plans and Specifications on file in the office of the City Clerk, the published Notice to 

Bidders, and the Form of Contract, herewith, complying with all the laws of the State of 

Iowa; and the Rules, Regulations, and Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls; and to the 

satisfaction of the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, thereof at the following 

prices, to-wit: 

Bid 
Item # Description Units Quantity Unit Price 

Extended 
Price 

1  Surface Preparation S.Y. 30,417     

2  Seal Coat, Streets S.Y. 29,018     

3  Seal Coat, Cemeteries & Parks S.Y. 24,391     

4  Pavement Markings, Painted STA. 31.20   
 
 

5 
 Pavement Markings,  
Handicapped Symbols EA. 4.00    

6  Mobilization L.S. 1.00   
  
 

7  Traffic Control L.S. 1.00     

Total Bid  

206

Item 21.



 11

Bidders may not independently bid on selective items of work. On this project, all items 
constitute one (1) indivisible work that will be awarded to one (1) Bidder. A unit price shall 
be submitted for all of the bid items; number one (1) thru seven (7). The successful Bidder 
will be determined by evaluating the sum of correct unit price extensions. Failure to submit 
a bid on any item shall be just cause for disqualification of the entire proposal. Unit prices 
must be filled in ink, typed or computer generated, or the proposal will be rejected. The 
Owner reserves the right to delete any part of or all of any bid item. 
 

The Owner reserves the right to reject any and all proposals, including without limitation, 
non-conforming, non-responsive, unbalanced or conditional bids. The Owner further 
reserves the right to reject the proposal of any Bidder whom it finds, after reasonable 
inquiry and evaluation, to be non-responsive. The Owner may also reject the Proposal of 
any Bidder if the Owner believes that it would not be in the best interest of the project to 
make an award to that Bidder. The Owner also reserves the right to waive all informalities 
not involving price, time or changes in the work. 
 

If written notice of approval of award is mailed, telegraphed or delivered to the undersigned 
within thirty (30) calendar days after the Bid opening thereof, or any time thereafter before 
this proposal is withdrawn, the undersigned agrees to execute and deliver an agreement in 
the prescribed form and furnish the required Bond within ten (10) calendar days after the 
Contract is presented to the Contractor for signature; and start work within ten (10) 
calendar days after the date as set forth in the written "Notice to Proceed", as issued. 
 

Bid Security in the sum of _________________________________ in the form of  
 
__________________________________ is submitted herewith in accordance with the 
Instructions to Bidders. 
 

The Bidder is prepared to submit a financial and experience statement upon request. 
 

The Bidder has received the following Addendum or Addenda: 
 

Addendum No.  ______________     Date _____________ 
Addendum No.        ______________     Date   _____________ 
Addendum No.        ______________     Date   _____________ 
 

The Bidder has filled in all blanks on this Proposal. 
 

Note: The Penalty for making false statements in offers is prescribed in 18 U.S.A., Section 
1001. 
 
Name of Bidder: 
 
________________________________  _____________________________ 

   By: 
 

________________________________  _____________________________  
Official Address:   Title:  

207

Item 21.



 12

BID BOND 
 

 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that we, ___________________________________________ 
__________________________, as Principal, and ___________________________________________ 
as Surety are held and firmly bound unto the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as Obligee, hereinafter called "OBLIGEE," In the 
penal sum of______________________________________ Dollars ($______________) lawful money of the United 
States, for the payment of which sum will and truly be made, we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, administrators, and 
successors, jointly and severally, firmly by these presents. Whereas the Principal has submitted the accompanying bid 
dated the _______ day of_______________________, 20_____, for ______________________________________ 
____________________________________________________________________________________. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, 
 
(a) If said Bid shall be rejected, or in the alternate, 
 
(b) If said Bid shall be accepted and the Principal shall execute and deliver a contract in the form specified and shall 

furnish a bond for the faithful performance of said contract, and for the payment of all persons performing labor 
or furnishing materials in connection therewith, and shall in all other respects perform the agreement created by 
the acceptance of said Bid, 

 
Then this obligation shall be void, otherwise the same shall remain in force and effect; it being expressly understood and 
agreed that the liability of the Surety for any and all claims hereunder shall, in no event, exceed the penal amount of this 
obligation as herein stated. 
 
By virtue of statutory authority, the full amount of this bid bond shall be forfeited to the Obligee in liquidation of damages 
sustained in the event that the Principal fails to execute the contract and provide the bond as provided in the 
specifications or by law. 
 
The Surety, for value received, hereby stipulates and agrees that the obligations of said Surety and its bond shall be in 
no way impaired or affected by any extension of the time within which the Obligee may accept such Bid or execute such 
contract; and said Surety does hereby waive notice of any such extension. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Principal and the Surety, have hereunto set their hands and seals, and such of them as 
are corporations, have caused their corporate seals to be hereto affixed and these presents to be signed by their proper 
officers this ______ day of ____________________, A.D., 20_____. 
 
 
 

_________________________________ (Seal) 
Principal 

 
 
_______________________________________ By_______________________________ (Title) 
Witness 

_________________________________ (Seal) 
Surety 

 
_______________________________________ By____________________________________ 
Witness                                  Attorney-in-fact 

208

Item 21.



 13

 

 

 

 

 

 

209

Item 21.



 14

 
 

 

 

 

 

210

Item 21.



 15

NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT OF PRIME BIDDER           

Project No. SC-000-3272 
 
STATE OF _______________________  

                           ss 
COUNTY OF _____________________ 
 
 
__________________________________, being first duly sworn, deposes and says that: 
 
(1)  We are _______________________________________________________ of ______________       
     (owner, partner, officer, representative, or agent) 
 
_____________________________, the Bidder that has submitted the attached bid: 
 
(2)  We are fully informed respecting the preparation and contents of the attached bid and of all pertinent 
circumstances respecting such bid: 
 
(3)   Such bid is genuine and is not a collusive or sham bid: 
 
(4)  Neither the said Bidder nor any of its officers, partners, owners, agents, representatives, employees or 
parties in interest, including this affiant, has in any way colluded, conspired, connived or agreed, directly or 
indirectly, with any other Bidder, firm or person to submit a collusive or sham bid in connection with the 
Contract for which the attached bid has been submitted or to refrain from bidding in connection with such 
Contract, or has in any manner, directly or indirectly, sought by agreement or collusion or communication or 
conference with any other Bidder, firm or person to fix the price or prices in the attached bid or of any other 
Bidder, or to fix any overhead, profit or cost element of the bid price of any other Bidder, or to secure through 
any collusion, conspiracy, connivance, or unlawful agreement any advantage against the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, or any person interested in the proposed Contract; and 
 
(5)   The price or prices quoted in the attached bid are fair and proper and are not tainted by a collusion, 
conspiracy, connivance or unlawful agreement on the part of the Bidder or any of its agents, representatives, 
owners, employees or parties in interest, including this affiant. 
 
 
 
   __________________________________________ 

Signed      
  __________________________________________ 

    Title 
 
 
Subscribed and sworn to before me 
 
this _______ day of ________________, 20_____ 
 
________________________________________ 
 
_________________________________________ 
Title 
 
My Commission expires ______________________. 

211

Item 21.



 16

 

FORM OF CONTRACT 
 

This Contract entered into in quadruplicate at Cedar Falls, Iowa, this ____ day of 

_________, 2021, by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter called the 

Owner, and_____________ of ___________________, hereinafter called the Contractor. 

WITNESSETH: 

The Contractor hereby agrees to furnish all labor, tools, materials, and equipment, 

and construct the public improvement consisting of the: SEAL COAT - 2021 project, 

Project No. SC-000-3272, all in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, ordered to be constructed by 

the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, by Resolution duly passed on the 2
nd

    

day of August  2021, and shown and described in the Plans and Specifications therefore 

now on file with the City Clerk of said City. 

Said improvement shall be constructed strictly in accordance with said Plans and 

Specifications. 

The following parts of the Plans and Specifications for said Project No. SC-000-

3272 will be made a part of this contract as fully as though attached hereto or set out 

herein verbatim: 

a. Resolution of Necessity 
b. Resolution ordering construction of the improvement  
c. Plans 
d. Notice of Public Hearing on Plans & Specifications 
e. Notice to Bidders 
f. Instructions to Bidders 
g. Supplemental Conditions 
h. General Conditions 
i. Project Specifications 
j. Form of Proposal 
k. Performance Bond 
l. Form of Contract 
 
 

212

Item 21.



 17

m. Non-Collusion Affidavit of Prime Bidder 
n.  Bidder Status Form 
o.  Notice To Proceed Form 
 

 

     In Witness whereof, this Contract has been executed in quadruplicate on the date first 

herein written.   

 
 __________________________ 
 Contractor 

 
 
    CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
    By____________________________ 

    Robert M. Green, Mayor 
 
 
Attest: _________________________ 
 Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
 City Clerk  
 

213

Item 21.



 18

DIVISION 2 – Special Provisions 

 
Special Provisions are intended to amend or supplement the General Provisions and 
Covenants of the Iowa 2021 edition of SUDAS, Standard Specifications, and the City of 
Cedar Falls’ 2021 Supplemental Specifications to Iowa 2021 edition of SUDAS. All 
sections that are not amended or supplemented remain in full force and effect. 
 
01  Award of Contract 
 
Add the following to the Iowa “SUDAS” Section 1030, 1.03: 
 
The successful bidder will be required to furnish a Performance Bond in the sum equal to 
one hundred (100%) percent of the total proposal.  
 
02  Availability of Site 
 
Add the following to the Iowa “SUDAS” Section 1050, 1.04: 
 
Forty-eight (48 hrs.) hours prior to work on a project segment that allows regular parking, 
the Contractor shall post temporary (light duty non-waterproof cardboard) “No Parking” 
signage; obtained from the City of Cedar Falls’ Public Safety Department, at 4600 South 
Main Street Road.  It is the Contractor’s responsibility to install signs on Contractor’s 
uprights (wooden lathes), protect the signs from any inclement weather, if needed; and 
provide the proposed work dates on the signs. 
 
During construction of this project, the Contractor will be required to coordinate all work 
operations with the City of Cedar Falls Municipal Operations & Programs Department, 
project Contractors, and / or others involved with, but not limited to, the following projects 
and events: 
 

1) Municipal Operations street subgrades repair, patching, & preparation 
2) Municipal Programs parks areas subgrade repair, patching, & preparation 
3) 2021 Street Reconstruction Project 
4) College Hill Arts Festival - July 18 & 19  
5) Public grade schools begin (tentative) - August 12 - September 1 
6) University of Northern Iowa (UNI) fall classes begin  - August 20 

 
03  Protection of Line and Grade Stakes 
 
Add the following to the Iowa “SUDAS” Section 1050, 1.10: 
 
The Contractor shall notify the Engineer at least forty-eight (48 hrs.) hours prior to the need 
for survey stakes. The Contractor shall be responsible for preserving all survey stakes and 
marks; and if any survey stakes or marks are destroyed or disturbed by the Contractor, the 
Contractor will be charged for the replacement costs. Final project payment will only be 
eligible following the Contractor’s payment of said replacement costs. 
 

214

Item 21.



 19

 
04  Borrow and Waste Sites 
 
Add the following to the Iowa “SUDAS” Section 1070, 2.13: 
 
It shall be the Contractor's responsibility to provide waste areas or disposal sites for excess 
material which is not desirable to be incorporated in the work involved on this project. The 
Engineer will review all proposed disposal sites, prior to their use, to determine 
acceptability. No payment for overhaul will be allowed for material hauled to these sites. 
Overhaul will not be measured or paid for but shall be considered incidental to pay items 
on this project. 
 
05  Subletting or Assignment of Contract 
 
Add the following to the Iowa “SUDAS” Section 1080, 1.01: 
 
The Contractor's own organization shall perform work amounting to not less than thirty 
(30%) percent of the total contract cost unless otherwise specified. Items designated as 
specialty items may be performed by subcontract; and the cost of any such specialty items, 
as performed by subcontract, may be deducted from the total cost before computing the 
amount of work required by the Contractor's own organization. Any items that have been 
selected as specialty items for the contract are listed, as such, in the Special Provisions. 
 
 

06  Contract Time 
 
Add the following to the Iowa “SUDAS” Section 1080, 1.02: 
 
The work on the Contract shall commence within ten (10) calendar days of the date as set 
forth in the written Notice to Proceed and shall be completed within twenty-five (25) working 
days. 
 
 

07  Work Progress and Schedule 

 
Add the following to the Iowa “SUDAS” Section 1080, 1.03: 

 
The progress of the work shall be such that at the expiration of one-fourth (1/4) of the 
working days, one-eighth (1/8) of the work shall be completed; at the expiration of one-half 
(1/2) of the working days, three-eighths (3/8) of the work shall be completed; at the 
expiration of three-fourths (3/4) of the working days, the work shall be three-fourths (3/4) 
completed, and the whole work shall be completed at the expiration of the working days. 
 

08  Weekly Record of Working Days 
 
Add the following to the Iowa “SUDAS” Section 1080, 1.06: 
 

215

Item 21.



 20

Work, on project site areas to be seal coated, shall not begin before seven o’clock (7:00 
a.m.) in the morning and shall stop at the time of sunset.  
 
 
09  Liquidated Damages 
 
Add the following to the Iowa “SUDAS” Section 1080, 1.12: 
 
Liquidated damages in the amount of eight hundred ($800.00) dollars per working day will 
be assessed for each working day that the work remains uncompleted after the 
accumulation of the number of working days specified for the contract work. Final project 
payment will only be eligible following the Contractor’s payment of said cost of liquidated 
damages. 
 
 
10  Vouchers and Progress Payments 
 
Add the following to the Iowa “SUDAS” Section 1090, 1.01: 
 
Before final payment is made, the Contractor shall supply “original certifications” to the 
Engineer, for all materials supplied, which indicate that the materials are in full 
conformance with the Base Specifications as amended and supplemented. The Contractor 
shall also furnish, to the Engineer, “original vouchers” with original signatures showing that 
all subcontractors and all persons furnishing labor and materials have been fully paid for 
such materials and labor; and that the City may retain the last payment for a period of 
ninety (90) calendar days following such completion and approval; unless satisfied that all 
materials and all laborers have been fully paid for. 
 

Payment to the Contractor will be made in cash from such cash funds of said City as may 
be legally used for said purposes; including the proceeds of the Local Option Sales Tax 
and the proceeds of General Obligation Bonds. Other combinations of funds may be used 
at the discretion of the City Council. 
 

A pay estimate will be submitted to the City Council for approval on the first (1st) and the 
third (3rd) Mondays of each month. 
 

216

Item 21.



 21

11  Pollutant Prevention Plan 
 
1. Site Description 
 
This Project involves the work for seal coat construction which includes all materials, labor, 
and equipment use necessary to complete the work. See attached plans. 
 
2. Erosion and Sediment Controls 
 
All contractors and subcontractors operating on the work sites shall take efforts to prevent 
contamination of storm water runoff, groundwater, and soils by hazardous material and / or 
pollutants caused by their operations or encountered in their work. All waste materials and 
supplies must be removed from the sites and disposed of in a proper lawful manner. If 
construction equipment maintenance or repair is performed on any site, provisions must be 
made to capture and remove any lubricants or other fluids and dispose of in a proper lawful 
manner. 
 
The Contractor shall notify the Owner immediately upon finding a hazardous material 
contamination either existing at the site or caused by construction activities. 
 
The Contractor and every Subcontractor shall be responsible to the Owner to: 
 

1. Execute Contractor’s part of the Storm Water Pollutant Prevention Plan as 
described. 
 

2. Conduct all work activities to not damage an existing erosion control 
measure or stabilizing vegetation.  If damages occur, the Contractor shall 
make repairs with no additional cost to the Owner. 
 

 3. Coordinate with the Owner for installation of additional erosion control 
measures that may be needed during or at the conclusion of construction. 

 
 
 

217

Item 21.



 22

National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Certification 

Project No. SC-000-3272 
 
The Contractor certifies under penalty of law that Contractor understands the terms and 
conditions of the general National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit 
that authorizes the storm water discharges associated with industrial activity from the 
construction site as part of this certification. Further, by signing and entering into contract 
for this work, the Contractor understands that Contractor is becoming a co-permittee, along 
with the Owner and other contractors and subcontractors, to the Iowa Department of 
Natural Resources “NPDES” General Permit No. 2 for “Storm Water Discharge Associated 
with Industrial Activity for Construction Activities” at the identified sites. As co-permittee, the 
Contractor understands that they and their company are legally required under the Clean 
Water Act and the Code of Iowa, to ensure compliance with the terms and conditions of the 
Storm Water Pollutant Prevention Plan developed under the “NPDES” permit and the 
terms of the “NPDES” permit. 
 

12 Staging sites 
 
Four (4) staging sites are available to the Contractor. One site is approximately three 
hundred (300’) feet east of Cameo Street on the south side of Lake Street. The Lake Street 
site is a storage yard with an unimproved surface and has a locked gate. Other sites 
available, following the Contractor’s protecting of all storm sewer intakes from illicit storm 
water discharge, are at the east end of Capital Way and the west end of Technology 
Parkway; these two sites are on 30’ wide P.C.C. paving and ending in rock cul-de-sacs. 
Two more sites are at the east and west ends of Poplar Hollow Lane off of Arbors Drive; 
these are on 30’ wide P.C.C. paving that dead end. The approximate areas of each of 
these four (4) paved street sites are thirty (30’) feet wide by one hundred forty (140’) feet 
long and are non-lockable. The Contractor shall determine if a staging site is ample for the 
purpose(s) intended. After all project work is completed, each staging site utilized, by the 
Contractor, shall be returned to an original condition that is acceptable to the Project 
Engineer and the Owner. Any damage(s) to the staging site(s) or any adjacent areas that 
the Project Engineer attributes to the use of the site(s) by the Contractor shall be restored 
by the Contractor; at no additional cost to the Owner. The Project Engineer’s condition 
determination(s) of areas pertinent to the use of the staging sites will be final. 
 
 13 Surface protection   
 
At a minimum of forty-eight (48 hrs.) hours prior to any surface placement, on street 
sections with project work having a posted speed limit greater than twenty-five (25 mph) 
miles per hour, the Contractor shall post temporary twenty-five (25 mph) miles per hour 
signage, being sustainable during high wind, wet weather events, at intervals not to exceed 
six hundred (600’) feet; or closer, if so warranted per the Contractor. The “temporary speed 
control installation” shall remain in place until the surface becomes stable enough to show 
no “stripping of aggregate” at the regular speed limit(s). At the Contractor’s option, a “pilot 
car system” may also be used in conjunction with the temporary speed limit signing. 
Surface protection will be incidental to the Traffic Control Bid Item. Construction Ahead and 
Reduced Speed signage shall also be properly placed ahead of the work area and warn of 

218

Item 21.



 23

the upcoming work area. The Contractor shall also, in conjunction, cover all of the existing 
higher speed permanent control signage by a means that is sustainable during high wind, 
wet weather events.  
 
14  Method of Measurement 
 
The Engineer will measure the items of work that have been acceptably constructed as 
specified in the contract documents for the Seal Coat - 2021 project in accordance with the 
2021 edition of the Iowa “STATEWIDE URBAN DESIGN AND SPECIFICATIONS” 
(SUDAS) as amended by the City of Cedar Falls’ 2021 Supplemental Specifications to the 
2021 edition of the Iowa “STATEWIDE URBAN DESIGN AND SPECIFICATIONS 
(SUDAS), except as amended or supplemented as follows: 
 
Item No. 1 – Surface Preparation 
The area of surface preparation will be computed in square yards (S.Y.) from surface 
measurements. 
 
Item No. 2 – Seal Coat, Streets  
The area of one course seal coat will be computed in square yards (S.Y.) from surface 
measurements. 
 
Item No. 3 – Seal Coat, Cemeteries & Parks  
The area of one course seal coat will be computed in square yards (S.Y.) from surface 
measurements. 
 
Item No. 4 – Pavement Markings, Painted 
Painted pavement markings will be measured as per the current “I.D.O.T. Specification” 
Section 2527.04, A., 1. 
 
Item No. 5 – Pavement Markings, Handicapped Symbols 
Painted handicapped symbols will be measured, on a per each basis, as per the current 
“I.D.O.T. Specification” Section 2527.04, A., 4. 
 
Item No. 6 - Mobilization 
Mobilization will be measured as per “SUDAS Standard Specification” Division 1, Section 
1090, 1.05, D. 
 
Item No. 7 – Traffic Control 
Traffic control will be measured on a lump sum (L.S.) basis, as per the current “I.D.O.T. 
Specification” Section 2528.04, A. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

219

Item 21.



 24

15  Basis of Payment 

 
Payment for the items listed in the Method of Measurement will be determined by 
multiplying the item quantity (as determined in the Method of Measurement) by the unit 
price, as bid, on the Form of Proposal for the Seal Coat – 2021 project in accordance 
with the 2021 edition of the Iowa “STATEWIDE URBAN DESIGN AND 
SPECIFICATIONS” (SUDAS) as amended by the City of Cedar Falls’ 2021 
Supplemental Specifications to the 2021 edition of the Iowa “STATEWIDE URBAN 
DESIGN AND SPECIFICATIONS” (SUDAS), except as amended or supplemented as 
follows: 
 
Item No. 4 – Pavement Markings, Painted 
Pavement markings, painted will be paid for as per the current “I.D.O.T. Specification” 
2527.05, A., 1. The number of stations (Sta.) of painted pavement markings of the type 
specified and placed with traffic paint, including both temporary and permanent marking, 
the Contractor will be paid the contract unit price per station (Sta.). 
 
Item No. 5 – Pavement Markings, Handicapped Symbols 
Pavement markings, handicapped symbols will be paid for as per the current “I.D.O.T. 
Specification” 2527.05, A., 4.; with the following modification: For each painted symbol of 
the type specified and placed with the type of traffic paint specified in the contract 
documents, the Contractor will be paid the contract unit price. 
 

Item No. 7 - Traffic Control 
Traffic Control will be paid for as per the current “I.D.O.T. Specification” Section 2528.05, 
A., 1. 

 

220

Item 21.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS  
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com  

NOTICE TO PROCEED 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 TO:  
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE:  August 20, 2021 
 
 RE: 2021 Seal Coat Project 

  SC-000-3272 
 
You are hereby notified to commence WORK in accordance with the Agreement dated    August 16th     , 
2021, within ten (10) calendar days of    August 20th   , 2021 and you are to complete the WORK as 
follows: furnish all labor, material and equipment necessary for construction of the 2021 Seal Coat 
Project. 
 
The work under the proposed contract shall commence within ten (10) calendar days after the date set 
forth in this written Notice to Proceed and shall be performed regularly and diligently through the duration 
of the project.  
 
Liquidated damages in the amount of eight hundred ($800.00) dollars per working day will be assessed 
for each working day that the work remains uncompleted after the accumulation of the number of working 
days specified for the contract work. Final project payment will only be eligible following the Contractor’s 
payment of said cost of liquated damages. 
. 
This project has been approved by: 
 
City of Cedar Falls 
 
 
Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II         Date 
 
xc:  David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

221

Item 21.



Index/Plan

Sht. No.  Description

26  Plan Format Title Sheet

27-28  General Notes

29  Area Tabulations

30-34  Quantity Tabulations

MAYOR 35  Pavement Markings Tabulation

Robert M. Green 36  LOCATION MAP

37  Fairview Cemetary, drives I.D.

38  Greenwood Cemetary, drives I.D.

39  Hillside Cemetary, drives I.D.

Location/

COUNCIL MEN & WOMEN Map No. Public Works (Street) Areas (rev. 7/08/21)

Dave Sires 40 South Cottage Row Road, patch only (1st seal)

Frank Darrah 42 Union Road, 1,904/3,457 S. W. 27th St.

Susan deBuhr 43 Skyview Drive, N. Union Rd. E. to park entrance

Mark Miller 44 Cooley Street, W. dead end E. to City Limits

Daryl Kruse 45 Cedar Street, Center St. E. to Woodlawn Ave.

Simon Harding 46 Woodlawn Avenue, Woodlawn S. to Longview St.

Kelly Dunn 47 Beech Avenue, Roosevelt St. W. to dead end

48 Roosevelt Street, E. 1st St. S. to dead end

49 Bronson Court, Grand Blvd. S. to Rainbow Dr.

50 Grand Boulevard, Bronson Ct. E. to Parrish St.

Chase Schrage 51 Grand Boulevard, Parrish St. E. to City Limits

Director, Public Works 52 Ford Road, Fitkin Rd. S. to W. Lone Tree Rd.

53 Scenic Drive, Cottonwood to S. Dead End

David Wicke, P.E. 54 Scenic Drive, Cottonwood to N. Dead End

City Engineer 41 South Cottage Row Road, patch only (2nd seal)

Matthew Tolan Public Works (parks) Areas (rev. 7/09/21)

Project Engineer 55 Birdsall Park, Lower Park Lot (patch 1st seal)

56 309 E. 4th Street, Lot (1st seal)

37 Fairview Cemetery, partial

38 Greenwood Cemetery, partial

39 Hillside Cemetery, partial

59 Park Drive Trail-head lot

60 Prairie Lakes Park, SE, SE lot & drive

61 Washington Park (3 patch areas)

64 Big Woods Lake, SE lot, E. 1/2

65 Big Woods Lake, SW lot & drive

58 Birdsall Park, Lower Parking Lot (seal on A.C.C.)

57 309 E. 4th Street, Lot (2nd seal)

SEAL COAT - 2021 PROJECT

Project No. SC-000-3272

PROJECT PLAN

26

222

Item 21.



27 

 General Notes 

 

1) The "Engineer", as indicated in these plans, is defined as: 

The City Engineer of Cedar Falls, Iowa or an authorized representative 

Engineering Division 

City Hall, 220 Clay Street 

Cedar Falls, Iowa  50613 

(1-319-268-5161)   

2) The Contractor, in the absence of its principle field agent, shall have on the work site at all times 

as the Contractor’s agent, a competent Superintendent, capable of reading and thoroughly 

understanding the plans, specifications, and other contract documents; said Superintendent 

shall be thoroughly experienced in the type of work being performed.  The Superintendent shall 

supervise, direct, and control the Contractor's operations, all personnel, all work, and the 

coordination of all work of the sub-contractor(s).  The Superintendent shall have full authority to 

execute orders or directions of the Engineer without delay; and to promptly supply such 

materials, equipment, tools, labor, and incidentals as may be required.  The Contractor shall give 

the Engineer written notification of the name and all contact information of the Superintendent.  

The Superintendent’s copy of the specifications, plans, and other contract documents that are 

needed to perform the work shall be available on the project site(s) at all times. 

3) It is the Contractor's responsibility to maintain all existing storm and sanitary sewer systems in 

an open and functioning original condition during all phases of the work.  Any cost(s) associated 

with maintaining the existing systems including cleaning, removing debris, and necessary repairs 

resulting from the Contractor's operations will be the Contractor's responsibility.   

4) During construction work of this project, the Contractor will be required to coordinate all 

operations with those of other contractors working within the same areas including, but not 

limited to, the following projects and events: 

• Public Works; street patching & preparation 

• Public Works; parks areas patching & preparation 

• Street Construction - 2021 project, RC-000-3227 

• 2021 Sanitary Sewer Lining project, SA-000-3254 

• 2021 Sidewalk and Trail Infill, SW-000-3266 

• 2021 CFU Patching project, RS-000-3275 

• Sidewalk Assessment – 2021, SW-000-3237 

• University of Northern Iowa (UNI) spring classes end - May 5, 2021 

• Public grade school classes end (tentative) - May 31, 2021 

• Sturgis Falls Celebration - June 24-27, 2021 

• College Hill Arts Festival (tentative) - July 23 & 24, 2021 

• Public grade school classes begin (tentative) - August 24, 2021 

• University of Northern Iowa (UNI) fall classes begin - August 20, 2021 

5) The Contractor shall notify the Engineer of all proposed traffic control changes prior to any 

change being made so that all emergency authorities, and public and private entities that would 

most likely be impacted, can be notified. 

223

Item 21.



28 

 

 

   

General Notes  

 

6) The Contractor shall not use any property owner's water, electricity or utility without written 

permission from that property owner. Prior to the use of any property owner’s water, electricity 

or utility, a copy of the written permission must be submitted to the Project Engineer. 

7) The Contractor shall furnish all necessary traffic control devices and the costs shall be incidental 

to the Traffic Control bid item on this project.  All traffic control devices shall conform to the 

latest revision of the Part VI (Temporary Traffic Control) of the Manual on Uniform Traffic 

Control Devices (MUTCD).  All temporary "No Parking" signs shall be removed after each phase 

of work, on a street segment, is done and all barricades erected for each phase of work, on a 

street segment, shall be removed or otherwise dismantled to prevent driver apathy.  Safety 

closures shall conform to I.D.O.T. Specification 2518.  The Contractor’s use of flaggers and pilot 

cars, when use is chosen by the Contractor to achieve surface stability and prevent “stripping of 

aggregate” at the regular speed limit and/or to limit the Contractor’s liability in protecting the 

public, shall be incidental to the Traffic Control bid item.   

8) The State of Iowa Statewide Urban Design and Specifications (SUDAS) for public improvements, 

2021 Edition with the exception of the State of Iowa SUDAS Division 4, Section 4060, 3.04, D. 

and the current City of Cedar Falls’ 2021 Supplemental Specifications to the 2021 SUDAS 

specifications shall apply to the work performed on this project.  

9) This design presumes temporary stockpiling of materials can be accomplished within the limits 

of the multiple City staging sites provided for this improvement. The Contractor may elect to 

procure private staging easements outside of the City staging and work areas at the Contractor’s 

own expense to facilitate the work. Prior to the use of a Contractor procured private staging 

easement, a copy of the written easement permission must be submitted to the Engineer. The 

Contractor shall determine if a City staging site has ample area for the purpose(s) intended. 

After all project work is completed, each staging site utilized, by the Contractor, shall be 

returned to an original condition that is acceptable to the Project Engineer and the Owner. Any 

damage(s) to the staging site(s) or any adjacent areas that the Project Engineer attributes to the 

use of the site(s) by the Contractor shall be restored by the Contractor; at no additional cost to 

the Owner. The Project Engineer’s condition determination(s) of areas pertinent to the use of 

staging sites will be final.   

10) The Contractor shall leave each work site free of debris at the end of EACH working day. The 

Contractor shall clean up each portion of the total work area as it is completed.  The Contractor 

shall clean up and remove all rubbish, debris, and surplus material(s).  The Contractor shall leave 

all sites in a neat condition acceptable to the Engineer and the Owner.   

11) The Contractor shall not disturb any desirable grass areas or any desirable trees. Any cost(s) 

associated with any disturbance and necessary repair(s) and/or replacement(s), to restore the 

condition(s) equal to or better than original, as determined by the Engineer, resulting from the 

Contractor's operations shall be the Contractor's responsibility. 

 

224

Item 21.



SEAL COAT - 2021 PROJECT

Area Tabulation

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

Lo
ca

ti
o

n
 A

re
a

 

N
u

m
b

e
r

Item

S
u

rf
a

ce
 P

re
p

a
ra

ti
o

n
, 

P
a

rk
s,

 S
tr

e
e

ts
 &

 

D
ri

v
e

w
a

y
s

O
n

e
 C

o
u

rs
e

 S
e

a
l 

C
o

a
t,

 S
tr

e
e

ts
 &

 

D
ri

v
e

w
a

y
s

O
n

e
 C

o
u

rs
e

 S
e

a
l 

C
o

a
t,

 P
a

rk
s

P
a

v
e

m
e

n
t 

M
a

rk
in

g
s,

 

P
a

in
te

d

P
a

v
e

m
e

n
t 

M
a

rk
in

g
s,

 

H
a

n
d

ic
a

p
 S

y
m

b
o

ls

M
o

b
il

iz
a

ti
o

n

T
ra

ff
ic

 C
o

n
tr

o
l

S.Y. S.Y. S.Y. Sta. Ea. L.S. L.S.

Public Works (parks) Areas:

37 Fairview Cemetery, partial 0 --- 2,780 --- --- 0.052051 0.017096

38 Greenwood Cemetery, partial 0 --- 6,074 --- --- 0.113726 0.037354

39 Hillside Cemetery, partial 0 --- 1,779 --- --- 0.033309 0.010941

56 309 E. 4th Street, Storage Areas (seal 1) 0 --- 1,331 --- --- 0.024921 0.008185

55 Birdsall Park SE lot, seal on patch area 0 --- 548 --- --- 0.010260 0.003370

59 Park Drive Trailhead lot 0 --- 1,324 --- --- 0.024790 0.008142

60 Prairie Lakes Park, small SE lot & entrance 0 --- 794 --- --- 0.014866 0.004883

61 Washington Park, 4 patches on drive 1,442' E. of entry lot 905 --- 905 --- --- 0.016945 0.005566

64 Big Woods Lake, South, west lot 628 --- 628 --- --- 0.011758 0.003862

65 Big Woods Lake, South, east lot, east 1/2 only 2,376 --- 2,376 --- --- 0.044487 0.014612

57 309 E. 4th Street, Storage Areas (seal 2) 0 --- 1,331 --- --- 0.024921 0.008185

58 Birdsall Park SE lot 0 --- 4,521 30.48 4 0.084649 0.027803

                                                                                                                         

Public Works (streets) Areas:

40 South Cottage Row Rd. (seal 1) 0 1,166 --- --- --- 0.021832 0.034155

42 Union Road 4,140 4,140 --- --- --- 0.077515 0.121270

43 Skyview Drive 5,580 5,580 --- 0.72 --- 0.104477 0.163450

44 Cooley Street 862 862 --- --- --- 0.016140 0.025250

45 Cedar Street 692 692 --- --- --- 0.012957 0.020270

46 Woodlawn Avenue 707 707 --- --- --- 0.013237 0.020710

47 Beech Avenue 2,561 2,561 --- --- --- 0.047951 0.075017

48 Roosevelt Street 1,070 1,070 --- --- --- 0.020034 0.031343

49 Bronson Court 396 396 --- --- --- 0.007414 0.011600

50 Grand Boulevard 419 419 --- --- --- 0.007845 0.012273

51 Grand Boulevard 1,095 1,095 --- --- --- 0.020502 0.032075

52 Ford Road 8,340 8,340 --- --- --- 0.156153 0.244297

54 Scenic Drive (N. of Cottonwood Ln.) 646 646 --- --- --- 0.012095 0.018923

53 Scenic Drive (S. of Cottonwood Ln.) 0 178 --- --- --- 0.003333 0.005214

41 South Cottage Row Rd. (seal 2) 0 1,166 --- --- --- 0.021832 0.034155

Parks Areas, Subtotal: 3,909

Street Areas, Subtotal: 26,508

Totals: 30,417 29,018 24,391 31.20 4.00 1.00 1.00

Bid Item Number

29

225

Item 21.



 Public Works (Street) Areas:

Area 

Desig.
Areas Location Length Width Area (SY)

40a S. Cottage Row Rd. (seal 1) 218' S. of Cottage Row Rd. 400' S. of Cottage Row Rd. 182 16.0 323.56

40b S. Cottage Row Rd. (seal 1) 400' S. of Cottage Row Rd. 849' S. of Cottage Row Rd. 459 16.5 841.50

42a Union Road (seal 1) 1904' S. of to 3,45.5' S. of W. 27th St. 1,553 24.0 4,140.00

43a Skyview Drive N. radius @ Union Rd. 5.37

43b Skyview Drive S. radius @ Union Rd. 5.37

43c Skyview Drive North Union Road east 1,957' 1,957 19.5 4,240.17

43d Skyview Drive 1,957' E. of N. Union Rd. E. 613' (toward park lot) 613 19.5 1,328.17

44a Cooley Street West dead end E. to Park Drive 247 14.0 384.22

44b Cooley Street Park Drive East City Limits 307 14.0 477.56

45a Cedar Street Center Street E. curve S. beginning 226 24.0 602.67

45b Cedar Street curve S. beginning curve S. midpoint 35 20.0 77.78

45c Cedar Street N. radius @ Center St. --- --- 5.37

45d Cedar Street S. radius @ Center St. --- --- 5.37

46a Woodlawn curve S. midpoint curve S. ending 35 16.0 62.22

46b Woodlawn curve S. ending 300 19.0 633.33

46c Woodlawn W. radius @ Longview St. --- --- 5.37

46d Woodlawn E. radius @ Longview St. --- --- 5.37

47a Beech Avenue W. dead end E. to Roosevelt St. 1,275 18.0 2,550.00

47b Beech Avenue N. radius @ Roosevelt St. --- --- 5.37

47c Beech Avenue S. radius @ Roosevelt St. --- --- 5.37

48a Roosevelt Street W. 55' radius @ E. 1st St. --- --- 72.26

48b Roosevelt Street E. 55' radius @ E. 1st St. --- --- 72.26

48c Roosevelt Street W. 25' radius @ E. 1st St. --- --- 54.52

48d Roosevelt Street E. 25' radius @ E. 1st St. --- --- 54.52

48e Roosevelt Street East 1st Street S. to dead end 306 24.0 816.00

49a Bronson Court Grand Blvd. S. to Rainbow Dr. 251 14.0 390.44

49b Bronson Court E. radius @ Grand Blvd. --- --- 5.37

50a Grand Boulevard Bronson Court E. to W. curb Parrish St. 153 24.0 408.00

50b Grand Boulevard NW. radius @ Parrish St. --- --- 5.37

50c Grand Boulevard SW. radius @ Parrish St. --- --- 5.37

51a Grand Boulevard NE. radius @ Parrish St. --- --- 5.37

51b Grand Boulevard SE. radius @ Parrish St. --- --- 5.37

51c Grand Boulevard E. curb Parrish St. E. East City Limits 319 24.0 850.67

51d Grand Boulevard E. curb Parrish St. E. to East City Limits 75 28.0 233.33

Length of areas (ft.) : 8,293 Street

Length of areas (mi.) : 1.57 Areas: 18,682.98

Project sections will be marked in the field, as necessary, per the Engineer.

Quantity Tabulation # 1

SEAL COAT - 2021 PROJECT

30

226

Item 21.



 Public Works (Street) Areas:

Area 

Desig.
Areas Location Length Width Area (SY)

52a Ford Road radius @ Lone Tree Road 5.37

52b Ford Road 0' to 100' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 21.0 233.33

52c Ford Road 100' to 200' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 20.5 227.78

52d Ford Road 200' to 300' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 20.5 227.78

52e Ford Road 300' to 400' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 21.0 233.33

52f Ford Road 400' to 500' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 20.5 227.78

52g Ford Road 500' to 600' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 20.5 227.78

52h Ford Road 600' to 700' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 20.0 222.22

52i Ford Road 700' to 900' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 200 19.0 422.22

52j Ford Road 900' to 1,000' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 18.5 205.56

52k Ford Road 1,000' to 1,100' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 18.5 205.56

52l Ford Road 1,100' to 1,200' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 19.5 216.67

52m Ford Road 1,200' to 1,300' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 19.0 211.11

52n Ford Road 1,300' to 1,400' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 19.0 211.11

52o Ford Road 1,400' to 1,500' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 20.0 222.22

52p Ford Road 1,500' to 1,600' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 19.5 216.67

52q Ford Road 1,600' to 1,700' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 18.5 205.56

52r Ford Road 1,700' to 2,100' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 400 18.0 800.00

52s Ford Road 2,100' to 2,200' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 18.5 205.56

52t Ford Road 2,200' to 2,300' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 19.5 216.67

52u Ford Road 2,300' to 2,400' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 18.5 205.56

52v Ford Road 2,400' to 2,500' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 17.5 194.44

52w Ford Road 2,500' to 2,600' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 18.5 205.56

52x Ford Road 2,600' to 2,800' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 200 19.0 422.22

52y Ford Road 2,800' to 2,900' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 19.5 216.67

52z Ford Road 2,900' to 3,000' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 19.5 216.67

52aa Ford Road 3,000' to 3,100' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 19.5 216.67

52ab Ford Road 3,100' to 3,200' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 20.0 222.22

52ac Ford Road 3,200' to 3,300' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 19.5 216.67

52ad Ford Road 3,300' to 3,400' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 19.5 216.67

52ae Ford Road 3,400' to 3,500' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 20.0 222.22

52af Ford Road 3,500' to 3,600' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 100 19.5 216.67

52ag Ford Road 3,600' to 3,895' N. of Lone Tree Rd. 295 19.0 622.78

54a Scenic Drive N. dead end S. to Cottonwood Lane 408 14.0 634.67

54b Scenic Drive W. rad. @ Cottonwood Ln. --- --- 5.37

54c Scenic Drive E. rad. @ Cottonwood Ln. --- --- 5.37

53a Scenic Drive Cottonwood Ln. S. 200' 200 8.0 177.78

41a S. Cottage Row Rd. (seal 2) 218' S. of Cottage Row Rd. 400' S. of Cottage Row Rd. 182 16.0 323.56

41b S. Cottage Row Rd. (seal 2) 400' S. of Cottage Row Rd. 849' S. of Cottage Row Rd. 459 16.5 841.50

Page 31 Subtotals : 5,144 10,327.50

Subtotal from Page 30: 8,293 18,682.98

Length of areas (ft.) : 13,437 Total Street

Length of areas (mi.) : 2.54 Areas: 29,010.48

Project sections will be marked in the field, as necessary, per the Engineer.

SEAL COAT - 2021 PROJECT

Quantity Tabulation # 2

31

227

Item 21.



 Public Works (Parks) Areas:

Area 

Desig.
Areas

drive, 

I.D.
Location Length Width Area (SY)

37a Fairview Cemetery FCA, from FC2 south to FC4 366 10.0 406.67

37b Fairview Cemetery FCA,  two (2) radii 10.74

37c Fairview Cemetery FCA, from FC4 south to FC5 319 10.0 354.44

37d Fairview Cemetery FCB, from FC4 south to FC5 318 10.0 353.33

37e Fairview Cemetery FCB,  two (2) radii 10.74

37f Fairview Cemetery FCE, from FC3 south to FC4 280 10.0 311.11

37g Fairview Cemetery FCE,  two (2) radii 10.74

37h Fairview Cemetery FCF, from 12th St. south to FC1 195 10.0 216.67

37i Fairview Cemetery FCF, from FC1 south to FC2 262 10.0 291.11

37j Fairview Cemetery FC1,  two (2) radii 10.74

37k Fairview Cemetery FC1, from FCB east to FCC 114 10.0 126.67

37L Fairview Cemetery FC1, from FCC east to FCF 137 10.0 152.22

37m Fairview Cemetery FC4,  two (2) radii 10.74

37n Fairview Cemetery FC4, from FCA east to FCB 111 10.0 123.33

37o Fairview Cemetery FC4, from FCB east to FCC 109 10.0 121.11

37p Fairview Cemetery FC4, from FCC east to FCE 132 10.0 146.67

37q Fairview Cemetery FC5, from FCA east to FCB 110 10.0 122.22

39a Hillside Cemetery HCA, from HC2 south to HC3 146 10.0 162.22

39b Hillside Cemetery HCA,  two (2) radii 10.74

39c Hillside Cemetery HCA, from HC3 south to HC4 133 10.5 155.17

39d Hillside Cemetery HCA, from HC4 south to E. Lone Tree Rd. 223 10.0 247.78

39e Hillside Cemetery HCB, from HC2 south to HC3 145 10.5 169.17

39f Hillside Cemetery HCB,  two (2) radii 10.74

39g Hillside Cemetery HCB, from HC3 south to HC4 133 11.0 162.56

39h Hillside Cemetery HCB, from HC4 south to E. Lone Tree Rd. 223 10.0 247.78

39i Hillside Cemetery HC3, from HCA to HCB 263 9.0 263.00

39j Hillside Cemetery  four (4) radii 21.48

39k Hillside Cemetery HC4, from HCA to HCB 263 10.5 306.83

39L Hillside Cemetery  four (4) radii 21.48

56a  309 E. 4th Street  seal 1 1,330.80

55a Birdsall Park, SE Lot patch area seal 210 10.0 233.33

55b Birdsall Park, SE Lot patch area seal 113 25.0 313.89

Page 32 Subtotals :                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           4,305 6,436.22

Length of areas (ft.) : 4,305 Parks

Length of areas (mi.) : 0.82 Areas: 6,436.22

Project sections will be marked in the field, as necessary, per the Engineer.

SEAL COAT - 2021 PROJECT

Quantity Tabulation # 3

32

228

Item 21.



 Public Works (Parks) Areas:

Area 

Desig.
Areas

drive, 

I.D.
Location Length Width Area (SY)

38a Greenwood Cemetery GC2, from GCB east to GCD 287 13.0 414.56

38b Greenwood Cemetery GC3, from GCA east to GCB 200 11.0 244.44

38c Greenwood Cemetery GC3, from GCB east to GCC 122 11.0 149.11

38d Greenwood Cemetery GC3, from GCC east to GCE 268 11.0 327.56

38e Greenwood Cemetery GC3, from GCE east to GCH  Seal Coated yr. 2020

38f Greenwood Cemetery GCS2, conc. E. GCJ east to GCK 426.5 11.5 544.97

38g Greenwood Cemetery GCS3, from GCJ east/se. to GCK 276 8.0 245.33

38h Greenwood Cemetery GCS3,  two (2) radii 10.74

38i Greenwood Cemetery GC4, from street east to GCA 65 11.0 79.44

38j Greenwood Cemetery GC4,  four (4) large radii 32.22

38k Greenwood Cemetery GC5, from GCA east to GCB 180 12.0 240.00

38L Greenwood Cemetery GC5,  one (1) large radii 8.05

38m Greenwood Cemetery GC5, from GCB east to GCC 123 12.0 164.00

38n Greenwood Cemetery GC5, from GCC east to 10' west of GCE 261 11.7 339.30

38o Greenwood Cemetery GC5, 10' E of GCE east to concrete west of GCG 183 11.0 223.67

38p Greenwood Cemetery GC8, including GCH, west 140' 140 40.0 622.22

38q Greenwood Cemetery GC8, E. edge GCH east to midpt. curve to GCJ 211 11.0 257.89

38r Greenwood Cemetery GCA, from GC3 south to GC4 160 10.5 186.67

38s Greenwood Cemetery GCA, from GC4 south to GC5 113 12.5 156.94

38t Greenwood Cemetery GCB, from GC2 south to GC3 120 12.0 160.00

38u Greenwood Cemetery GCB,  two (2) radii 10.74

38v Greenwood Cemetery GCB, from GC3 south to GC5 280 10.0 311.11

38w Greenwood Cemetery GCC, from GC3 south to GC5 282 14.5 454.33

38x Greenwood Cemetery GCC,  four (4) radii 21.48

38y Greenwood Cemetery GCC, from GC5 south to GC8 160 9.0 160.00

38z Greenwood Cemetery GCC,  four (4) large radii 32.22

38aa Greenwood Cemetery GCJ, conc. S. GCS3 south to GC5 246 10.0 273.33

38bb Greenwood Cemetery GCJ,  two (2) radii 10.74

38cc Greenwood Cemetery GCJ, conc. S. GCS3 south to  concrete N. of GC5 195 9.5 205.83

38dd Greenwood Cemetery GCJ, conc. S. GC5 south to  midpt. curve to GC8 140 12.0 186.67

57a  309 E. 4th Street  seal 2 1,330.80

Page 33 Subtotals :                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           4,439 7,404.37

Subtotal from Page 32 : 8,293 6,436.22

Length of areas (ft.) : 12,731 Parks

Length of areas (mi.) : 2.41 Areas: 13,840.59

Project sections will be marked in the field, as necessary, per the Engineer.

SEAL COAT - 2021 PROJECT

Quantity Tabulation # 4

33

229

Item 21.



 Public Works (Parks) Areas:

Area 

Desig.
Areas Location Length Width Area (SY)

59 Park Drive Trailhead Lot 1,150' E./ Oakland intersect.

59a Park Drive Trailhead Lot  lot 134 51.5 766.78

59b Park Drive Trailhead Lot  lot 58 64 412.44

59c Park Drive Trailhead Lot  drive 15 43 71.67

59d Park Drive Trailhead Lot  radius 62.13

59e Park Drive Trailhead Lot  radius 5.37

59f Park Drive Trailhead Lot  radius 5.37

60 Prairie Lakes Park  small SE lot & entrance

60a Prairie Lakes Park 124 23 316.89

60b Prairie Lakes Park 18 48.5 97.00

60c Prairie Lakes Park 48.5 70.5 379.92

61 Washington Park  seal "4 patches", main drive

61a Washington Park  west low patch area 120 21.0 280.00

61b Washington Park  patch area @ drive to south 125 29.0 402.78

61c Washington Park  patch north of 10' wide trail 60 21.0 140.00

61d Washington Park  10' wide trail crossing drive NO SEAL COAT 0 0.0 0.00

61e Washington Park  patch south of 10' wide trail 35 21.0 81.67

65a Big Woods Lake, S., West lot  lot 75 64.0 533.33

65b Big Woods Lake, S., West lot  drive and three (3) radii 94.34

64a Big Woods Lake, S., East lot  east 1/2 only of East lot 149.5 143.0 2,375.39

58a Birdsall Park, SE Lot west 242' 242 128.25 3,448.50

58b Birdsall Park, SE Lot  east 100' 50 64.0 355.56

58c Birdsall Park, SE Lot  east 100' 50 129.0 716.67

Page 34 Subtotals : 10,545.79

Subtotal from Page 33: 13,840.59

Length of areas (ft.) : 1,304 Total Parks

Length of areas (mi.) : 0.25 Areas: 24,386.38

Project sections will be marked in the field, as necessary, per the Engineer.

SEAL COAT - 2021 PROJECT

Quantity Tabulation # 5

34

230

Item 21.



 SEAL COAT - 2021 PROJECT

Item

B
ro

k
e

n
 L

a
n

e
 L

in
e

 

(Y
e

ll
o

w
)

E
d

g
e

 L
in

e
 (

W
h

it
e

)

E
d

g
e

 L
in

e
 (

Y
e

ll
o

w
)

N
o

 P
a

ss
in

g
, 

N
o

rt
h

/E
a

st
/B

o
u

n
d

N
o

 P
a

ss
in

g
, 

S
o

u
th

/W
e

st
/B

o
u

n
d

S
o

li
d

 P
a

rk
in

g
 L

in
e

s 

(W
h

it
e

)

S
to

p
 B

a
rs

  
  

  
  

  
 

(W
h

it
e

)

R
.R

. 
C

ro
ss

in
g

  
e

n
d

 

b
a

rs
 @

 s
y

m
b

o
ls

  

(w
h

it
e

)

R
.R

. 
C

ro
ss

in
g

  

S
y

m
b

o
l(

s)
 (

w
h

it
e

)

H
a

n
d

ic
a

p
p

e
d

  

S
y

m
b

o
l(

s)

Sta. Sta. Sta. Sta. Sta. Sta. Sta. Sta. Each Each

Public Works (parks) Areas:

37 Fairview Cemetery, partial

38 Greenwood Cemetery, partial

39 Hillside Cemetery, partial

56 309 E. 4th Street, Storage Areas (seal 1)

55 Birdsall Park SE lot, seal on patch area

59 Park Drive Trailhead lot

60 Prairie Lakes Park, small SE lot & entrance

61 Washington Park, 4 patches on drive 1,442' E. of entry lot

65 Big Woods Lake, South, west lot

64 Big Woods Lake, South, east lot, east 1/2 only

57 309 E. 4th Street, Storage Areas (seal 2)

58 Birdsall Park SE lot 30.48 4.00

Public Works (streets) Areas:

South Cottage Row Rd. (seal 1)

42 Union Road                  

43 Skyview Drive 0.12

44 Cooley Street

45 Cedar Street

46 Woodlawn Avenue

47 Beech Avenue

48 Roosevelt Street

49 Bronson Court

50 Grand Boulevard

52 Ford Road

54 Scenic Drive (N. of Cottonwood Ln.)

53 Scenic Drive (S. of Cottonwood Ln.)

41 South Cottage Row Rd. (seal 2)

Subtotals, field measure 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 30.48 0.12 0.00 0.00 4.00

Item Multipliers 0.25 1.00 1.00 1.25 1.25 1.00 6.00 3.00 1.00 1.00

Subtotals, adjusted 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 30.48 0.72 0.00 0.00 4.00

Stations Total 31.20

Symbol Count Total 0.00 4.00

Pavement Markings, Painted Tabulation

35

231

Item 21.



232

Item 21.



233

Item 21.



234

Item 21.



235

Item 21.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, Civil Engineer I 
 
 DATE: July 15, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: 2021 Street Patching Project 
  Project No. RS-000-3275 
  Request for PS&E Approval 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs 
and Quantities for the 2021 Street Patching Project 
 
We recommend setting Monday, August 2nd, 2021 at 7:00 p.m. as the date and time for the 
public hearing on this project and Thursday, August 5th, 2021, at 2:00 p.m. as the date and time 
for receiving and opening bids. We also request that the Notice to Bidders be published by July 
22, 2021. The Plans and Specifications will be ready for distribution to contractors on July 22, 
2021 allowing two (2) weeks of review before contract letting. 
 
This project involves the construction of forty-six (46) utility patches on existing City streets. 
Work shall include 644 SY removal and replacement of the existing pavement; 117 tons of HMA 
patches; 104.24 LF of PCC Curb and Gutter replacement; subgrade preparation; and 
replacement of driveway approaches and pedestrian ramps. Traffic control and flaggers will be 
required on some of this project.  
 
The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $288,409.85. The project will be 
funded by Cedar Falls Utilities.  
 
The Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities are available for your review at 
the City Clerk's office or the Engineering Division of the Public Works Department. 
 
xc: David Wicke, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

  

236

Item 22.



ITEM# DESCRIPTION UNITS QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL

1 REMOVAL OF PAVEMENT S.Y. 677.05 30.00$          20,311.50$    

2 REMOVAL OF CURB & GUTTER L.F. 92.64 10.00$          926.40$          

3 REMOVAL OF DRIVEWAY S.Y. 13.13 80.00$          1,050.40$       

4 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK S.Y. 43.05 13.00$          559.65$          

5 SAW CUTTING FOR REMOVALS L.F. 2110.07 15.00$          31,651.05$    

6 EXCAVATION, CLASS 10 C.Y. 214.73 40.00$          8,589.20$       

7 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 2.0 FT. WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 53.1 49.00$          2,601.90$       

8 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 2.5 FT. WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 39.84 50.00$          1,992.00$       

9 CURB, PCC 7 IN. 3.0 FT. WIDTH, TYPE "C" CLASS III L.F. 11.3 80.00$          904.00$          

10 MODIFIED SUBBASE C.Y. 214.73 65.00$          13,957.45$    

11 TOPSOIL, FURNISH & SPREAD C.Y. 3.078 95.00$          292.41$          

12 HYDRAULIC SEEDING S.Y. 28.14 30.00$          844.20$          

13 DRIVEWAY, P.C.C., 6 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 13.13 115.00$        1,509.95$       

14 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 4 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 41.12 85.00$          3,495.20$       

15 SIDEWALK, P.C.C., 6 IN., CLASS "C" S.Y. 1.933 275.00$        531.58$          

16 PEDESTRIAN RAMPS, DETECTABLE WARNING S.F. 48 1,000.00$    48,000.00$    

17 UTILITY PATCH, P.C.C., TYPE "C" CLASS III S.Y. 644.32 150.00$        96,648.00$    

18 UTILITY PATCH, HMA (ST),  PG58-28S TONS 117.738 120.00$        14,128.56$    

19 COMPACTION OF SUBGRADE S.Y. 677.05 8.00$            5,416.40$       

21 TRAFFIC CONTROL L.S. 1 35,000.00$  35,000.00$    

ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE 

2021 STREET PATCHING PROJECT

RS-000-3275

TOTAL 

ESTIMATE
288,409.85$  

237

Item 22.



238

Item 22.



239

Item 22.



240

Item 22.



241

Item 22.



242

Item 22.



243

Item 22.



244

Item 22.



245

Item 22.



246

Item 22.



247

Item 22.



248

Item 22.



249

Item 22.



250

Item 22.



251

Item 22.



252

Item 22.



253

Item 22.



254

Item 22.



255

Item 22.



256

Item 22.



257

Item 22.



258

Item 22.



259

Item 22.



260

Item 22.



261

Item 22.



262

Item 22.



263

Item 22.



264

Item 22.



265

Item 22.



266

Item 22.



267

Item 22.



268

Item 22.



269

Item 22.



270

Item 22.



271

Item 22.



272

Item 22.



273

Item 22.



274

Item 22.



275

Item 22.



276

Item 22.



277

Item 22.



278

Item 22.



279

Item 22.



280

Item 22.



281

Item 22.



282

Item 22.



283

Item 22.



284

Item 22.



285

Item 22.



   FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

 M E M O R A N D U M 
Public Records Division 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Jacque Danielsen, City Clerk 

 DATE: July 8, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Parking Ordinance Amendments 

 
Please find attached proposed parking ordinance amendments that were discussed at 
the July 6, 2021 Committee of the Whole. This ordinance will reestablish four hours of 
free parking in the downtown municipal parking lots and continue paid parking in two 
municipal parking lots in the college hill area, except during the months of June & July. 
This ordinance will also allow for the permanent relocation of the College Hill Farmers 
Market. 
 
Please feel free to contact me with questions regarding these proposed amendments. 
Thank you. 
  
     

286

Item 23.



Page 1 of 5 

CODE OF ORDINANCES 

CHAPTER 23 – TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES 

ARTICLE IV. STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING 

DIVISION 2. PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS, EQUIPMENT, OPERATIONS AND 

FACILITIES 

Sec. 23-413. Parking time limits in parking enforcement districts. 

(a) Generally. 

(1) Except as otherwise provided in this division, Uunrestricted parking is allowed in a 
municipal lot unless a sign is posted by the city advising that the lot is a paid 
parking lot. If posted as a paid parking lot, parking is prohibited unless an 
appropriate city issued permit is purchased, or unless legal parking time is 
purchased by means of a parking meter, pay station or mobile application.  

(2) Except as otherwise provided in this division, unrestricted parking is allowed on a 
public street in a parking enforcement district unless a sign is posted by the city 
advising that a parking space is a paid parking space. If posted as a paid parking 
space, parking is prohibited unless legal parking time is purchased by means of a 
parking meter, pay station or mobile application.  

(3) Rates for paid parking in a parking enforcement district shall be adopted by 
resolution of the city council and appropriately posted giving notice of said rates.  

(4) The schedule of fines for violations of this division shall be in the same amount as 
stated in section 23-356.  

 (b) Enforcement times—Downtown parking enforcement district. 

When signs are posted giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a paid 
parking space shall be restricted and enforced between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 
8:00 p.m., Monday through Saturday. The provisions of this subsection shall not apply 
on the following named holidays: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, 
Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day.  

(c) Enforcement times—College Hill parking enforcement district. 

When signs are posted giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a paid 
parking space shall be restricted and enforced between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 
6:00 p.m., Monday through Friday. The provisions of this section shall not apply on the 
following named holidays: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor 
Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, and during the months of June and July.  

Sec. 23-414. Use of funds collected from parking operations and enforcement. 

(a) Funds derived from the operation and enforcement of parking shall be used for the 
following purposes and none other:  

(1) Payment of the cost of acquisition, installation, maintenance, repair and operation 
of equipment, signs and other devices to regulate and enforce parking laws.  

287

Item 23.



 

Page 2 of 5 

(2) Payment of the cost of acquiring, by purchase, lease or similar arrangement, 
parking lots, facilities or other off-street parking areas, including operation, 
enlargement or improvement thereof or the facilities thereof, and widening or 
altering the streets to provide additional parking facilities.  

(3) Retirement of revenue bonds.  

(b) All revenues derived from parking enforcement operations not required for the payment 
of costs under subsection (a) of this section shall be expended for the improvement of 
existing facilities or the acquisition and improvement of additional off-street parking 
areas, provided that such funds may be retained and accumulated for such purpose for 
such length of time and in such amount as may be reasonably necessary to effectuate 
such program of acquisition of parking lots or other off-street parking areas.  

Sec. 23-415. Parking violations. 

It shall be unlawful and a violation of the provisions of this division for any person to:  

(1) Cause, allow, permit or suffer any vehicle registered in the name of or operated by 
such person to be parked overtime or beyond the period of legal parking time 
established or purchased.  

(2) Permit any vehicle to remain or be placed in a parking space beyond the period 
prescribed for such parking space. Moving a vehicle to another parking space 
within the same hundred block of the same street or within the same municipal 
parking lot that results in total cumulative parking time beyond the period 
prescribed for such parking space, shall be a violation.  

(3) Park any vehicle across any line or marking of a parking space or in such position 
that the vehicle is not entirely within the area designated by such lines or 
markings. Where angle or straight-in parking is provided, a vehicle must be parked 
entirely between the lines or markings with one of the front wheels of the vehicle 
touching the bumper block or curb, if one exists.  

(4) Deface, injure, tamper with, open or willfully break, destroy or impair the 
usefulness of any parking equipment or device installed under the provisions of 
this division. Violation of this provision shall be considered a simple misdemeanor 
as provided for in section 23-23.  

Sec. 23-416. Notice of parking violation. 

Parking enforcement personnel of the city shall attach to the vehicles in violation of this 
division a notice to the owner or operator thereof stating that such vehicle has been parked 
in violation of this division and informing the owner or operator of the amount of the fine, 
how the fine may be paid, and the penalty for failure to pay the fine.  

Sec. 23-417. Report of parking violations. 

It shall be the duty of the parking enforcement personnel of the city, acting in 
accordance with instructions issued by the city clerk and as approved by the council, to 
report the following:  

(1) The location of the vehicle that is or has been parking in violation of any of the 
provisions of this division.  

288

Item 23.



 

Page 3 of 5 

(2) The state license number of such vehicle.  

(3) The time during which such vehicle is parking in violation of any of the provisions 
of this division.  

(4) Any other facts which are necessary to a thorough understanding of the 
circumstances attending such violation.  

Sec. 23-418. Parking permits for municipal parking lots or parking facilities. 

Generally. The owner or operator of a motor vehicle may obtain a parking permit for 
use in the off-street municipal parking lots or facilities. Parking permits may be assigned to 
a specific parking lot or facility, and may vary in price. Parking permit fees shall be 
established from time to time by resolution of the city council. The parking permit is to be 
displayed in the lower left-hand corner of the windshield of the vehicle unless the owner or 
operator of the vehicle has properly registered the license plate of the vehicle with the 
parking enforcement agency designated by the city. The purchase and proper 
display/registration of a parking permit, as required in this subsection shall entitle the motor 
vehicle to be parked in the designated off-street municipal parking lot or facility for a period 
of up to 48 consecutive hours without penalty for overtime parking.  

Sec. 23-419. Two-hour limit on parking in certain parking spaces on certain streets. 

(a) Downtown parking enforcement district. 

(1) When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a 
designated parking space shall be limited to a total of two hours of parking 
between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 8:00 p.m., Monday thru Saturday, except on 
the following named holidays: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, 
Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, on the following streets or 
portions of streets within the city:  

a. Main Street from First Street to Sixth Street.  

(2) Each consecutive two-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains 
illegally parked as provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and 
distinct offense.  

(b) College Hill parking enforcement district. 

(1) When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a 
designated parking space shall be limited to a total of two hours of parking 
between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m., Monday thru Friday, except on the 
following named holidays: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, 
Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, on the following streets or 
portions of streets within the city:  

a. College Street from 20
th 

Street to 22
nd 

Street  

b. 23rd Street from that portion of said street adjacent to 1019 West 23rd Street 
west to Merner Avenue.  

c. Anywhere within the 22
nd 

Street East - North and 20
th 

Street East - Plaza 
municipal parking lots.  

289

Item 23.



 

Page 4 of 5 

(2) Each consecutive two-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains 
illegally parked as provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and 
distinct offense.  

Sec. 23-420. Three-hour limit on parking in certain parking spaces on certain streets. 

Downtown parking enforcement district. 

(1) When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a 
designated parking space shall be limited to a total of three hours of parking 
between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 8:00 p.m., Monday thru Saturday, except on 
the following named holidays: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, 
Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, on the following streets or 
portions of streets within the city:  

a. Second Street from State Street to Clay Street.  

b. Third Street from State Street to Clay Street.  

c. Fourth Street from State Street to Washington Street.  

d. Fifth Street from State Street to Washington Street.  

e. State Street from Second Street to Fourth Street.  

f. Washington Street from First Street to Sixth Street.  

g. Sixth Street from Washington Street west to the alley between Clay Street 
and Washington Street.  

(2) Each consecutive three-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle 
remains illegally parked as provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate 
and distinct offense.  

Sec. 23-421. One-hour limit on parking in certain parking spaces. 

College Hill parking enforcement district. 

(1) When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a 
designated parking space shall be limited to a total of one hour of parking for each 
vehicle between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m., Monday thru Friday, except 
on the following named holidays: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence 
Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, on the following portions 
of streets within the city:  

a. 23rd Street from College Street west to and including that portion of West 
23rd Street adjacent to 1009 West 23rd Street.  

b. College Street from 22nd Street to 23rd Street.  

c. Within the 23
rd 

Street East municipal parking lot.  

(2) Each consecutive one-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains 
illegally parked as provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and 
distinct offense.  

290

Item 23.



 

Page 5 of 5 

 

NEW SECTION 

Sec. 23-422. Four-hour limit on parking in certain parking spaces in certain municipal 

parking lots. 

Downtown parking enforcement district. 

(1) When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a 
designated parking space shall be limited to a total of four hours of parking for 
each vehicle between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 8:00 p.m., Monday thru 
Saturday, except on the following named holidays: New Year's Day, Memorial 
Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, in the 
following municipal parking lots within the city:  

a. Second Street East municipal parking lot.  

b. Second Street West municipal parking lot. 

c. Third Street East municipal parking lot. 

d. Third Street West municipal parking lot. 

e. Fifth Street West municipal parking lot. 

(2) Each consecutive four-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains 
illegally parked as provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and 
distinct offense.  

 

Sec. 23-4232. Parking prohibited in portions of certain parking spaces the 22
nd 

street 

west municipal parking lot during certain hours.  

(1) When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle shall 
be prohibited in the 20 angled parking spaces located in the northeast leg of the 
22

nd 
Street West municipal parking lot on Thursday afternoons only commencing 

with the first Thursday of June of each year and continuing through the last 
Thursday of October of each year during the hours of 2:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m. on 
the following portions of streets and municipal parking lots: 

 a. Anywhere within the 22
nd

 Street East-North municipal parking lot.  

 b. West 22
nd

 Street from Olive Street to College Street. 

 

291

Item 23.



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by: Jacque Danielsen, City Clerk, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613, (319)273-8600 

 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING THE FOLLOWING SECTIONS OF DIVISION 2, 

PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS, EQUIPMENT, OPERATIONS AND 

FACILITIES, OF ARTICLE IV, STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING, OF CHAPTER 

23, TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 23-413, PARKING TIME LIMITS IN PARKING 

ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS, 23-415, PARKING VIOLATIONS, 23-422, PARKING 

PROHIBITED IN PORTIONS OF THE 22ND STREET WEST MUNICIPAL LOT DURING 

CERTAIN HOURS; AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF THE FOLLOWING 

SECTIONS OF DIVISION 2, PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS, EQUIPMENT, 

OPERATIONS AND FACILITIES, OF ARTICLE IV, STOPPING, STANDING AND 

PARKING, OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 23-413, PARKING TIME 

LIMITS IN PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS, 23-415, PARKING VIOLATIONS, 

23-422, FOUR-HOUR LIMIT ON PARKING IN CERTAIN PARKING SPACES IN 

CERTAIN MUNICIPAL LOTS, 23-423, PARKING PROHIBITED IN CERTAIN 

PARKING SPACES DURING CERTAIN HOURS.  

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

       Section 23-413, Parking time limits in parking enforcement districts, Section 23-415, 

Parking violations, and Section 23-422, Parking prohibited in portions of the 22nd street west 

municipal parking lot during certain hours, of Division 2, Parking Enforcement Districts, 

Equipment, Operations and Facilities, of Article IV, Stopping, Standing and Parking of 

Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, are hereby repealed in in their entirety and New Section 23-413, Parking time 

limits in parking enforcement districts, New Section 23-415, Parking violations, New Section 

23-422, Four-hour limit on parking in certain parking spaces in certain municipal parking 

lots, and New Section 23-423, Parking prohibited in certain parking spaces during certain 

hours, are enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

292

Item 23.



2 
 

Sec. 23-413. Parking time limits in parking enforcement districts. 

(a) Generally. 

(1) Except as otherwise provided in this division, unrestricted parking is allowed in a 
municipal lot unless a sign is posted by the city advising that the lot is a paid 
parking lot. If posted as a paid parking lot, parking is prohibited unless an 
appropriate city issued permit is purchased, or unless legal parking time is 
purchased by means of a parking meter, pay station or mobile application.  

(2) Except as otherwise provided in this division, unrestricted parking is allowed on a 
public street in a parking enforcement district unless a sign is posted by the city 
advising that a parking space is a paid parking space. If posted as a paid parking 
space, parking is prohibited unless legal parking time is purchased by means of a 
parking meter, pay station or mobile application.  

(3) Rates for paid parking in a parking enforcement district shall be adopted by 
resolution of the city council and appropriately posted giving notice of said rates.  

(4) The schedule of fines for violations of this division shall be in the same amount as 
stated in section 23-356.  

 (b) Enforcement times—College Hill parking enforcement district. 

When signs are posted giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a paid 
parking space shall be restricted and enforced between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 
6:00 p.m., Monday through Friday. The provisions of this section shall not apply on the 
following named holidays: New Year's Day, Memorial Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving 
Day and Christmas Day, and during the months of June and July.  

Sec. 23-415. Parking violations. 

It shall be unlawful and a violation of the provisions of this division for any person to:  

(1) Cause, allow, permit or suffer any vehicle registered in the name of or operated by 
such person to be parked overtime or beyond the period of legal parking time 
established or purchased.  

(2) Permit any vehicle to remain or be placed in a parking space beyond the period 
prescribed for such parking space. Moving a vehicle to another parking space 
within the same hundred block of the same street or within the same municipal 
parking lot that results in total cumulative parking time beyond the period 
prescribed for such parking space, shall be a violation.  

(3) Park any vehicle across any line or marking of a parking space or in such position 
that the vehicle is not entirely within the area designated by such lines or 
markings. Where angle or straight-in parking is provided, a vehicle must be parked 
entirely between the lines or markings with one of the front wheels of the vehicle 
touching the bumper block or curb, if one exists.  

(4) Deface, injure, tamper with, open or willfully break, destroy or impair the 
usefulness of any parking equipment or device installed under the provisions of 
this division. Violation of this provision shall be considered a simple misdemeanor 
as provided for in section 23-23.  

293

Item 23.



3 
 

Sec. 23-422. Four-hour limit on parking in certain parking spaces in certain municipal 

parking lots. 

Downtown parking enforcement district. 

(1) When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle in a 
designated parking space shall be limited to a total of four hours of parking for 
each vehicle between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 8:00 p.m., Monday thru 
Saturday, except on the following named holidays: New Year's Day, Memorial 
Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, in the 
following municipal parking lots within the city:  

a. Second Street East municipal parking lot.  

b. Second Street West municipal parking lot. 

c. Third Street East municipal parking lot. 

d. Third Street West municipal parking lot. 

e. Fifth Street West municipal parking lot. 

(2) Each consecutive four-hour period during one calendar day that a vehicle remains 
illegally parked as provided in this subsection shall constitute a separate and 
distinct offense.  

Sec. 23-423. Parking prohibited in certain parking spaces during certain hours.  

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, parking or standing a vehicle shall be 
prohibited on Thursday afternoons only commencing with the first Thursday of June of each 
year and continuing through the last Thursday of October of each year during the hours of 
2:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m. on the following portions of streets and municipal parking lots: 

a. Anywhere within the 22nd Street East-North municipal parking lot.  

b. West 22nd Street from Olive Street to College Street. 

 

INTRODUCED:     July 19, 2021   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

____________________________ 

       Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

294

Item 23.



295

Item 24.



296

Item 24.



297

Item 24.



298

Item 24.



299

Item 24.



300

Item 24.



301

Item 24.



302

Item 24.



303

Item 24.



304

Item 24.



305

Item 24.



306

Item 24.



307

Item 24.



308

Item 24.



309

Item 24.



310

Item 24.



311

Item 24.



312

Item 24.



313

Item 24.



314

Item 24.



315

Item 24.



316

Item 24.



317

Item 24.



318

Item 24.



319

Item 24.



320

Item 24.



321

Item 24.



322

Item 24.



323

Item 24.



324

Item 24.



325

Item 24.



326

Item 24.



327

Item 24.



328

Item 24.



329

Item 24.



330

Item 24.



331

Item 24.



332

Item 24.



333

Item 24.



334

Item 24.



335

Item 24.



336

Item 24.



337

Item 24.



338

Item 24.



339

Item 24.



340

Item 24.



341

Item 24.



342

Item 24.



343

Item 24.



344

Item 24.



345

Item 24.



346

Item 24.



347

Item 24.



348

Item 24.



349

Item 24.



350

Item 24.



351

Item 24.



352

Item 24.



353

Item 24.



354

Item 24.



355

Item 24.



356

Item 24.



357

Item 24.



358

Item 24.



359

Item 24.



360

Item 24.



361

Item 24.



362

Item 24.



363

Item 24.



364

Item 24.



365

Item 24.



366

Item 24.



367

Item 24.



368

Item 24.



369

Item 24.



370

Item 24.



371

Item 24.


	Top
	Item 1.	Regular Meeting of July 6, 2021
	210706MINUTES

	Item 3.	Proclamation-National Night Out
	2021-08_03_NationalNightOut

	Item 4.	Agreement for Private Development - CV Commercial, LLC
	1_CC Memo for Approval of Agreement on 07-19-21
	2_Location Map
	3_EXECUTION VERSION Development Agreement 2119 College Street
	Resolution Approving Agreement - CV Commercial, LLC

	Item 5.	PH-2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project
	1. PH Memo - 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill
	21 CDBG SIDEWALK PRELIM COST EST (Final)

	Item 6.	PH-2021 Public Sidewalk Repair and Infill Project
	1. PH Memo - 2021 Sidewalk Infill and Repair
	ENGINEERS-ESTIMATE - 20 SIDEWALK  INFILL - PRELIM

	Item 7.	PH-2021 Sidewalk Assessment
	1. PH Memo - 2021 Sidewalk Assessment
	3237 - ENGINEERS-ESTIMATE - FINAL

	Item 8.	PH-2021 Permeable Alley Project
	1. PH Memo - 2021 Permeable Alley
	2021 Permeable Alley Cost Estimate - BJA

	Item 9.	2992-Viking Rd Speed Limit
	1. Memo - Viking Road Speed Limit Ordinance
	2. 2992-Viking Road Speed Limit
	3. Redlined Viking Road Speed Limit (1)

	Item 10.	Board & Commission - Appointments
	2021-07-14_CCSSB_CarterReappoint
	2021-05-28_CSC_Ford
	Civil - Ford 4-7-21
	2021-07-16_HRC_Appoint_Whitaker
	HRC (Multiple) - Whitaker 12-8-20

	Item 11.	Committee of the Whole Minutes
	20210706 Committee of the Whole Meeting Minutes

	Item 12.	Liquor-Beer 07-19-2021
	Liquor-Beer 07-19-21

	Item 13.	Express Scripts-PBM Services
	1. PBM services agreement with Express Scripts to remain in Gallagher Pharmacy Alliance Council Memo 7-19-21
	2. City of Cedar Falls - ESI Client Agreement 2021

	Item 14.	CFU Lease Estoppel
	Memo to Mayor Council CFU Lease Estoppel Certificate new version
	Cedar Falls - Master Lease Estoppel RYP Clean 6 9 2021

	Item 15.	CDBG Sidewalk Infill-Temp Easements
	1. Temp Easements - CDBG Sidewalk Infill
	2. 3434 Tucson easement signed 6-28-21
	2. 1409 W 3rd signed easement 7-12-21
	3. 1505 W 3rd signed easement 7-12-21

	Item 16.	Temp Const Easements - Cyber Lane Extension
	1. Temp Easements - Cyber Lane
	2. Temp Easement Agreement - Parcel 1 (Shri Siddhipriya Inc)
	3. Temp Easement Agreement - Parcel 2 (CF Gateway Park)
	4. Temp Easement Agreement - Parcel 3 (Shri Mahaganapati &amp; Hanumanta)

	Item 17.	Purchase snow blower
	Snow blower purchase cc memo

	Item 18.	Purchase Transfer Station Equip
	Xfer equipment purchase cc memo

	Item 19.	Low Bid - Cyber Lane Extension Project
	1. Low Bid - Cyber Lane
	2. Bid Tab

	Item 20.	PSA - Main Street Reconstruction Project
	1. PSA Memo - Main Street Reconstruction
	2. PSA-Main St Reconstruction_7-15-2021-Foth signed

	Item 21.	Set PH-Seal Coat - 2021 Project
	2021 Seal Coatv2
	2021 Seal Coat Estimate-21-07-09
	Seal Coat Plans - Final

	Item 22.	Set PH-2021 Street Patching Project
	1. PS&E Memo - 2021 Street Patching Project
	2021 STREET PATCHING ENGINEERS ESTIMATE
	2021 Street Patch Specs
	2021 Street Patching Plans - Final

	Item 23.	Parking Ordinance Amendments
	1-memocc-parking amendments
	2-DIVISION 2. PARKING ENFORCEMENT DISTRICTS
	3-Ord-Parking Amendments

	Item 24.	Bills
	1 Daily Invoices 071921
	2 Council Invoices 071921

	Bottom

